UNCERTAINTY ANALYSIS OF SHIP POWERING PREDICTION METHODS USING MONTE CARLO SIMULATION

SUSAN MOLLOY







Uncertainty Analysis of Ship Powering Prediction Methods using Monte Carlo Simulation

By

©Susan Molloy, B.Eng., B.Sc., M.Eng.

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in

partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Engineering

Ocean and Naval Architectural Engineering

Faculty of Engineering and Applied Science

Memorial University

2006

St. John's

Newfoundland

Canada



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-31324-4 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-31324-4

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

Abstract

Model towing tank testing is used to predict the powering required for full-scale vessels. The International Towing Tank Conference of 1978 developed a method that has been in use in its original or modified form in many institutions internationally. Originally the method was solved graphically, utilizing the experience of the analyst, however the use of computers and the automation of the method has impacted the reliability of this approach. Uncertainty analysis has up to this point focused on potential errors in the model data from the tests required to produce the data that is subsequently extrapolated using prediction methods. The overall sensitivity of predicted power from this and other prediction methods to variations in inputs from the model tests and from elements such as the frictional resistance coefficient, form factor or correlation allowance needs to be determined in order to properly interpret the results of an automated analysis. Rather than setting up a series of data reduction equations, a Monte Carlo simulation was used and the entire method was used as the data reduction equation in the uncertainty analysis. The levels of uncertainty in ship powering were obtained for assumed values of uncertainty in the experimental values from tests and for estimated uncertainty in the friction coefficients, wake fraction and wake scaling, thrust deduction fraction. form factor and correlation allowance. Several different extrapolation methods were studied to assess variation in powering prediction methods resulting from variation in input data and from the variation of the details of the extrapolation. These consisted of the ITTC 1978 method, variation that included extrapolation with and without a form factor, different friction lines and correlation allowances, different wake scale and thrust deduction fraction values, and a method that extrapolated from self-propulsion test data only analysed using the same procedure. Uncertainties in the predicted powering results of both methods were compared. Methods of reducing the uncertainty in the predicted power from the ITTC 1978 method were proposed.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Neil Bose for the many years of advice, support and understanding during my time at Memorial.

Thanks to Brian Veitch for his supervisory and financial support, in particular for accommodating me while at a distance.

Thanks to Stephen Jones for his support.

Huge thanks to Derek Reilly for helping me with programming, editing, baby making and minding.

Thanks to Mika for putting up with the long writing stretches.

Thanks to Moya Crocker and all the secretarial staff who have patiently helped me.

Thanks to Shameem Islam, Moqin He, Jungyong Wang and Ayhan Akinturk for their incredible help during testing.

I would like to thank the School of Graduate Studies and the Associate Dean's office for their support.

I would like to thank MUN tech services for their help with my experimental work.

I would like to express my gratitude to the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC), the National Research Council (NRC), Memorial University, Oceanic Consulting Corp., and Thordon Bearings Inc. for their financial and other support.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	II
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	111
TABLE OF CONTENTS	IV
LIST OF TABLES	VI
LIST OF FIGURES	VIII
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS	XI
LIST OF APPENDICES	XIV
CHAPTER 1	1.1
Chapter 2	2.1
2.1 ITTC 1978 Ship Powering Prediction Method	2.1
2.2 E2001 Ship Powering Prediction Method	2.7
2.3 Database of Ships	2.12
2.4 Program	2.14
2.4.1 Variation using Monte Carlo Simulation	2.17
Chapter 3	3.1
3.1 Method of Uncertainty Analysis	3.7
3.2 Variation of Measured Test Data	3.9
3.2.1 Variation of All Measured Inputs	3.9
3.2.2 Variation of Propeller Open Water Test Inputs	3.17
3.2.3 Variation of Resistance Test Inputs	3.19

3.2.4 Variation of Self Propulsion Test Inputs	3.23
3.2.5 Comparison of Tests	3.25
3.2.6 Variation of Individual Measured Values	3.26
3.3 Variation of Propulsion factors	3.33
3.3.1 Variation of the frictional resistance coefficient	3.35
3.3.2 Variation of correlation allowance	3.39
3.3.3 Variation of form factor	3.41
3.3.4 Variation of wake fraction	3.45
3.3.5 Variation of thrust deduction fraction	3.48
3.3.6 Variation of all propulsion factors together	3.50
3.3.7 Variation of all propulsion factors together including η_R	3.54
3.4 Overall Comparison of Standard Deviations	3.56
3.4.1 Summary	3.57
Chapter 4	4.1
4.1 Variation of measured test inputs	4.4
4.2 Variation in Propulsion Factors	4.14
4.3 Summary	4.28
CHAPTER 5	5.1
CHAPTER 6	6.1
References & Bibliography	R.1
	I.1
I.1 Methodology	1.4
I.2 Experiments	1.8
3 Results	10
no results	1.3

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2-1 Descriptions of ships used in study	2.13
Table 2-2 Sample of terms used in input file	2.16
Table 2-3 Examples of values calculated in program	2.17
Table 2 -4 Example of Randomised Resistance Test Values	2.18
Table 2 -5 Example of Randomised Self-Propulsion Test Values	2.19
Table $3-1$ Compilation of extrapolation methods in use at the organisations represented on the committee (Question marks indicate that the information was not available) (Bose et al., 2005, Table 5.3)	3.5
Table 3–2 Model ship test data	3.8
Table 3-3 Measured Value Inputs	3.10
Table 3-4 Comparison of Standard Deviations – measured values varied together	3.11
Table 3-5 Comparison of standard deviation in predicted power with change in input (measured) value standard deviation	3.12
Table 3-6 Comparison of predicted power standard deviation with and without relative rotative efficiency calculated within the ITTC 1978 method	3.16
Table 3-7 Comparison of Standard Deviations – Propeller Open Water	3.18
Table 3-8 Example of predicted power with varied resistance test data	3.21
Table 3-9 Comparison of Standard Deviations – Resistance Test	3.22
Table 3–10 Comparison of Standard Deviations – Self Propulsion Test	3.25
Table 3–11 Comparison of predicted power standard deviations – all tests	3.25
Table 3-12 Comparison of resulting predicted power standard deviations when individual test values were varied	3.32
Table 3–13 Original value of coefficient of friction and propulsion factors for ship subset	3.34
Table 3-14 Frictional coefficient comparison for ship subset	3.36
Table 3-15 Standard Deviation of frictional coefficient	3.37
Table 3–16 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in CF 1957	3.39
Table 3–17 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in CA	3.41
Table 3-18 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in k by 10%	3.43

Table $3-19$ Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in k by 100%	3.44
Table 3–20 Wake Variation with Speed	3.45
Table $3-21$ Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in wTM & wTS	3.48
Table 3–22 Thrust deduction fraction variation with model test speed	3.49
Table 3–23 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in t	3.50
Table 3–24 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in all the propulsion factors and coefficient of friction together, form factor 10%	3.52
Table $3-25$ Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in all the propulsion factors and the coefficient of friction together, form factor 100%	3.53
Table $3-26$ Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in all the propulsion factors and the coefficient of friction and measured test values together, form factor 10%	3.53
Table 3–27 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in all the propulsion factors, the coefficient of friction and measured test values together, form factor 10% and including ηR	3.55
Table 3-28 Overall Comparison of Standard Deviations	3.56
Table 4-1 Measured Value Inputs	4.4
Table 4-2 Comparison of predicted standard deviations when measured input values varied	4.7
Table $4-3$ Standard deviations of predicted power when inputs from self-propulsion test are varied individually	4.9
Table 4-4 Comparison of predicted power when form factor was varied	4.17
Table 4-5 Thrust deduction fraction variation with speed	4.23
Table 4-6 Comparison of predicted power standard deviation when t was varied	4.23
Table 4-7 Comparison of standard deviations of predicted power when all factors and combinations are varied	4.26
Table 4-8 Comparison of overall standard deviation with and without thrust deduction fraction	4.28
Table 6-1 Average predicted power standard deviations, test inputs	6.4
Table 6-2 Average predicted power standard deviations	6.5
Table I-1 Dimensions of model pods	I.4
Table I-2 Combinations of dimensions for 16 pods	I.5
Table I-3 Fractional factorial design results	I.14

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2-1 Tow force interpolation, example using R-Class data	2.4
Figure 2–2 Propeller open water test data, R-Class data	2.5
Figure 2-3 Ship propeller operating point example	2.7
Figure 2-4 Resistance and Thrust Deduction Fraction Estimation	2.8
Figure 2-5 Ship Propeller Operating Point determination	2.10
Figure 2–6 Change in predicted power with variation in all measured inputs and including change in degree of regression curve used to represent resistance	2.15
Figure 3–1 Predicted power variation when all measured test values varied	3.10
Figure $3-2$ Results of varying the amount standard deviation of the measured test values, Ship #1	3.13
Figure $3-3$ Results of varying the amount standard deviation of the measured test values, Ship #9	3.14
Figure 3–4 Results of varying the amount standard deviation of the measured test values, Ship #16	3.14
Figure 3–5 Variation in predicted power distribution for input standard deviation values of 0.5%, 1% and 1.5% when the bin range was kept constant for one ship.	3.15
Figure 3-6 Predicted power distribution when all propeller open water test values varied	3.17
Figure 3-7 Predicted power variation when resistance test values varied	3.19
Figure 3–8 Resistance versus Velocity for ship data subset	3.20
Figure 3–9 Predicted Power distributions when inputs to self-propulsion test are varied	3.24
Figure 3–10 Distribution of predicted power when J is varied	3.26
Figure 3-11 Distribution of predicted power when K_T is varied	3.27
Figure 3–12 Distribution of predicted power when K_Q is varied	3.27
Figure 3–13 Comparison of variation in predicted power when resistance test velocity is varied	3.28
Figure $3-14$ Comparison of variation in predicted power when resistance test resistance is varied	3.29
Figure 3–15 Comparison of predicted power variation when self-propulsion test velocity is varied	3.30
Figure 3–16 Comparison of predicted power distributions when self-propulsion test shaft speed is varied	3.30
	3.31

Figure 3–17 Comparison of predicted power variation when self-propulsion test thrust is varied	3.31
Figure 3–18 Comparison of predicted power variation when self-propulsion test tow force is varied.	3.31
Figure 3–19 Comparison of predicted power variation when self-propulsion test torque is varied.	3.32
Figure 3-20 Comparison of predicted power variation when C_{F1957} is varied	3.38
Figure 3-21 Comparison of predicted power variation when C_A was varied	3.40
Figure 3–22 Comparison of predicted power variation when k was varied by 10%	3.42
Figure 3–23 Comparison of predicted power variation when k was varied by 100%	3.43
Figure 3-24 Comparison of predicted power variation when w_{TM} & w_{TS} were varied	3.47
Figure 3-25 Comparison of predicted power variation when t was varied	3.49
Figure 3–26 Comparison of predicted power variation when all the propulsion factors and the coefficient of friction were varied together	3.51
Figure 3–27 Comparison of predicted power variation when all the propulsion factors and the coefficient of friction and measured test values were varied together	3.52
Figure 3-28 Comparison of predicted power variation when all the propulsion factors, the coefficient of friction and measured test values were varied together and the η_R was included	3.55
Figure 4–1 Comparison of predicted power variation when all measured test values are varied using ITTC 1978 and E2001	4.6
Figure 4–2 Comparison of predicted power distributions resulting when self-propulsion test values are varied	4.8
Figure 4–3 Comparison of predicted power distributions resulting when self-propulsion test velocity was varied	4.10
Figure 4-4 Comparison of predicted power distributions resulting when shaft speed was varied	4.11
Figure 4-5 Comparison of predicted power distributions resulting when thrust was varied	4.12
Figure 4–6 Comparison of predicted power distributions resulting when torque was varied	4.13
Figure 4–7 Comparison of predicted power distributions resulting when tow force was varied	4.14
Figure 4-8 Comparison of ITTC 1978 and E2001 predicted power distributions when C_{F1957} was varied	4.15
Figure 4–9 Comparison of ITTC 1978 and E2001 predicted power distributions when k was varied by 10%	4.16
Figure 4–10 Comparison of ITTC 1978 and E2001 predicted power distributions k was varied by 100%	4.18
Figure 4–11 Comparison of ITTC 1978 and E2001 predicted power distributions when C_A was varied	4.19

Figure 4–12 Comparison of the standard deviation in predicted power when the wake and wake scaling are varied	4.20
Figure $4-13$ Comparison of the standard deviation in predicted power when the thrust deduction fraction was varied	4.21
Figure 4–14 Example of thrust deduction fraction estimation, E2001 method	4.22
Figure 4–15 Comparison of standard deviation of predicted power when all propulsion factors and the coefficient of friction are varied	4.25
Figure 4–16 Comparison of standard deviation of predicted power when all inputs, the coefficient of friction and propulsion factors are varied together	4.25
Figure 4–17 Comparison of standard deviations in predicted power when all inputs the coefficient of friction and propulsion factors are varied except the thrust deduction fraction	4.27
Figure I-1 Azipod from ABB, (ABB.com) (reprinted with permission)	I.2
Figure I-2 Primary dimensions of pod shell	<i>I.4</i>
Figure I-3 Pods from the geometric series, #1 to #4	I.6
Figure I-4 Pods from the geometric series, #5 to #12	I.7
Figure 1-5 Pods from the geometric series, #9 to #16	I.8
Figure I-6 Pod #8 installed on dynamometer	I.9
Figure 1–7 Experimental results - K_{TPod} versus J for all 16 pods	I.10
Figure 1-8 Experimental results - K_Q versus J for all 16 pods	I.11
Figure 1-9 K_T curves for Pods #1 & #16	I.12

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

v_{M}	Kinematic viscosity of water for the model test facility, m ² /s
v_s	Kinematic viscosity of water for the ship, m ² /s
ΔK_Q	Scale effect correction on propeller torque coefficient
ΔK_T	Scale effect correction on propeller thrust coefficient
η_R	Relative rotative efficiency
$ ho_M$	Water density for the model test facility, kg/m ³
$ ho_{S}$	Water density for the ship, kg/m^3
C_A	Incremental resistance coefficient for model-ship correlation
C _{AA}	Air resistance coefficient
<i>CF1957</i>	Skin friction correction coefficient in propulsion test based 1957 method
$C_{FSchlichting}$	Skin friction correction coefficient in propulsion test based Schlichting
	method
$C_{FGrigson}$	Skin friction correction coefficient in propulsion test based Grigson method
C_{FD}	Skin friction correction coefficient in propulsion test (based on V_M and S_M)
C_{FM}	Frictional resistance coefficient for the model
C_{FM15}	Frictional resistance coefficient for the model at 15°C
C_{FMP}	Frictional resistance coefficient for the model at the propulsion test
	temperature
C_{FS}	Frictional resistance coefficient for the ship
C_{RM}	Residuary resistance coefficient of model
C_{RS}	Residuary resistance coefficient of ship
C_{TM}	Total resistance coefficient for the model
C_{TM15}	Total resistance coefficient for the model at 15°C
C_{TMP}	Total resistance for the model at the propulsion test temperature
C_{TS}	Total resistance coefficient for the ship
D	Propeller diameter, m

D_{M}	Model propeller diameter, m
$D_{\rm S}$	Ship propeller diameter, m
F_D	Skin friction correction in self propulsion test, N
Fn	Froude number for the ship and model
g	Gravitational acceleration (9.806 m/s ²)
J_O	Advance coefficient in propeller open water test
J	Advance coefficient for model in propulsion test
k	Form factor
K_{FD}	Skin friction correction coefficient in propulsion test (based on D_M and n_M)
K _{QO}	Propeller torque coefficient in open water test
K _{QOS}	Propeller torque coefficient for full scale propeller
K _{QP}	Propeller torque coefficient in propulsion test
K _{TO}	Propeller thrust coefficient in open water test
K _{TOS}	Propeller thrust coefficient for full scale propeller
K _{TP}	Propeller thrust coefficient in propulsion test
K _{TPod}	Propeller thrust coefficient measured inside pod
K _{TUnit}	Propeller thrust coefficient of pod unit
$L_{\rm M}$	Model length on waterline, m
L_{S}	Ship length on waterline, m
n _M	Model propeller rate of rotation, rps
n _S	Ship propeller rate of rotation, rps
$N_{ m S}$	Ship propeller rate of rotation, rpm
P_D	Delivered ship power, W
P_E	Effective ship power, W
$Q_{\rm S}$	Ship propeller torque, Nm
<i>Rn</i> _M	Reynolds number for the model
<i>Rn</i> _S	Reynolds number for the ship
R _{TM}	Total resistance for the model, N
R_{TS}	Total resistance for the ship, N

S_{M}	Wetted surface area of the model, m ²
Ss	Wetted surface area of the ship, m ²
t	Thrust deduction fraction
T_P	Average test temperature for propulsion tests °C
T_R	Average test temperature for resistance tests, °C
$T_{\rm S}$	Ship propeller thrust, N
V_A	Advance velocity of propeller, m/s
V _{KN}	Ship speed, knots
$V_{\rm M}$	Model speed, m/s
Vs	Ship speed, m/s
w_T	Taylor wake fraction
WTS	Ship Taylor wake fraction

LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX A	A.1
Resistance Test Input File, Ship #16	A.1
Open Water Input File, Ship #16	A.1
Self Propulsion Test Input File, Ship#16	A.3
Self-Propulsion Test Input File – Load varying data, Ship#21	
APPENDIX B	B.1
Pod Test Results	B.1

Chapter 1

Introduction

Model towing tank testing has been the primary method of predicting the full-scale power of vessels since the late 1800's (Harvald, 1983). Tow tank testing was first comprised of resistance tests that were used to optimize the shape of the vessel (Manen & Oossanen, 1988) and has progressed to include detailed analysis of the propeller and hull performance that is often paired with numerical work. However, the difficulty in obtaining dynamic similarity between the model and full-scale has yet to be addressed in a way that does not require the use of propulsion factors or correction factors, which are often based on empirical data. For expediency, the term propulsion factor is used here as a general term to describe the scaling and correction factors used in prediction methods. While geometrically similar models of full-scale designs are readily constructed, testing these models in water offers unique challenges. For example, when the powered model is tested in a towing tank the boundary layer of the model is proportionally thicker than the boundary layer of the full-scale ship so a towing force must be applied to overcome the additional resistance. Model test series have traditionally included three types of tests, which have become standard for predicting full-scale power: resistance tests, propeller open water tests and self-propulsion tests (Manen & Oossanen, 1998). A resistance test measures the drag on the model through the water at a selection of velocities. A propeller open water test measures the thrust and torque of the propeller in uniform or open flow at a selection of advance ratios. A self-propulsion test is closest to modelling the full-scale conditions, a model of the vessel is tested with a model of the propeller and the thrust, torque and shaft speed of the model are measured at a selection of tow forces and propeller loads.

The International Towing Tank Conference "is a voluntary association of worldwide organizations that have responsibility for the prediction of hydrodynamic performance of ships and marine installations based on the results of physical and numerical modeling" (http://ittc.sname.org/). The 15th conference in 1978 proposed a method of powering prediction that incorporated and compromised a uniform solution from many of the methods that were in use in testing facilities around the world at the time. The method was called the ITTC 1978 Performance Prediction Method for Single Screw Ships and since then it has been used in some facilities around the world either in the original or a modified format (many did not include a form factor) however, many facilities did not change their testing approach to make use of the ITTC 1978 method. Although intended for single screw ships, modifications have been made to allow use of the ITTC 1978 method for the prediction of performance from other propulsion configurations such as twin and triple screw ships and ships with pods (NRC-IOT, Atlar *et al.*, 2005). Modifications have been specific to testing facilities and dependent on the experience of

the tanks. Such changes have included altering the number and types of tests used to collect data and changing or excluding propulsion factors used to scale the data (Holtrop, 2001, Bose *et al.*, 2005, Table 5.3). The 24th ITTC Powering Prediction Committee reported on current powering prediction methods and when the committee surveyed institutions regarding decisions made in powering prediction procedures (Bose *et al.*, 2005, Table 5.3) the committee found many that use extrapolation methods that incorporate aspects of the ITTC 1978 method but are sufficiently different that they can be considered alternate methods.

Although some of these methods and modifications have been in use for many years the overall stability of these methods is not fully understood. It is not clear how uncertainty in the model test values such as thrust or torque or in the propulsion factors such as wake fraction or form factor, used to account for the flow over the propeller and hull (Manen & Oossanen, 1998), affect the uncertainty in the predicted power. ITTC committees have given guidelines on how to estimate uncertainties from the testing equipment in model tests (ITTC Recommended Procedures, 2002, 2002a, 2002b), which provide the uncertainty in measured values such as thrust and torque. Insel *et al.* (2005) have examined uncertainty in obtaining the form factor. When these parameters are used to extrapolate full-scale powering, the impact of the uncertainties in the prediction of power when propagated through an extrapolation method is of considerable interest to the ship model testing community.

The 24th ITTC Powering Prediction Committee collected a large database of model powering test data with corresponding full-scale powering trials results from a number of

testing facilities (Bose *et al.*, 2005). This database is designated the ITTC 2005 Ship Database and was made available to this study. The database was a valuable resource that enabled the author to make an extensive comparative analysis of the uncertainty in predicted power when extrapolating model test data to full-scale.

Each model test data set in the database was collected for vessel powering analysis that used prediction methods requiring three physical tests, resistance, propeller open-water and self-propulsion. All but one set of self-propulsion data were tested using the continental or non-load varying method of model testing (Lindgren et al., 1978). The ITTC 1978 method can be used to predict full-scale power from self-propulsion data that is obtained from either continental or load varying styles of testing, which means that the entire database could be used to examine the ITTC 1978 method. Powering prediction using load varying self-propulsion tests only however, require results from load varying self-propulsion tests so only one data set was available to evaluate that method. The Quasi-Steady method is another model testing method described in Holtrop and Hooijmans (2002) and was developed to reduce testing time. The quasi-steady method assumes that the instantaneous condition of a self-propulsion model test represents the steady condition, the rotative speed of the propeller is gradually varied while the forward speed is kept constant so that the load on the propeller continuously changes during the run; results of tests that use this method were not available in the ITTC 2005 Ship Database and are not readily available so this method was not studied. The ITTC 2005 Ship Database therefore allowed the author to perform an extensive analysis of the traditional ITTC 1978 powering prediction method and its variations and then a detailed

comparison of this method with one using data from a load varying self-propulsion test only.

Ship powering prediction methods are used to estimate full-scale operating parameters by propagating the results of model tests through a series of equations based on scaling principles which include propulsion factors and a frictional coefficient used to accommodate for factors that are a challenge to measure, such as ship hull frictional resistance and wind resistance, (Manen and Oossanen, 1988). Traditionally the uncertainties of the full-scale values are estimated from the model test results by using the bias error of the measurement devices and repeated or replicated test runs, and then propagating the errors with the measured values through the equations of the method (ITTC Recommended Procedures, 2002, 2002a, 2002b) using techniques such as those described by Coleman and Steele (1999, pg. 241) and Taylor (1997, pg. 73). This method of determining the uncertainty of the ship parameters allows the analyst to estimate the potential uncertainty based on measurement, but cannot be adequately used to determine the uncertainty of the coefficient of friction and the propulsion factors. Also, this method does not allow the analyst to clearly determine how the powering prediction procedure itself affects the propagation of the uncertainty of the measured value. Does the propagation of measured values through a series of equations increase or decrease the final error of the predicted power? How do the individual tests affect the value of the uncertainty in the final results?

It is possible to follow the error of one measured value, e.g. thrust, through the prediction method and to examine the change in the error with each calculation. This however

becomes complex when the uncertainty of more than one value is of interest or when the value of the uncertainty is estimated over a range of numbers rather than one number. Therefore it was proposed that a Monte Carlo simulation be used to examine the effect of the uncertainty of the values measured in model testing, the coefficient of friction and the propulsion factors on the overall stability of extrapolation methods.

In a Monte Carlo Simulation, an input value to a data reduction equation is randomly varied by a predetermined uncertainty and a distribution of the output result is obtained (Coleman & Steele, 1999). In this case the "data reduction equation" is the entire extrapolation method. For all prediction methods studied, the selected values that were examined using the Monte Carlo simulation were varied in a normal distribution in a predetermined representative range and the effect of this variation was observed by examining the change in predicted full-scale power.

In order to conveniently vary individual values, combinations of values and values with different uncertainty ranges, the Monte Carlo simulation needed to be automated. Programmed versions of both the base ITTC 1978 method and a powering prediction method that uses the results of load varying self-propulsion tests only described here in chapter 2 and designated the E2001 method were available from previous work by Molloy (2001). The programs were modified to allow detailed analysis of components of the method and an automated randomizing feature was added to perform the Monte Carlo Simulations. Details of the program and how the variations were applied are described in Chapter 2.

The ITTC 1978 method in its traditional format was studied first, as described in Chapter 3. The impact of varying the values obtained from the three traditional tests on the predicted power was examined in three stages: the effect of the values varied together, the effect of varying the results of one test and then the effect of varying each of the test results alone. The coefficient of friction and propulsion factors were studied next. The program was run with combinations of the different coefficient of friction and propulsion factors varied together and then varied with the test results added to the combinations.

The E2001 method was studied using Monte Carlo Simulation, as described in Chapter 4, and the same combinations of varied test results, coefficient of friction and propulsions factors as those studied in Chapter 3 were used. The resulting variations in predicted power were compared to those obtained using the ITTC 1978 method.

The original proposal for this project included plans to investigate the development of an extrapolation method for podded propulsors. One of the primary issues to be addressed in predicting power from pod data is the measurement of resistance of the pod itself so a systematic geometric series was designed to determine the effect of geometry on the performance of a pod propeller and to evaluate methods of resistance estimation. Unfortunately due to the lack of available full-scale trials data for ships fitted with podded units, and due to delays in the manufacture of testing equipment it proved impossible to complete this task in the time available. One round of testing of the systematic series was completed and there are preliminary results from the tests of the geometric series and initial evaluations of resistance estimation methods presented as Addendum I.

Using the information gained in Chapters 3 and 4 regarding the range of predicted power expected when there is the uncertainty in model test results and coefficient of friction and propulsion factors, recommendations for improvement in the stability of the ITTC 1978 method are presented in Chapter 5. The overall comparison of the ITTC 1978 and E2001 methods and the relevance of this work to powering prediction are presented in the conclusions in Chapter 6.

Chapter 2

Background

2.1 ITTC 1978 Ship Powering Prediction Method

A committee was formed for the 1978 International Towing Tank conference to develop a ship powering prediction method that could be recommended as a standard for the testing community. The committee used aspects of power extrapolation methods that were in use in major testing facilities at the time and compared the results of different methods with full-scale trials data. The committee then combined a selection of techniques to form the 1978 Powering Prediction method for Single Screw Ships, which at the time was presented as an interim solution (Manen and Oossanen, 1988).

The method used the test results from a scaled geometrically similar model of a full-scale vessel and, using scaling principles as well as empirical formulae to correct for scaling effects due to physical testing limitations, predicted the full-scale operating parameters of the model e.g. power, thrust. In traditional towing tank tests the model values of the

Froude number, $F_n = \frac{V}{\sqrt{gL}}$ and the Reynolds number, $R_n = \frac{VL}{v}$ cannot be tested

simultaneously (Harvald, 1983) and because the Reynolds number is not high enough in model tow tank testing the results cannot simply be multiplied by a scaling factor. This dynamical dissimilarity between the model and full-scale means that techniques must be used to correctly scale the model test results. The ITTC 1978 method recommends a number of factors developed to account for these differences, such as a frictional resistance coefficient, a wake scaling and an air resistance scaling among others (Lindgren *et al.*, 1978). For expediency the term "propulsion factors" is used here as a general term to describe the scaling factors: wake fraction, form factor, correlation allowance and thrust deduction fraction.

The Physical Tests

The ITTC 1978 method is used to extrapolate the results of three physical model tests to full-scale power. The three different tests are a resistance test, a propeller open water test and a self-propulsion test. The resistance test is a bare hull tow test; the drag or resistance of the model vessel, R_{TM} , is measured at a number of different carriage velocities, V_{RM} , without the propeller installed. The resistance is then used to calculate the total resistance coefficient of the model, $C_{TM} = \frac{R_{TM}}{\frac{1}{2}\rho_M {V_M}^2 S_M}$ which is extrapolated to

ship scale. The total model resistance is broken into two components: frictional and residuary resistance. The frictional resistance is estimated using the ITTC 1957 ship

model correlation line, $C_{F1957} = \frac{0.075}{(\log_{10} Rn_M - 2)^2}$. A form factor, k is used to represent the

three-dimensional form of the vessel and is estimated from the results of the resistance test using the method proposed by Prohaska (Manen & Oossanen, 1988). The residuary resistance coefficient, $C_{RM} = C_{TM} - (1+k)C_{FM}$, is calculated and is considered to have the same value at model and full-scale $C_{RM} = C_{RS}$ (Lindgren *et al.*, 1978, Harvald, 1983).

The ship scale coefficient of resistance is $C_{TS} = (1+k)C_{FS} + C_{RS} + C_A + C_{AA}$ where C_A and C_{AA} are propulsion factors that account for the differences in model and full-scale hull roughness and air resistance (Harvald, 1983) although in practice the correlation allowance, C_A is a more general correction than just a roughness correction.

The propeller open water test is performed with the model propeller operating in uniform flow without the model hull. The thrust coefficient, $K_{TM} = \frac{T_M}{\rho_M n_M^2 D_M^4}$ and the torque

coefficient $K_{QM} = \frac{Q_M}{\rho_M n_M^2 D_M^5}$ are measured at a selection of advance coefficients $(J = \frac{V_M}{n_M D_M})$ (Lindgren *et al.*, 1978, Harvald, 1983).

The self-propulsion test models the ship operating conditions; appendages can be in place and the propeller is operating in the model wake. Due to the difference in the frictional coefficients between the model and full-scale and the allowance at the full-scale for roughness the model is pulled with a force that is equal in magnitude to $F_D = \frac{1}{2} \rho_M V_M^2 S_M [(1+k)(C_{FM} - C_{FS}) - C_A].$ The force allows the model to be towed at the ship self-propulsion point (Manen & Oossanen, 1988). The F_D force is nondimensionalised using $K_{FD} = \frac{F_D}{\rho_M n_M^2 D_M^4}$. In a non-load varied or continental test series

the model is pulled at exactly the tow force value calculated for the advance velocity (*J*) of the test and the thrust and torque coefficients are measured ($K_{TM} \& K_{QM}$) at this point. In a load varied test the model is towed at a number of tow force values and the results of the tow force at the self-propulsion point are interpolated at the intersection of the measured K_{FD} curve and the curve $\frac{K_{FD}}{J_p^2} = \frac{C_{FD}S_s}{2D_s^2}$ (see Figure 2-1), where $C_{FD} = C_{TMP} - C_{TS}$, $C_{TMP} = C_{TM} + (1+k)(C_{FMP} - C_{FM})$, C_{FMP} is the frictional coefficient of the model at the temperature of the self-propulsion test and C_{TM} and C_{FM} are at a standard temperature.



Figure 2-1 Tow force interpolation, example using R-Class data



Figure 2-2 Propeller open water test data, R-Class data

Powering Prediction Procedure

The data from all three physical tests are combined in the prediction method. The thrust coefficient, K_{TM} at the self-propulsion point is used to determine the model propeller characteristics K_{QTM} and J_{TM} from the open water data. The thrust coefficient from the self-propulsion test is used as an input to the propeller open water data chart and the corresponding torque coefficient and advance ratio are read. An example is included in Figure 2-2.

The thrust deduction fraction is calculated using data from the resistance and selfpropulsion tests, $t = \frac{T + F_D - R_C}{T}$ where R_C is the model resistance corrected to the temperature of the self-propulsion test. The model and ship scale wake fractions, $w_{TM} = 1 - \frac{J_{TM}}{J}$, where J is the advance coefficient at the self-propulsion point and $w_{TS} = (t + 0.04) + (w_{TM} - t - 0.04) \frac{C_{VS}}{C_{VM}}$ where $C_{VS} = (1 + k)C_{FS} + C_A$ and $C_{VM} = (1 + k)C_{FM}$,

are the viscous resistance coefficients at ship and model scale (defined by Manen & Oossanen, (1988)), are calculated using data from all three physical tests. The relative rotative efficiency, $\eta_R = \frac{K_{QTM}}{K_{QM}}$ where K_{QM} is the torque coefficient at the self-propulsion

point is calculated using the results of the open water and self-propulsion tests (Lindgren et al., 1978, Harvald, 1983).

The open water thrust and torque data $(K_T \& K_Q)$ are shifted to represent the full-scale propeller characteristics using designated equations, $K_{TS} = K_{TM} - \Delta K_T$ and $K_{QS} = K_{QM} - \Delta K_Q$ where ΔK_T and ΔK_Q are defined in Manen & Oossanen (1988). This is done because during testing the prevailing flow over the model scale propeller is usually laminar, and the flow over the full-scale propeller is fully turbulent so the difference in the flow is accommodated for using the drag corrections ΔK_T and ΔK_Q (Carlton, 1994).

The wake fraction, thrust deduction fraction and total resistance coefficient of the model are combined with the shifted open water data to determine the ship propeller operating point, interpolated as the full-scale advance coefficient, J_{TS} , and the torque coefficient, K_{QTS} from the intersection of the K_{TS} curve from the open water data and $\frac{K_{TS}}{J^2} = \frac{S_S C_{TS}}{2D_S^2 (1-t)(1-w_{TS})^2}$ (Manen & Oossanen, 1988), Figure 2-3. In turn, the full-

scale operating parameters are calculated: the shaft speed, $n_s = \frac{(1 - w_{TS})V_s}{J_{TS}D}$, the thrust of

the propeller, $T_s = \frac{K_T}{J^2} J_{Ts}^2 \rho D^4 n_s^2$, the torque of the propeller, $Q_s = \frac{K_{QTs}}{\eta_R} \rho D^5 n_s^2$ and the

delivered power, $P_{DS} = 2\pi\rho D^5 n_s^3 \frac{K_{QTS}}{\eta_R}$.



Figure 2-3 Ship propeller operating point example

2.2 E2001 Ship Powering Prediction Method

For brevity the name E2001 is designated to describe a method of ship powering prediction method that uses the results from a self-propulsion test alone. This method was proposed for consideration by the author in early publications including Molloy (2001) and Molloy and Bose (2001). The self-propulsion test is run as a load varying test and the load is varied through a large range of propeller advance coefficients, J values,

which includes values that force the propeller thrust negative (values of J greater that the propeller design advance ratio). The purpose of this is to allow propeller thrust and towing force results to be plotted. Normally this plot is found to be linear (Figure 2-4 Molloy, 2001). The line can be described by $F_D = T_M(t-1) + F_{D@T=0}$ where t is the thrust deduction fraction (Iannone, 1997, Molloy, 2001).



Thrust Deduction and Resistance Estimation

Figure 2-4 Resistance and Thrust Deduction Fraction Estimation

A resistance test is not performed and the resistance of the model can be represented by the towing force at zero thrust, $F_{D@T=0}$ for the ship speed being studied. If the relationship between the propeller thrust and tow force is not linear then a resistance test or alternative method of estimating the resistance could be used although the estimated resistance is not required to extrapolate using this method. Using the tow force value at zero thrust, $F_{D@T=0}$, the tow force value that allows the model to be pulled at the self-propulsion point of the ship, $F_D = \frac{1}{2} \rho_M V_M^2 S_M [(1+k)(C_{FM} - C_{FS}) - C_A]$ and the thrust deduction fraction, the full-scale

thrust can be calculated from:

$$T_{S} = T_{M}\lambda^{3} \frac{\rho_{S}}{\rho_{M}}$$
$$= \left\{T + \frac{F_{D} - F}{t - 1}\right\}\lambda^{3} \frac{\rho_{S}}{\rho_{M}}$$
$$= \left(\frac{F_{D} - F_{T - 0}}{t - 1}\right)\lambda^{3} \frac{\rho_{S}}{\rho_{M}}$$

where λ is the scale factor, ρ is the density and T and F are any coordinates on the line (Figure 2-4, Iannone, 1997, Molloy, 2001, Holtrop, 2001).

The next step is to determine the ship propeller operating point. The operating point is interpolated from the intersection of the full-scale thrust and torque coefficients. The thrust and torque coefficients are expressed as polynomials (Figure 2-5), determined from the model data using a least squares method, in order to straightforwardly apply the wake directly propeller scaling to the advance coefficient $K_{TS} = a_1 \left(w_{scale} J \right)^2 + b_1 \left(w_{scale} J \right) + c_1 - \Delta K_T \quad \text{and} \quad K_{QS} = a_1 \left(w_{scale} J \right)^2 + b_1 \left(w_{scale} J \right) + c_1 - \Delta K_Q,$ (where ΔK_T and ΔK_Q are described in Manen & Oossanen (1988) and Harvald (1983)). The interpolation equation $K_{TS} = J^2 \cdot \frac{T_S}{2 \rho D_c^2 V_c^2}$ (Holtrop 2001) intersects with the ship thrust coefficient, K_{TS} and this intersection is the ship propeller operating point, Figure 2-5 (Molloy 2001).
Once the full-scale thrust and the ship propeller operating point are determined they can then be used to calculate the remaining full-scale operating parameters: the shaft speed,

$$n_{S} = \sqrt{\left[\frac{T_{S}}{K_{TS}D_{S}^{4}\rho_{S}}\right]}, \text{ the ship scale torque, } Q_{S} = \rho_{S}n_{S}^{2}D_{S}^{5}K_{QS}, \text{ the delivered power,}$$
$$P_{DS} = 2\pi\rho_{S}n_{S}^{3}D_{S}^{5}2K_{QS}.$$



Figure 2-5 Ship Propeller Operating Point determination

The following are incorporated in the E2001 method in the extrapolation of power:

- frictional resistance coefficient, C_F
- form factor, k
- correlation allowance, C_A
- thrust deduction fraction, t

The frictional resistance coefficient can be one of a number of coefficients available, for example the C_{F1957} (Manen & Oossanen, 1988), the C_F proposed by Grigson (2000) or the C_F proposed by Schlicting (1987). The friction lines proposed by Grigson and Schlicting are turbulent friction lines and may more accurately represent the frictional resistance of the vessel than the ITTC 1957 ship model correlation line. The frictional resistance coefficient is used in the determination of the self-propulsion point towing force, $F_D = \frac{1}{2} \rho_M V_M^2 S_M [(1+k)(C_{FM} - C_{FS}) - C_A]$ in the E2001 method and it is not used

to calculate or estimate any other values.

The form factor, k, is estimated using a method outlined by Holtrop (2001) that can be used without resistance data and instead use data from the lower Froude number selfpropulsion tests. At low Froude numbers, when wave-making is very small, the resistance ($R_M = F_{T=0}$) is approximately equal to the frictional resistance (R_F) times one plus the form factor (1+k) [Holtrop, 2001].

$$\begin{split} R_{M} &= F - \frac{T}{\left(\partial T} \middle|_{\partial F}\right) = F + T(1-t) \\ R_{M} &\approx R_{F}(1+k) \qquad Fn \to 0 \\ (1+k) &\approx \lim_{Fn \to 0} \left[\frac{R_{M}}{R_{F}}\right] \end{split}$$

In the E2001 method the form factor is also used in calculating the self-propulsion point tow force and is not used to calculate or estimate any other values. The self-propulsion point tow force is used to calculate the full-scale thrust, $T_s = \left\{\frac{F_{T=0} - F_D}{1 - t}\right\}\lambda^3 \frac{\rho_s}{\rho_M}$. In lieu of a wake fraction, a wake scale effect, $w_{scale} = \frac{\begin{pmatrix} V_A \\ V \end{pmatrix}_s}{\begin{pmatrix} V_A \\ V \end{pmatrix}_M}$ (Holtrop, 2001), is

applied to the thrust and torque coefficients, $K_{TS} = a_1 (w_{scale}J)^2 + b_1 (w_{scale}J) + c_1 - \Delta K_T$ and $K_{QS} = a_2 (w_{scale}J)^2 + b_2 (w_{scale}J) + c_2 - \Delta K_Q$, to correct the comparatively higher thrust loading at model scale. The value used for the wake scale effect can be determined from a database of correlated model and ship trial data or from a semi-empirical formula such as that presented by Holtrop and Mennen (1982). The reliability of the wake scaling is dependent on the size and diversity of available data. The E2001 method has been shown to predict power that is close in value to that predicted using the ITTC 1978 method and to the corresponding full-scale trials data (Molloy, 2001).

2.3 Database of Ships

The ITTC 2005 powering prediction committee collected a database of ship model tests with corresponding sea trials and it is designated here as "the ITTC 2005 ship database" (Bose *et al.*, 2005). The database contained test data for 48 different ship forms, primarily containerships and ferries with lengths from 40m to 300m (Bose *et al.*, 2005, Figures 6.1 and 6.2).

For this study 21 ships from the database were used and are described in Table 2-1. These 21 sets of data were chosen to represent a large variety of vessel types. The vessel ship operating speed from each model was chosen for the analysis. In the first section of the analysis of the ITTC 1978 powering prediction method all 21 ships are compared.

Chan Legend	Зли Турс	ingle Proes	Shipispi
Ship #1	Chemical Carrier	1	7.36
Ship #2	Chemical Carrier	2	7.36
Ship #3	Chemical Carrier	1	7.36
Ship #4	Passenger	2	13.37
Ship #5	RoRo Ferry	2	12.34
Ship #6	Ferry	2	11.83
Ship #7	Passenger Cruise Liner	2	10.28
Ship #8	Ferry	1	5.66
Ship #9	Car Passenger Ferry	2	13.37
Ship #10	Passenger	2	9.77
Ship #11	Cruise Liner	2	11.06
Ship #12	Passenger	2	11.32
Ship #13	Passenger	2	11.06
Ship #14	Passenger	2	8.49
Ship #15	Cruise Vessel	2	10.8
Ship #16	Passenger Cruise Liner	2	12.35
Ship #17	Container Ship	1	8.22
Ship #18	Container Ship	1	8.22
Ship #19	Tanker	1	8.74
Ship #20	Tanker	1	8.48
Ship #21	R-Class Icebreaker	2	8.75

Table 2-1 Descriptions of ships used in study

A subset of ships is shaded in Table 2-1: Ships 1, 9, 12, 16, 17 and 21. These ships were used for further detailed study of the extrapolation method; they were chosen to represent a range of vessel types. Ship #21 is the only data set in the database that included load-varied self-propulsion tests and is the only set that could be used to analyse the E2001 method.

2.4 Program

A program written by Molloy (2001) was used to extrapolate ship power from model test data using the ITTC 1978 method. It was designed to take 3 input files that correspond to the three tests that are required in the traditional ITTC 1978 method. The E2001 method could be used simultaneously in the program to predict delivered power if the input data included a load-varied self-propulsion test.

The programmed methods of calculating the ITTC 1978 method and the E2001 method were validated using a line-by-line method. Each line of calculation in the program was output to a file and then each value of each programmed method was compared to each value calculated when the method was solved using a spreadsheet. The spreadsheet used to calculate results using the ITTC 1978 method was validated by the candidate and then sent for an external evaluation by David Cumming of the National Research Council Institute for Ocean Technology in St. John's, NL. Dr. Neil Bose also assisted the candidate in repeat validations of both the spreadsheets and programs. Finally, the results of both the spreadsheets and programs were compared to a number of the data sets in the ITTC 2005 Ship Database (Bose *et al.*, 2005) that included intermediate values in the data file. The author is confident the programmed methods produce valid results.

The first input file contained the results of the resistance test: velocity (m/s) and resistance (N), a copy of the resistance file for ship #16 is found in Appendix A.1. The data in this file were then converted into an equation using a 2^{nd} order regression equation. Higher order equations were investigated by running the program with variation in all measured input values and with first 2^{nd} , then 3^{rd} and then 4^{th} degree

polynomial regression equations for the resistance data. The change in standard deviation of the predicted power was very small and the overall impact on the final result was small, (see Figure 2-6), so a 2^{nd} order polynomial was used for the resistance data regression for all data sets. The skew to the right in the curve is explained in section 3.2.3.



Figure 2-6 Change in predicted power with variation in all measured inputs and including change in degree of regression curve used to represent resistance

The second file contained the results of the open water test, a copy of this file for ship #16 is found in Appendix A.2. The test results were entered into the program in the form

$$J = \frac{V_A}{nD}, \quad K_T = \frac{T}{\rho n^2 D^4}, \quad K_Q = \frac{Q}{\rho n^2 D^5} \quad (Manen \& Oossanen, 1988). \quad K_T \text{ and } K_Q \text{ were}$$

converted to a 2nd order equation through regression (Holtrop, 2001).

The third file, two copies of which are found in Appendices A.3 & A.4, contained all the model particulars, the test temperatures and viscosities and the results of the self-propulsion test. The form factor, correlation allowance (Manen & Oossanen, 1988) and wake scaling (used in the E2001 method, Holtrop, 2001) were input directly to the program in the third file and for the purposes of this analysis were not automatically calculated.

A sample of the terms used in the input file is included in Table 2-2. The input file was written in XML[®] and the program was written in Java[®].

Viscosity	<vissps>1.65988E-6</vissps>
Scale	< SC >25.21
Length of model	<lm>6.843</lm>
Breadth of model	<brdt>0.952</brdt>
Draught of model	<drgt>0.248</drgt>
Self-propulsion test	<velocity>2.6637157894977</velocity>
velocity	
Shaft speed	<revolutions>13.14</revolutions>
Total thrust	<total_thrust>85.5432</total_thrust>
Standard deviation for	<column delta=".02663" name="VELOCITY"></column>
velocity	
Standard deviation for	COLUMN NAME="REVOLUTIONS" DELTA=".1314"/>
shaft speed	
Standard deviation for	<column <="" name="TOTAL_THRUST" td=""></column>
total thrust	DELTA= "0.855432"/>
Standard deviation for	<constant delta="0.0002" name="CA"></constant>
correlation allowance	
Number of iterations &	<randomization <="" iterations="10000" td=""></randomization>
file name	FILENAME_MOD="all">
Parameters to be varied:	<column name="TOTAL_THRUST"></column>
total thrust & velocity	<column name="VELOCITY"></column>

Table 2-2 Sa	mple of term	s used in	input file

This file also contained the value of the standard deviations of each parameter (referred to as 'Delta' in the program), the propulsion factors that were varied, and instructions to the program on which value(s) should be varied for each run of the program.

The program read in the regression curves and the third input file and determined the resistance at the velocity of the self-propulsion test. Examples of values calculated within the program are given in Table 2-3.

Table 2-3 Examples of values calculated in program

Constant	Definition
Fn	Froude number of test
R_N	Reynolds number of test
C _{F1957}	Coefficient of Friction calculated using the 1957 equation
C_{TM}	Total resistance coefficient of the model
If the self-pro	opulsion data were load-varied, the self-propulsion point was interpolated

using the tow force coefficient, K_{FD} (as discussed above, Manen & Oossanen, 1988) and the thrust identity was then used to determine the J and K_Q values from the open water regression curves (Harvald, 1983). If the data was non-load varying, J and K_Q were determined from the self-propulsion values in the input file.

2.4.1 Variation using Monte Carlo Simulation

Randomisation was achieved using the Monte Carlo method of simulation. In a Monte Carlo Simulation, an input value to a data reduction equation is randomly varied by a predetermined uncertainty and a distribution of the output result is obtained (Coleman & Steele, 1999). In this case the "data reduction equation" was the entire extrapolation method. The original value was input to the program, assigned a standard deviation and

distributed normally. Each output value was presented as a mean value with a standard deviation in a normal distribution. The method of randomisation was validated by taking a selection of the values that were randomised using the program and then comparing each calculated output result with the output results of similarly varied values calculated using a spreadsheet. The input values to each method were varied 5-10 times using a spreadsheet and the values were randomly chosen within the assigned standard deviation. The results of calculations made when the input values were varied with a spreadsheet compared well with those results calculated using input values varied within the program. The randomiser in the program first randomly varied the resistance test results in a normal distribution with a standard deviation of 1% of each measured value. The resistance test results were presented as a set of runs with a velocity and a resistance for each run.

Original Val	ues	Randomised Va	lues, Iteration #1
V _M m/s	R_M @ 15С N	V _{M-Random1} m/s	R_{M-Random1} N
0.577	4.92	0.586	4.77
0.692	7.09	0.689	7.31
0.807	9.58	0.819	9.20
0.922	12.32	0.895	13.17
1.038	15.39	0.989	15.61
1.153	19.04	1.193	19.18
1.268	23.52	1.254	24.85
1.384	28.78	1.394	29.09
1.499	34.51	1.486	36.47
1.614	40.38	1.581	40.15
1.730	49.88	1.719	49.95
1.845	70.07	1.841	71.91
1.960	98.88	1.983	98.83

 Table 2-4 Example of Randomised Resistance Test Values

A regression equation was calculated to represent the data in the file and was then input to the program. If the analysis required the velocity and resistance to be randomised then all the measured values in the file were randomised (see Table 2-4). This process was repeated the number of times that was specified in the program (in this case 10,000) and once each value in the file was randomised, a new regression equation was calculated using the new data set and that equation was input into the extrapolation program.

The same process was followed to randomise the open water data. Again, the data was presented as a file of test results from a large number of test runs. The data points in the file that contained the open water data were represented by a regression equation and input in this manner to the program. Once the data in the file were randomised a new regression equation was calculated and this equation was input to the program. This process was repeated the required number of times.

Velocity (m/s)	1.957	0.020	1.935
Revolutions (rps)	15.900	0.159	15.612
Tow Force (N)	-8.100	0.448	-8.432
Torque Port (Nm)	2.040	0.020	2.041
Torque Stbd (Nm)	2.120	0.021	2.132
Thrust Port (N)	69.900	0.694	68.843
Thrust Stbd (N)	68.800	0.694	68.244

Table 2-5 Example of Randomised Self-Propulsion Test Values

The self-propulsion data were varied directly; there was only one value that represented the self-propulsion point velocity, one value of the self propulsion point thrust, one torque value, one shaft speed and one tow force value, so each term in the file that was required to be randomised was varied and then input to the program, Table 2-5 shows the randomised values of one data set. This was repeated the required number of times (10,000).

Variation of the other propulsion factors occurred in 2 ways. Propulsion factors were input to the program if they were not calculated using equations within the method. Factors such as the correlation allowance, which could be location specific, were randomised before they were input to the program, as were the resistance, open water and self-propulsion data.

If the factor was calculated using equations within the program (e.g. frictional resistance coefficient) and the analysis required the value to be studied alone, then a direct variation was made within the program. The variation was added to the calculated value, the variation had an initial value of zero and a standard deviation was applied that was an estimated representative (pre-determined) amount for the value being varied. Example:

$$C_{F1957} = \frac{0.075}{\left(\log_{10} Rn_M - 2\right)^2} + Variation, \text{ where } Variation \text{ is } \pm \text{ random value with pre-}$$

assigned standard deviation.

The standard deviations of these factors were chosen based on technical judgment and were not always 1% of the maximum value. For example, the model frictional resistance coefficient standard deviation was the difference between C_{F1957} and $C_{FGrigson}$ at model scale, this is explained in detail in Chapter 3.

Chapter 3

Variation in ITTC 1978 Powering Prediction Method

The ITTC 1978 powering prediction method is an extrapolation method proposed by the 15th International Towing Tank Conference in 1978 that incorporated many of the powering scaling tools that were in use at facilities around the world at the time (Lindgren *et al.*, 1978). The method is described in its entirety in the committee report from 1978 and in Principles of Naval Architecture II (Manen & Oossanen, 1988) and briefly in Chapter 2. The committee examined various ways of extrapolating model test data and proposed a method for single screw ships that addressed among other issues the friction on the vessel hull, the wake of the vessel and the air resistance. The ITTC 1978 method or aspects of the method have been in regular use at facilities around the world since then and it is used beyond the extrapolate model test data for twin, triple and quadruple-screw ships, and ships fitted with podded propulsors among others. Incorporated within the traditional 1978 method are a number of propulsion factors and a frictional resistance

coefficient, C_F , used to account for the difficulty in obtaining dynamical similarity between model and full-scale vessels (Harvald, 1983). Propulsion factors include:

- a form factor, k
- a thrust deduction fraction, t
- a wake fraction, w
- a correlation allowance, C_A
- a relative rotative efficiency, η_R

The frictional resistance coefficient is used to approximate the frictional resistance of the model and then scale it to ship values using either a model-ship correlation line such as the ITTC 1957 correlation line (Manen & Oossanen, 1988), or a turbulent flat plate friction line such as that proposed by Schlichting (1987) or Grigson (1999) or the American Towing Tank Conference, ATTC, (Schoenherr) friction line (Manen & Oossanen, 1988). The ITTC 1957 correlation line and the friction lines are based on flat plate friction over a range of Reynolds Numbers and not on ship model friction so a form factor, k, is often applied to the frictional resistance coefficient to account for the three dimensional shape of the vessel, the value of k is assumed to be the same at model and full scale.

The thrust deduction fraction, t, is the fraction of the total thrust that is used to represent the loss of thrust caused by the low pressure region as the flow speeds up on entry to the propeller. This value is assumed to be the same at model and full-scale (Harvald, 1983). The wake fraction is the difference integrated over the disk of the propeller between the velocity of the ship and the inflow velocity to the propeller. During model tests, the model-scale vessel has a boundary layer with a scaled thickness greater than the equivalent full-scale ship so the wake needs to be scaled (Carlton, 1994). In the ITTC 1978 method the full-scale wake, $w_{TS} = (t + 0.04) + (w_{TM} - t - 0.04) \frac{C_{VS}}{C_{VM}}$ is determined

using the model wake, $w_{TM} = 1 - \frac{J_{TM}}{J}$, thrust deduction fraction, $t = \frac{T + F_D - R_C}{T}$, the frictional resistance coefficient ($C_{VS} = (1 + k)C_{FS} + C_A$ and $C_{VM} = (1 + k)C_{FM}$) and for single screw ships an added factor (0.04) to account for the effect of the rudder, if the ship is twin screw or greater this factor is deleted (Manen & Oossanen, 1988). If the wake of the ship is found to be larger than the wake of the model, then the wake of the ship is set equal to the wake of the model (Manen & Oossanen, 1988).

The correlation allowance, C_A , is a value that is added to the calculated smooth ship resistance coefficient in order to find the actual ship resistance. The value is a catch-all term that is often used to account for the full-scale roughness of the ship (due to welds, paint, fouling etc.), to account for differences in predicted effective power caused by using different extrapolation methods and to account for scale effects not otherwise considered (Manen & Oossanen, 1988). The ITTC 1978 method uses an equation to estimate the correlation allowance that is based on expected roughness of the ship,

$$C_A = \left[105 \left(\frac{k_s}{L}\right)^{1/3} - 0.64\right] 10^{-3}.$$
 However, in practice the correlation allowance is thought to

be different for different tanks (Manen & Oossanen, 1988, pg.61). When model test powering predictions are validated with full-scale trials, the values chosen for the correlation allowances area examined and updated. One example of correlation allowances in use are those provided by MARIN based on the ITTC 1978 extrapolation procedure, which range from 0-0.0004 according to the length of the full-scale vessel (Manen & Oossanen, 1988, Resistance, 6.4 Table 13).

The relative rotative efficiency, η_R , is the ratio between the efficiency of the propeller when tested in self-propulsion mode or operating behind the hull and the efficiency of the propeller in open water or uniform flow. The wake behind the model causes the flow over the blade as it rotates to be different from the flow in open water, so the angle of attack is changed. The proportions of turbulent and laminar flow over the blades are different. In order to account for this, the relative rotative efficiency is applied to the predicted power and is usually in the range of 0.95-1 for twin-screw ships and 1-1.1 for single-screw ships (Manen & Oossanen, 1988, Resistance, section 4).

Individual facilities omit or vary aspects of the method according to the experience and needs of the tank; a table showing current approaches is found in the ITTC 2005 Powering Prediction Committee Report Table 5.3 by Steen, reprinted here as Table 3-1 (Bose *et al.*, 2005). Some facilities change so many aspects that they use a different method entirely. For example, not all facilities use the ITTC 1957 correlation line, some facilities use a form factor obtained using Prohaska's Method (Harvald, 1983) and others do not use a form factor. Also, most facilities use a correlation allowance, but not always the same kind and a roughness correction is not always included in the correlation allowance used.

Table 3-1 Compilation of extrapolation methods in use at the organisations represented on the committee (Question marks indicate that the information was not available) (Bose *et al.*, 2005, Table 5.3)

[1	1				Prop-	1		[
Org	Form	Wind	Bilga kaole	Wake	K _T , K _Q	ulsion	Roughness	Friction	Blockage	Correlation
A	<i>k</i> =0	Calc.'d	Calc. Frictional resistance	Tanaka Sasajima	ITTC'7 8	Thrust identity	$ DC_{F}=0.00 \\ 035- \\ Ls*2E-6 $	ITTC'57	?	$C_A = DC_F$
В	<i>k</i> =0	Calc.'d	?	Tanaka Sasajima	ITTC'7 8	Thrust identity	DC _F =0.00 035- Ls*2E-6	ITTC'57	?	С _Р , С _N
С	Empir Form.	Calc.'d	Calc. Frictional resistance	Tanaka Sasajima	No	Thrust identity		ITTC'57	Scott's formula	C _A
D	<i>k</i> =0	Calc.'d	?	Tanaka Sasajima	ITTC'7 8	Thrust identity	No, included in C_A	ITTC'57	No	$C_A = DC_F + s$ tatistics
E	Fine ships: k=0 Full ships: k=0	Calc.'d	Tests are performed with bilge keels which are considered as part of the hull.	empirical	Run POW tests at two revs, one for prop. Test and one for predict- ion	Thrust identity	own empirical relation	Fine ships: Prandtl- Schlichti ng Full ships: Hughes	No	Wake and roughness allowance
F	<i>k</i> =0	Calc.'d	Estimated, based on experience data	Yasaki	Lerbs- Meyne (1972)	Thrust identity	Included in C_A	ITTC'57	Yes	$C_A = f(L_{PP}, C_B)$
G	Fine ships: k=0 Full ships: k=0	Fine ships: incl. in C _R Full ships: Calcu- lated	?	Tanaka Sasajima	No?	Thrust identity	ITTC'78 (only full ships)	ITTC'57	?	CA
н	k found by Proh- aska's meth- od	Calc.'d	Wetted surface of bilge keels added for full scale	Tanaka Sasajima	ITTC'7 8	Thrust identity	ITTC'78	ITTC'57	?	<i>С_Р, С_N</i> (ITTC'78)

Past ITTC committees have completed uncertainty analyses of the tests (e.g. bias error on measurements of thrust and torque) used to provide data for the ITTC 1978 method, however a full uncertainty and sensitivity analysis of the method itself was not completed

prior to this work. The question of how uncertainties in the various measured values when extrapolated to full-scale values, affect the uncertainty of the predicted power, was the aim of this work. For example, does uncertainty in thrust result in a proportional uncertainty in the final predicted power or is the predicted power overly sensitive or insensitive to this measured value? Also, it is not clear how the various propulsion factors and uncertainties in the frictional line impact the uncertainty in the predicted power. The frictional resistance coefficient, the form factor, the correlation allowance, the model and ship wake fractions, the thrust deduction fraction and relative rotative efficiency are all values that are potentially subject to the interpretation of the analyst, are site specific or due to the data used to develop the equation to calculate the factor or coefficient (e.g. turbulent flat plate friction line) have uncertainty. The frictional resistance coefficient value can be different depending on the choice of coefficient e.g. the ITTC 1957 line or the Grigson line because the equations used to calculate the coefficient are different. The thrust deduction fraction and wake fraction are usually taken from the model data that represent the operating speed. The values of w_{TS} and t in a model test series can vary by more than 10% over the test speed range and are subject to additional uncertainty due to uncertainty in the measured values used to calculate these factors. The wake is also affected by scaling from model to full-scale wake. The correlation allowance is often based on a database of collected validated model data at the testing facility and can be subject to an uncertainty range. Due to the possibility of variation in these propulsion factors it is likely that tests performed at different facilities even using the same extrapolation procedure would result in different predicted powers.

Indeed, a 1996 study found that for one proposed vessel the predictions of power from 13 shipyards differed by 36% from highest to lowest power and for another vessel the predictions from 4 test basins and one consultant differed in power by 40% for the same service speed (Anon., 1996).

3.1 Method of Uncertainty Analysis

The ITTC 1978 method was analysed in steps using Monte Carlo simulation. First the physical test results were varied by a standard deviation in a normal distribution and then the propulsion factors and frictional coefficient were varied by a standard deviation in a normal distribution. All the output results were presented in graphical and tabular forms and showed the standard deviation as a percentage of the output mean.

By using Monte Carlo simulation with pre-determined standard deviations applied to the inputs, it is possible to see how a representative variation in an input value will affect the resulting powering prediction when that variation is propagated through the ITTC 1978 method. The simulation is used here to vary a set of individual inputs and show the impact that individual factors have on the predicted power and also it is used to vary a selection of combined inputs. The standard deviation applied is an artificial value used to perform a primarily qualitative analysis, it is intended to represent the potential error in model data from for example, testing equipment, human error, differences between test basins and size of model errors.

The first set of inputs that was varied was the propeller open water test data set. The propeller advance coefficient and thrust and torque coefficients of the test were varied

individually and together by a 1% standard deviation to determine if this amount of variation amplified the final uncertainty in the delivered power or was propagated through the method to result in a 1% or less standard deviation in the power. The resistance and self-propulsion test results were similarly varied.

Once each of the tests was investigated alone, the variation was applied to all the test inputs together to determine how a 1% variation in all measured values influenced the uncertainty in the delivered power.

Chani Legend	Ship Турс					
Ship #1	Chemical Carrier	1	7.36	0.196	0.326	0.266
Ship #2	Chemical Carrier	2	7.36	0.193	0.168	0.180
Ship #3	Chemical Carrier	1	7.36	0.203	0.285	0.250
Ship #4	Passenger	2	13.37	0.197	0.123	0.160
Ship #5	RoRo Ferry	2	12.34	0.177	0.122	0.146
Ship #6	Ferry	2	11.83	0.247	0.081	0.162
Ship #7	Passenger Cruise Liner	2	10.28	0.172	0.147	0.157
Ship #8	Ferry	1	5.66	0.149	0.312	0.249
Ship #9	Car Passenger Ferry	2	13.37	0.187	0.105	0.144
Ship #10	Passenger	2	9.77	0.315	0.038	0.170
Ship #11	Cruise Liner	2	11.06	0.264	0.077	0.169
Ship #12	Passenger	2	11.32	0.226	0.075	0.146
Ship #13	Passenger	2	11.06	0.143	0.096	0.118
Ship #14	Passenger	2	8.49	0.214	0.174	0.190
Ship #15	Cruise Vessel	2	10.8	0.200	0.075	0.134
Ship #16	Passenger Cruise Liner	2	12.35	0.185	0.154	0.167
Ship #17	Container Ship	1	8.22	0.229	0.532	0.374
Ship #18	Container Ship	1	8.22	0.300	0.586	0.443
Ship #19	Tanker	1	8.74	0.179	0.387	0.280
Ship #20	Tanker	1	8.48	0.193	0.505	1.778
Ship #21	R-Class Icebreaker	2	8.75	0.329	0.063	0.185

Table 3-2 Model ship test data

Next the frictional coefficient and propulsion factors were varied by a standard deviation that was determined to be a representative value but not necessarily 1%. Each of the propulsion factors and the coefficient of friction were investigated individually and then all the propulsion factors and the frictional coefficient were varied together and with the measured test values.

The final picture that was created with the different results shows how the predicted delivered power was impacted by changes in parameters, which are subject to quantifiable uncertainty, that are integral to the method.

The designated ITTC 2005 database of ship model tests and corresponding trials presented in the powering prediction committee report and in Chapter 2 were used in the simulations (Bose *et al.*, 2005).

A selection of the available data was used and a summary description of the data chosen is in Table 3-2. This table is also a legend corresponding to the succeeding plots.

The data for ship #21 was originally load-varying, however the remaining data in the set are non-load varying or continental method test results (Spencer *et al.*, 1992, Bose *et al.*, 2005) so the data for ship #21 were simulated as non-load varying and then input to the program in the same manner as the continental method test results.

3.2 Variation of Measured Test Data

3.2.1 Variation of All Measured Inputs

All the measured input values, Table 3-3, were varied by a standard deviation of 1% of the maximum value in the file, e.g. velocity in the resistance test, V_R , from 0-1.5m/s had a

standard deviation of 0.015, 1% of 1.5m/s. The simulation was run with variation in all of the measured values together, Figure 3-1.

Table 3-3	Measured	Value	Inputs
-----------	----------	-------	--------

Tests	Parameters varied	% Standard Deviation
Self-propulsion test	$V_{M} n_{M}, T_{M} Q_{M}, F_{D}$	1%
Resistance Test	$R_{TM} V_R$	1%
Propeller open water test	K_{T}, K_{Q}, J	1%

To simplify the analysis and allow observation of the effect of different inputs and other factors on the prediction of power with limited interaction between factors, some factors were set to neutral values for the initial sets of simulations, values that did not affect the predicted full-scale results. The form factor was set to zero, as was the correlation allowance, and the relative rotative efficiency was set to 100%.





Figure 3-1 Predicted power variation when all measured test values varied

The predicted delivered power of all the ships fell over a normally distributed range with standard deviations in the predicted power in the range 1.6%-2.6% (Table 3-4). There was a slight skew in the positive direction, which was due to the resistance and is explained in detail in section 3.2.3. Predicted power refers to predicted delivered power here.

on on a superior set of				和基本科			
Ship #1	1.01%	1.42%	2.28%	3.04%	1.77%	0.00%	5.11%
Ship #2	1.00%	1.19%	1.88%	2.31%	1.47%	1.47%	4.57%
Ship #3	0.99%	1.01%	2.00%	2.90%	1.53%	0.00%	4.12%
Ship #4	1.00%	1.55%	1.90%	3.37%	1.30%	1.30%	6.63%
Ship #5	0.99%	1.30%	1.91%	2.18%	1.81%	1.81%	5.24%
Ship #6	1.00%	1.26%	2.01%	3.03%	1.49%	1.49%	5.85%
Ship #7	1.00%	1.05%	1.81%	2.28%	1.50%	1.50%	5.07%
Ship #8	1.00%	1.41%	2.56%	4.30%	1.46%	0.00%	7.15%
Ship #9	1.00%	1.52%	2.60%	2.19%	1.72%	1.72%	5.50%
Ship #10	0.99%	1.15%	2.29%	1.55%	2.23%	2.23%	4.56%
Ship #11	1.00%	1.49%	2.19%	2.03%	1.78%	1.78%	5.57%
Ship #12	1.00%	1.48%	2.52%	1.97%	2.13%	2.13%	5.45%
Ship #13	1.01%	1.37%	2.39%	2.01%	2.09%	2.09%	5.14%
Ship #14	1.00%	1.17%	1.89%	2.62%	1.55%	1.55%	5.91%
Ship #15	0.99%	1.21%	1.96%	2.48%	1.59%	1.59%	5.12%
Ship #16	1.00%	1.57%	2.35%	2.81%	1.49%	1.49%	6.16%
Ship #17	1.00%	0.67%	1.63%	7.56%	1.52%	0.00%	4.14%
Ship #18	1.00%	0.84%	1.65%	7.11%	1.44%	0.00%	4.36%
Ship #19	1.00%	1.06%	1.86%	5.08%	1.80%	0.00%	4.95%
Ship #20	1.00%	0.92%	2.24%	5.13%	2.41%	0.00%	4.16%
Ship #21	0.99%	1.01%	1.72%	2.26%	0.91%	0.91%	4.91%

Table 3-4 Comparison of Standard Deviations – measured values varied together

A 1% standard deviation in all of the measured test data caused an average of 2.1% standard deviation in the predicted power of all the ships in Figure 3-1. For a normal distribution the standard deviation can be used as a 68% confidence limit and 1.96 x standard deviation as a 95% confidence limit (Taylor, 1997). This means the probability

that the predicted power result lies in the range of ± 1.96 x standard deviations around the mean result is 95%, or that to have 95% confidence in the result the range of uncertainty about the mean is ± 1.96 x standard deviation.

The standard deviation of the predicted power is an average of 2.1% and to have 95% confidence in the result the uncertainty would be $\pm 4.1\%$. Over the range of ships this uncertainty would be a minimum of 1.63 x 1.96 = 3.2% and a maximum of 2.6 x 1.96 = 5.1%. With repeated and replicated tests the uncertainty of the results can be reduced. However, this can be challenging with ship model testing, as tank time is expensive and trade offs need to be carefully considered, reliability of the prediction method becomes even more essential.

Three ship data sets were run at different percentage standard deviations to determine if the variation was linear. The ships were run with variation in the measured test values from the three tests. It was clear from the variations, Figure 3-2-Figure 3-4, that applying 0.5% standard deviation to the measured test values resulted in approximately half the standard deviation in predicted power of applying 1% standard deviation and one third of applying 1.5% standard deviation, Table 3-5.

Ship #1	1.12%	2.28%	3.40%
Ship #9	1.26%	2.60%	4.04%
Ship #16	1.13%	2.35%	3.57%
Ship #21	0.88%	1.72%	2.61%
Average	1.10%	2.24%	3.40%

 Table 3-5 Comparison of standard deviation in predicted power with change in input (measured) value standard deviation

The method of variation was found to be stable within a restricted range of standard deviation. When standard deviations above ~2% were tested, the measured values were increased or decreased by amounts that in some of the iterations caused the input data to be shifted to such a degree that is was not possible to find an intersection between the curves used to determine the propeller operating point (see chapter 2) or the value was unrealistic. In these cases the program was unable to return a final full-scale result. These types of results would not occur in the analysis of test data using a manual method by a skilled analyst because such problems with the data would be recognised.



Figure 3-2 Results of varying the amount standard deviation of the measured test values, Ship #1



Figure 3-3 Results of varying the amount standard deviation of the measured test values, Ship #9



Figure 3-4 Results of varying the amount standard deviation of the measured test values, Ship #16



Figure 3-5 Variation in predicted power distribution for input standard deviation values of 0.5%, 1% and 1.5% when the bin range was kept constant for one ship.

The integrated area under the curve in the plots throughout this thesis is always 100%; the bin ranges for the histograms can sometimes make the plots appear as if there is a difference in the integrated area when different distributions are plotted together. The plots are all shown as a percentage change in power from the mean. The purpose of presenting the data in this manner was to allow the different ship powering predictions to be compared directly; the predicted power of the ship model data sets ranged from less than 600 kW to over 42000 kW. The bin ranges for the histograms of the power were chosen to give an even distribution of points from the minimum to the maximum value and were different for each data set. Using ship #16 to illustrate, if the bin ranges were chosen manually and kept constant then the change in predicted power with change in

input standard deviation for ship #16 clearly showed equal areas under the curve of the

distribution, Figure 3-5.

	$\eta_R = 100\%$	η_R - calculated		
Ship #1	2.28%	1.75%		
Ship #9	2.60%	2.24%		
Ship #12	2.52%	2.10%		
Ship #16	2.35%	1.44%		
Ship #17	1.63%	1.42%		
Ship #21	1.72%	1.75%		

 Table 3-6 Comparison of predicted power standard deviation with and without relative rotative efficiency calculated within the ITTC 1978 method

The relative rotative efficiency was assigned a value of 100% in the first phase of analysis and then the predicted power calculation was compared to the predicted power using the same variations in the input values, frictional coefficient and propulsion factors but with the relative rotative efficiency calculated within the method (see section 3.3.7). The standard deviation of the predicted power was reduced by 0.4%.

The standard deviation of 'all inputs' included standard deviation of the measured values of the propeller open water test, the resistance test and the self-propulsion test, Table 3-3. The next step was to determine which if any of the model tests contributed most significantly to the uncertainty in the predicted power and which test had the least impact. After these three runs, the individual measured values were varied alone (thrust, torque etc.) to determine the effect each measured value from the test series had on the predicted power.

3.2.2 Variation of Propeller Open Water Test Inputs

The program was run with parameters from the propeller open water test varied. A subset of ships was used for this more detailed analysis, the highlighted ships in Table 3-2. The values varied were the advance coefficient and the thrust and torque coefficients, Table 3-3. The standard deviation of each value was 1% of the maximum value in the file.

When the results from the propeller open water tests were varied alone, there was an average reduction of 0.9% in predicted power standard deviation from the average 'all test inputs' standard deviation over the ships in the subset, Table 3-7 and Table 3-4. A direct comparison of predicted power standard deviations is provided in Table 3-11.



Predicted Power Variation with variation of all Open Water Test Inputs

Figure 3-6 Predicted power distribution when all propeller open water test values varied

The resulting standard deviation in predicted power ranged from 0.59-2.12%. This translates into an average uncertainty of approximately 2.69% for 95% confidence. The range of uncertainty is large and this is attributed to the number of test points in the propeller open water data sets provided. The propeller open water test values are used to define a regression curve that is input to the program. When there are few points on the curve (< 8) the regression is subject to greater uncertainty than when there are many (>45). This greater change lead to a larger standard deviation for the predicted power for some ships, the Ship#21 data set was the only set with a large number of points defining the propeller open water performance and the power predicted had the smallest standard deviation. When the randomising program was run with only 11 points in the propeller open water input file for ship #21 (J = 0, 0.16, 0.24, 0.30, 0.44, 0.52, 0.60, 0.70, 0.78, 0.84, 0.88) the resulting predicted power standard deviation was 1.22% compared to 0.59% when the file had 45 points, clearly showing that the extra runs during testing reduce the uncertainty in the predicted power. In a testing series this could be addressed by using a well-tested stock propeller for the self-propulsion test.

Ship #1	0.00%	0.20%	1.57%	0.60%	1.46%	0.00%	0.00%
Ship #9	0.00%	0.20%	1.60%	0.29%	1.48%	1.48%	0.00%
Ship #12	0.00%	0.23%	2.12%	0.51%	2.01%	2.01%	0.00%
Ship #16	0.00%	0.18%	1.36%	0.34%	1.25%	1.25%	0.00%
Ship #17	0.00%	0.22%	1.01%	1.48%	0.87%	0.00%	0.00%
Ship #21	0.00%	0.08%	0.59%	0.19%	0.54%	0.54%	0.00%

Table 3-7 Comparison of Standard Deviations – Propeller Open Water

When there is a 0% standard deviation of a parameter in the tables listing the predicted standard deviations this means that that full-scale parameter was not varied through the variation of the input being studied, i.e. if the open water test data is varied alone, the ship velocity and the effective power are not varied because the open water data is not used to calculate these parameters, Table 3-7. For consistency, all the tables listed the seven full-scale parameters regardless of whether the parameter had a standard deviation.

3.2.3 Variation of Resistance Test Inputs

The simulation was next run with only the values from the resistance test varied, the measured resistance and the velocity of the carriage.





Figure 3-7 Predicted power variation when resistance test values varied

The data for ship#9 was different to the other data sets because it had a higher number of data points in the mid range of the distribution curve. The resistance data for ship#9 had

the smallest speed range (2.35-2.66m/s) and had the highest velocities of all the ships, Figure 3-8.



Figure 3-8 Resistance versus Velocity for ship data subset

When the resistance data of a model ship was varied by 1% of the maximum value in the file, the range of resistance values below the maximum were varied by greater than 1% of the value. For example, if the maximum resistance in a file was 80N, then the 1% standard deviation was 0.8N so all the values 0N-79N were varied by a standard deviation of 0.8N, greater than 1% of the value. The 1% (0.0266) value used as the standard deviation of the velocity in the file for ship #9 is close to 1% of each of the velocity values in the resistance input file (ranging from ~2.3-2.6m/s). This means the input regression curve representing the resistance was varied less for each iteration than the other ships and this reduced the spread of the predicted power distribution.

The power distributions produced when the resistance data was varied are all skewed high. The curves of the resistance test data are shown in Figure 3-8. The data used to produce the resistance curve of the ship were randomised before the regression curve was calculated using least squares estimation, i.e. the resistance value determined to represent the drag on the vessel at the chosen speed was varied before the regression curve was determined. The resistance and velocity values that were extrapolated in the powering prediction method were those that corresponded to the operating speed of the full-scale vessel and these values were all found among the higher values of the input data and on the steepest portion of the polynomial used (see Figure 3-8).

Table 3-8 Example of predicted power with varied resistance test data

Bin	Frequency	Cumulative %
34400	0	.00%
34600	15	.15%
34800	148	1.63%
35000	605	7.68%
35200	1280	20.48%
35400	1801	38.49%
35600	1865	57.14%
35800	1510	72.24%
36000	1130	83.54%
36200	703	90.57%
36400	412	94.69%
36600	259	97.28%
36800	135	98.63%
37000	71	99.34%
37200	37	99.71%
37400	16	99.87%
37600	6	99.93%
37800	5	99.98%
38000	0	99.98%
38200	2	100.00%

This means that due to the nature of the curve profile, when the data was varied (using Monte Carlo simulation) below the operating speed the data was varied through a small range of the low resistance values and when the data was varied above the operating speed the extent of the values of high resistance values was larger in comparison. Also, because higher resistance means higher power, this led to the skewing of predicted power above the mean.

A sample of the predicted powers is included in Table 3-8. Had the resistance value determined for the operating speed been varied after it was input to the program the data would have been more evenly distributed, however, it would not have fully represented the potential change in predicted power due to uncertainty in the resistance test results.

	방법 소리 방송 전 모양 일본 - 1992 - 1993		이 가슴이 있는 것이 가슴 가슴이 있다. 이 가슴이 있는 것이 가슴이 있다. 이 가슴이 있는 것이 가슴이 있는 것이 있다.			, 사망가 나랍는 것이 같이 가 있는 것이 다. 같이 가 있는 것이 다.	
Ship #1	0.00%	0.63%	0.88%	1.26%	0.25%	0.00%	2.48%
Ship #9	0.00%	0.88%	1.37%	1.36%	0.48%	0.48%	3.53%
Ship #12	0.00%	0.86%	1.12%	1.22%	0.25%	0.25%	3.22%
Ship #16	0.00%	0.95%	1.28%	1.74%	0.32%	0.32%	4.03%
Ship #17	0.00%	0.19%	0.07%	1.61%	0.13%	0.00%	1.49%
Ship #21	0.00%	0.42%	0.72%	1.01%	0.30%	0.30%	2.43%
Average	0.00%	0.66%	0.91%	1.36%	0.29%	0.34%	2.86%

Table 3-9 Comparison of Standard Deviations – Resistance Test

This result also shows that in practice the ITTC 1978 extrapolation method causes the predicted power to be more often high than low and to counter this, resistance test test-velocities should include those both above and below the operating speed of extrapolation to clearly show the trends in the data. In this analysis the speed at which the data was extrapolated (without randomisation) corresponded to a resistance value that was always

within the range of the resistance test data provided but the higher randomised values were found beyond the upper limit of data used to determine the regression curve.

When the resistance values were varied alone the standard deviation of the predicted power was on average 1.37% less than the when all measured test values were varied together Table 3-9 and Table 3-11. The standard deviation of the predicted power when the resistance test inputs were varied ranged from 0.07 to 1.37%, an average uncertainty range of approximately 1.78% with 95% confidence. The smallest standard deviation was predicted for ship #17 which is a single screw vessel. The other single screw vessel in the set was ship #1 and the predicted power standard deviation was 0.88%. Ship #21 also had a small predicted power standard deviation and is a twin-screw vessel; the small standard deviation is attributed to the large number of points and range of velocity in the resistance data file which reduced the sensitivity of the regression curve to the applied variation (as was demonstrated with the propeller open water data), this vessel was tested as a research vessel however, and not as a commercial powering test.

3.2.4 Variation of Self Propulsion Test Inputs

The self-propulsion test measured data, Table 3-3, were varied alone and all the data sets were entered as non-load varied data.

The predicted power had similar standard deviation for all the ships in the data set, Figure 3-9, showing a very consistent effect of variation in the self-propulsion test inputs.



Figure 3-9 Predicted Power distributions when inputs to self-propulsion test are varied

The standard deviation in the predicted power varied from 1.28% to 1.46%, Table 3-10 and Table 3-11, resulting in an uncertainty of on average 2.66% with 95% confidence. The consistency and conformity of the data is attributed to the variation of only one point, i.e. one value of shaft speed is varied, one value of thrust, one torque value, one shaft speed and one tow force value per ship. Using the regression curves of the propeller open water data and the resistance data as data inputs adds a further source of nonuniformity because these curves can be centered above or below the self-propulsion test self-propulsion point. For example, the curves presented in Figure 3-8 were used to show that resistance data that is input to the powering prediction method can be highly varied in range and scope and this leads to a greater range of variation in the predicted power than one self-propulsion data point.

Ship #1	1.01%	1.27%	1.37%	2.75%	0.92%	0.00%	4.51%
Ship #9	0.99%	1.16%	1.35%	1.63%	0.66%	0.66%	3.95%
Ship #12	1.01%	1.40%	1.36%	1.82%	0.75%	0.75%	4.60%
Ship #16	1.01%	1.20%	1.28%	2.12%	0.58%	0.58%	4.63%
Ship #17	1.00%	0.60%	1.32%	7.26%	1.29%	0.00%	3.95%
Ship #21	0.98%	0.91%	1.46%	2.00%	0.68%	0.68%	4.25%

Table 3-10 Comparison of Standard Deviations – Self Propulsion Test

3.2.5 Comparison of Tests

When the standard deviations of the predicted power due to standard deviation of each test alone were compared (Table 3-11) it was clear that the resistance test had the least impact on the overall uncertainty compared to when the three tests were varied together.

	SP	ow	Res	All Inputs
				이상 이상 등 등 가장 가장한다. 2월 43일 - 11일 - 1
Ship #1	1.37%	1.57%	0.88%	2.28%
Ship #9	1.35%	1.60%	1.37%	1.88%
Ship #12	1.36%	2.12%	1.12%	2.00%
Ship #16	1.28%	1.36%	1.28%	1.90%
Ship #17	1.32%	1.01%	0.07%	1.91%
Ship #21	1.46%	0.59%	0.72%	2.01%
Average	1.36%	1.37%	0.91%	2.22%

 Table 3-11 Comparison of predicted power standard deviations – all tests

The uncertainty in the propeller open water and self-propulsion test data had on average quantitatively similar influence on the variation in the predicted power.
3.2.6 Variation of Individual Measured Values

The influence of individual test measurements was examined next. In each run of the simulations one of the measured parameters was varied while the others remained constant.

Propeller Open Water Test Results

The standard deviation in overall predicted power that resulted when the propeller open water test parameters were varied individually was small and the distributions are shown in Figure 3-10, Figure 3-11 and Figure 3-12.



Figure 3-10 Distribution of predicted power when J is varied

The average standard deviation of the predicted power was 0.21% when the advance coefficient was varied with a 1% standard deviation, Figure 3-10, 1.00% when the thrust coefficient was varied by 1%, (Figure 3-11) and 0.66% when the torque coefficient was

varied by 1%, (Figure 3-12, Table 3-12). Therefore the predicted power is very dependent on the thrust coefficient from the open water test.



Figure 3-11 Distribution of predicted power when K_T is varied



Figure 3-12 Distribution of predicted power when K_Q is varied

The variation in the predicted power when any of the test parameters are varied alone is small but noticeable and it has previously been shown that the uncertainties in the propeller open water test results contribute together to an overall average standard deviation of 1.37% or an uncertainty of 2.7% in predicted power, Table 3-11.

Resistance Test Results

The resistance test velocity and resistance data were individually varied by a standard deviation of 1% and the average predicted standard deviations in power were 0.86% and 0.32% respectively. Figure 3-13 and Figure 3-14 show the variation in power for the subset of ships.



Predicted Power Variation with variation of Resistance Test Velocity

Figure 3-13 Comparison of variation in predicted power when resistance test velocity is varied

Again the standard deviation in predicted power is small and it is clear that although uncertainty in the resistance test results can cause the predicted power to skew high (pg. 3.19), the ITTC 1978 prediction method is relatively stable with respect to the resistance test.



Predicted Power Variation with variation of Resistance Test Resistance

Figure 3-14 Comparison of variation in predicted power when resistance test resistance is varied

Self Propulsion Test Results

The five measured parameters of the self-propulsion test were each varied alone. The values were varied by a 1% standard deviation and the standard deviation of the predicted power ranged on average from 0.38% to 0.89% (Table 3-12, Figure 3-15-Figure 3-19). Each power that was predicted when the self-propulsion test velocity (Figure 3-15), and the self-propulsion test torque (Figure 3-19), had a 1% standard deviation resulted in an average standard deviation of 0.89%. The measured value from the self-propulsion test that caused the smallest standard deviation in predicted power was the tow force; it resulted in an average predicted power standard deviation of 0.38% (Figure 3-18).



Predicted Power Variation with variation of Self Propulsion Test Velocity

Figure 3-15 Comparison of predicted power variation when self-propulsion test velocity is varied



Figure 3-16 Comparison of predicted power distributions when self-propulsion test shaft speed is varied



Predicted Power Variation with variation of Self Propulsion Test Thrust

Figure 3-17 Comparison of predicted power variation when self-propulsion test thrust is varied



Figure 3-18 Comparison of predicted power variation when self-propulsion test tow force is varied.



Predicted Power Variation with variation of Self-Propulsion Test Torque

Figure 3-19 Comparison of predicted power variation when self-propulsion test torque is varied.

		Self P	ropulsio	n Test		Propel	ler open Test	Water	Resis Te	tance st
	V	n	FD	T	Q*	J	K _T	Ko	V_R	R _M
- Ship Ship		$\mathcal{P}_{\rho S}$ $d_{ij}(1)$					- Ans - Wing-			
Ship #1	0.93%	0.69%	0.33%	0.66%	1.00%	0.20%	1.17%	1.04%	0.84%	0.30%
Ship #9	0.92%	0.86%	0.36%	0.36%	0.36%	0.22%	1.16%	0.22%	1.29%	0.50%
Ship #12	1.12%	0.70%	0.35%	0.44%	1.00%	0.25%	1.53%	1.45%	1.07%	0.39%
Ship #16	0.88%	0.83%	0.41%	0.20%	0.99%	0.26%	0.95%	0.20%	1.22%	0.41%
Ship #17	0.49%	0.64%	0.66%	0.81%	1.00%	0.22%	0.75%	0.62%	0.06%	0.03%
Ship #21	1.02%	0.17%	0.17%	0.44%	1.00%	0.11%	0.42%	0.39%	0.68%	0.30%
Ave.	0.89%	0.65%	0.38%	0.49%	0.89%	0.21%	1.00%	0.66%	0.86%	0.32%

 Table 3-12 Comparison of resulting predicted power standard deviations when individual test values were varied

Individually the test results of the all of the physical tests do not have a large affect on the uncertainty in the predicted power, although any of the predicted powers in Table 3-12 that are above 1% indicate that the ITTC 1978 powering prediction method amplifies the

uncertainty of that parameter for that data set. The test results show that the ITTC 1978 method is relatively stable with respect to the individual test data that is used to predict full-scale power. The combined uncertainty of the input data, which was represented by a 1% standard deviation applied to all the test inputs, resulted in a standard deviation of on average 2.1% and when a 95% confidence interval was applied, the resulting uncertainty was 1.96 standard deviations or 4.12%. This is a value that can be reduced with additional test points in the resistance and open water test programs and also through repeat tests, replicate experiments and regular calibration of equipment (Coleman and Steele, 1999). However there are other sources of uncertainty throughout the method and when the 1% standard deviation of measured values was combined with the uncertainty applied to the coefficient of friction and the propulsion factors the standard deviation of the predicted power was larger. This is outlined in the following section.

3.3 Variation of the Coefficient of Friction and Propulsion factors

"Propulsion factor" is used here as a general term to describe the factors used to account for scaling effects due to the difficulty in attaining dynamical similarity in model testing (Harvald, 1983). These factors are the correlation allowance, the wake fraction, the thrust deduction fraction and the form factor. The propulsion factors were varied by amounts that were considered to represent the potential maximum uncertainty in the factor being studied. The propulsion factors that were varied are all values that are subject to the interpretation of the analyst and that can produce different results if the same model is tested and analysed at different facilities. The frictional resistance coefficient can be different depending on the choice of coefficient, e.g. ITTC 1957 or Grigson, as each line uses different formulas to determine the coefficient. Also, the model ship correlation line (ITTC 1957) and the turbulent flat plate friction line (Grigson and others) are based on empirical data and are subject to the uncertainty of the tests used to develop the lines. The correlation allowance is often based on a database of collected model data specific to the testing facility and can be subject to an uncertainty range (e.g. Manen & Oossanen, 1988, Resistance, 6.4 Table 13). The wake fractions and thrust deduction fractions are usually taken from the model data that represent the operating speed of the full-scale vessel; the values of w_{TS} and t in a model test series can vary by more than 10% over the test speed range (Table 3-20 and Table 3-22) (Bose *et al.*, 2005). It is difficult to measure ship resistance at low speeds and this can make it difficult to determine the form factor using Prohaska's method (Harvald, 1983).

						na an taon ann an taon ann.
Ship #1	0.196	0.326	0.266	0.003047	0.001638	0.10
Ship #9	0.187	0.105	0.144	0.002769	0.001470	0.10
Ship #12	0.143	0.075	0.146	0.002933	0.001546	0.10
Ship #16	0.185	0.154	0.167	0.002680	0.001437	0.10
Ship #17	0.229	0.532	0.374	0.003135	0.001499	0.2791
Ship #21	0.327	0.063	0.185	0.003116	0.001674	0.40

 Table 3-13 Original value of coefficient of friction and propulsion factors for ship subset

The original values of the coefficient of friction and the propulsion factors as they are calculated within the method before they are varied are given in Table 3-13 for the 6 ships in the subset used for the detailed analysis. The correlation allowance is not

calculated within the method but determined as an input factor, in this case the correlation allowance was assumed as 0.0004 for all the ships in the subset.

3.3.1 Variation of the frictional resistance coefficient

The frictional resistance coefficient was calculated within the ITTC 1978 method using the ITTC 1957 line, $C_{F1957} = \frac{0.075}{(\log_{10} Rn - 2)^2}$ (Harvald, 1983). The standard deviation that

was applied to the frictional resistance coefficient was 0.0001 for the model and 0.00005 for the ship. These values of the standard deviations were determined by looking at the frictional resistance coefficient value when using different methods, in this case ITTC 1957, Grigson (1993) and Prandtl-Schlichting (Harvald, 1983). When looking at the subset of ship, the difference between the $C_{F 1957}$ and $C_{F Grigson}$ for the model ranged from 0.00001-0.0001 and the difference between $C_{F 1957}$ and $C_{F Prandtl-Schlichting}$ for the model was 0.00001, Table 3-14.

The standard deviation was assumed to be 0.0001 for the model for all data sets. The difference between the $C_{F \ 1957}$ and $C_{F \ Grigson}$ for the ship was 0.0001 and the difference between $C_{F \ 1957}$ and $C_{F \ Prandtl-Schlichting}$ for the ship was 0.00004. The lines are lower in value at full scale so the standard deviation for the ship was assumed to be half of the standard deviation of the model standard deviation, \pm 0.00005 and the percentage variation was closer to the model scale. 0.0001 is approximately 3.4% of the average value of the $C_{F \ 1957}$ m for the subset of 6 ships and 0.00005 is approximately 3% of the average value of $C_{F \ 1957}$ s. With respect to this uncertainty analysis it does not matter

which line is used to calculate the coefficient of friction, the purpose of assigning a standard deviation was to test the uncertainty inherent in the empirical equation, the difference in the calculated values from the different lines was taken as a guide.

Model	Scale							
	Length m	Vel. m/s	Reynolds Number	C _{F 1957}	$C_{F m Grigson}$	C _F Prandtl- Schlichting	Diff. between C_{F1957} & $C_{FGrigson}$	Diff. between C _F 1957 & C _F Prandtl- Schlichting
Ship #1	6.06	1.82	9.66E+06	0.00302	0.00296	0.00302	0.0001	0.00000
Ship #9	6.27	2.66	1.47E+07	0.00281	0.00280	0.00283	0.00001	-0.00002
Ship #12	5.42	2.31	1.10E+07	0.00295	0.00291	0.00296	0.00004	-0.00001
Ship #16	8.42	2.47	1.83E+07	0.00271	0.00273	0.00273	-0.00002	-0.00002
Ship #17	6.00	1.44	7.61E+06	0.00315	0.00305	0.00314	0.0001	0.00001
Ship #21	4.69	1.99	8.18E+06	0.00311	0.00302	0.00310	0.0001	0.00001
Ship S	cale							
	Length m	Vel. m/s	Reynolds Number	C _{F 1957}	C _F Grigson	C_F Prandtl- Schlichting	Diff. between C_{F1957} & $C_{FGrigson}$	Diff. between $C_{F 1957}$ & $C_{F Prandtl-}$ Schlichting
Ship #1	124.4	8.2	6.17E+08	0.00163	0.00171	0.00167	-0.0001	-0.00004
Ship #9	158.0	13.4	3.20E+09	0.00133	0.00142	0.00136	-0.0001	-0.00003
Ship #12	130.0	11.3	8.86E+08	0.00155	0.00164	0.00159	-0.0001	-0.00004
Ship #16	210.5	12.3	1.57E+09	0.00145	0.00153	0.00149	-0.0001	-0.00004
Ship# 17	220.0	8.7	1.16E+09	0.00150	0.00159	0.00154	-0.0001	-0.00004
Ship #21	93.8	8.9	5.02E+08	0.00167	0.00176	0.00171	-0.0001	-0.00004

Table 3-14 Frictional coefficient comparison for ship subset

Also, Grigson (2000) has shown that when friction measurements of the drag on narrow pontoons were converted to drag coefficients and then compared to the Schoenherr line (Manen & Oossanen, 1988) the average curve through the measured points lay approximately 3% above the line.

The method of calculating the frictional resistance coefficient is automated within the program. The frictional resistance coefficient was varied by adding the standard deviation to the coefficient value after it was calculated ($\pm \sigma$).

When the frictional resistance coefficient (model & full-scale) was varied (Figure 3-20) the average standard deviation of the predicted powers in the subset was 6.58% over a range of 3.65% to 8.00%, (Table 3-16). The shortest ship with the shortest model, ship #21, (Table 3-14), had the smallest predicted power standard deviation. Ship #21 was over 30% shorter than the next longer ship and the predicted power standard deviation was 40% less than the next higher value. This indicates that although standard deviations of the model and ship frictional coefficients were all close in value, the lengths of the model and ship and the speed of the testing can influence the uncertainty of the predicted power of the full-scale vessel.

	<i>C_{F 1957}</i> Model	% standard dev	C_{F1957} Ship	% standard dev
Ship #1	0.00302	3.31%	0.00155	3.22%
Ship #12	0.00295	3.39%	0.00150	3.33%
Ship #16	0.00271	3.69%	0.00133	3.75%
Ship #21	0.00311	3.22%	0.00163	3.07%
Ship #9	0.00281	3.56%	0.00145	3.45%
Ship#17	0.00315	3.18%	0.00167	2.99%

Table 3-15 Standard Deviation of frictional coefficient



Predicted Power Variation with variation of CF1957 model & ship

Figure 3-20 Comparison of predicted power variation when C_{F1957} is varied

The standard deviation was the same magnitude for each ship studied and the percentage of the frictional coefficient varied from 3.18%-3.69% model scale and 2.99%-3.75% ship scale over the subset of ships, (Table 3-15).

This average standard deviation of predicted power is almost three times the standard deviation that resulted when just the measured inputs from the tests were varied because the assumed uncertainties of the frictional coefficients are high. If a 95% confidence were applied then the uncertainty of the predicted power would be $\pm 12.89\%$.

	and a second secon						
Ship #1	0.00%	0.67%	6.77%	1.33%	6.16%	0.00%	3.47%
Ship #9	0.00%	1.96%	8.00%	4.36%	6.06%	6.06%	6.87%
Ship #12	0.00%	0.69%	6.81%	2.89%	6.31%	6.31%	3.56%
Ship #16	0.00%	1.33%	7.87%	2.58%	6.54%	6.54%	3.46%
Ship #17	0.00%	1.33%	6.37%	3.12%	5.03%	0.00%	2.51%
Ship #21	0.00%	0.92%	3.65%	1.62%	2.76%	2.76%	1.63%
Average	0.00%	1.15%	6.58%	2.65%	5.48%	5.42%	3.58%

Table 3-16 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in C_{F1957}

3.3.2 Variation of correlation allowance

As previously discussed, the correlation allowance, C_A , is a value that is added to the calculated smooth ship resistance coefficient to account for scale effects and other unknowns not considered by the other propulsion factors used in the ITTC 1978 extrapolation method. It is intended to correct for any difference between the model and full-scale values. Although the ITTC 1978 method includes an equation used to determine the correlation allowance, in practice it is thought to be different for different tanks (Manen & Oossanen, 1988, pg.61). When model test powering predictions are validated with full-scale trials, the difference between the model and full-scale values is corrected using the correlation allowance. A database of correlation allowances can then be built by a facility that corresponds to ship and propulsion system particulars. The correlation allowances specific to a testing facility are often examined and updated, based on experience.



Predicted Power Variation with variation of CA = 0.0004 +/- 0.0002

Figure 3-21 Comparison of predicted power variation when C_A was varied

At MARIN, Keller (1973, Manen & Oossanen, 1988, Resistance-Table 13) recommended values of correlation allowance to correspond to ship lengths; the range of these correlation allowances was from -0.00025 to +0.0004. Using the work of Keller and the correlation allowances published with some of the data included in the ITTC 2005 Ship Database (Bose *et al.*, 2005, Spencer *et al.*, 1990) the value for this analysis was assumed to be 0.0004 and C_A was assigned a standard deviation of 0.0002. Some facilities have worked with correlation allowances of up to 0.0006 (Bose *et al.*, 2005) and higher (Spencer *et al.*, 1992).

Because of the range of the correlation allowances in use and the fact that the term is used as a final catchall term in the correction for scaling effects, a standard deviation of 50% was chosen to allow investigation of the effect of the potentially large unknowns in correlation allowance.

The magnitude of the correlation allowance was assumed as a constant value and then input directly to the program.

The predicted power standard deviation was relatively consistent across the subset, (Figure 3-21). The average standard deviation of the predicted power was 5.67%, which translated to a 95% confidence uncertainty of approximately $\pm 11.11\%$, again a high value.

Table 3-17 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in C_A

			Status pro	e se de la composition			
Ship #1	0.00%	0.91%	5.94%	1.35%	5.02%	0.00%	5.54%
Ship #9	0.00%	1.96%	8.00%	4.36%	6.06%	6.06%	6.87%
Ship #12	0.00%	1.44%	6.66%	3.50%	5.22%	5.22%	5.66%
Ship #16	0.00%	1.70%	7.17%	3.35%	5.49%	5.49%	6.22%
Ship #17	0.00%	0.83%	4.40%	4.10%	3.57%	0.00%	4.14%
Ship #21	0.00%	1.67%	4.65%	3.44%	2.98%	2.98%	2.78%
Average	0.00%	1.32%	5.67%	3.22%	4.36%	4.94%	4.81%

3.3.3 Variation of form factor

The form factor is used in the ITTC 1978 method of extrapolation of powering data, however in the study by Bose *et al.*, (2005) only one of the eight institutions surveyed used Prohaska's method of form factor determination. One institute used an unspecified empirical formula and the remaining institutes set the form factor to zero for powering prediction. Testing is difficult at low Froude numbers (Harvald, 1983) and the magnitude of the form factor is affected by the quality of the data at low Froude numbers. Also, the

form factor is subject to arbitrary variation during analysis, e.g. if a data point is observed to skew the analysis an analyst can choose to remove a point from the data set; different analysts can make different decisions.

The behaviour of the data can be misrepresented if the process is automated and for this reason the form factor was input as a set value to the program and then randomised. The intention here was to determine the potential effect of changing the estimated value of the form factor of a data set and not specifically to represent the best fit form factor for the ship model being tested.



Predicted Power Variation with variation of form factor, 10%

Figure 3-22 Comparison of predicted power variation when k was varied by 10%

Ship.							
Ship #1	0.00%	0.11%	0.54%	0.23%	0.43%	0.00%	0.46%
Ship #9	0.00%	0.12%	0.56%	0.31%	0.45%	0.45%	0.54%
Ship #12	0.00%	0.09%	0.51%	0.27%	0.42%	0.42%	0.46%
Ship #16	0.00%	0.10%	0.45%	0.20%	0.35%	0.35%	0.40%
Ship #17	0.00%	0.42%	1.50%	0.31%	1.08%	0.00%	1.15%
Ship #21	0.00%	0.24%	1.01%	0.44%	0.77%	0.77%	0.92%
Average	0.00%	0.18%	0.76%	0.29%	0.58%	0.49%	0.65%

Table 3-18 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in k by 10%

Two approaches were used in evaluating the effect of varying the form factor within the ITTC 1978 method. The first approach represented the potential uncertainty in the method of form factor determination and was assumed to be 10%.



Predicted Power Variation with variation of form factor by 100%

Figure 3-23 Comparison of predicted power variation when k was varied by 100%

The second approach represented the potential uncertainty in the choice of using a form factor versus not using a form factor; to show this a 100% standard deviation was used. The first standard deviation, (Figure 3-22), resulted in standard deviation of 0.76%, (Table 3-17), a low value that initially implies a minor affect on the results due to variation in form factor.

However, when the form factor was varied by 100%, Figure 3-23, the average standard deviation of the predicted power was 7.63%, much larger and in fact 10 times the size of the standard deviation that resulted when the form factor was varied at 10%. It is clear from these results that the choice to use or not use a form factor is significant and could potentially result in very different powering predictions for the same ship analysed at different facilities.

Table 3-19 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in k by 100%

Ship #1	0.00%	1.11%	5.30%	2.30%	4.19%	0.00%	4.51%
Ship #9	0.00%	1.15%	5.66%	3.09%	4.50%	4.50%	5.39%
Ship #12	0.00%	0.94%	5.12%	2.76%	4.18%	4.18%	4.64%
Ship #16	0.00%	1.07%	4.97%	2.39%	3.90%	3.90%	4.52%
Ship #17	0.00%	4.15%	14.76%	3.15%	10.69%	0.00%	11.36%
Ship #21	0.00%	2.41%	9.99%	4.39%	7.61%	7.61%	9.14%
Average	0.00%	1.81%	7.63%	3.01%	5.85%	5.05%	6.59%

The predicted power standard deviations for ships #17 and #21 are much larger than predicted power standard deviations of the other ships in the subset. It must be noted that the form factor for ship #17 was almost 3 times the value of the form factor applied to the other model data (k=0.1) and for ship #21 the form factor was 4 times the value of the

form factors applied to the other model data. This accounts for the higher standard deviations in predicted power and was demonstrated using ship #9; when a form factor of 0.2 was varied by a standard deviation of 100% the corresponding standard deviation of the predicted power was 11.75%.

3.3.4 Variation of wake fraction

The wake fraction is calculated for each speed tested and the speed that is extrapolated usually corresponds to the full-scale operating speed of the vessel

Ship #16	Wat	Sh L	ip #9	Shi K	n#1 ₩.
[m/s]		[m/s]		[m/s]	are an a solid to the solid
1.955	0.158	2.356	0.098	1.362	0.363
2.058	0.154	2.408	0.101	1.419	0.352
2.160	0.150	2.459	0.102	1.476	0.350
2.263	0.148	2.510	0.100	1.532	0.346
2.366	0.145	2.561	0.097	1.589	0.339
2.469	0.144	2.612	0.092	1.646	0.335
		2.664	0.093	1.703	0.332
				1.759	0.328
				1.816	0.325
				1.873	0.331
Max % Diff	9.77%		11.32%		11.17%
Standard Deviation	0.0052		0.0039		0.0121
% Deviation from mean	3.50%		4.03%		3.56%

Table 3-20 Wake Variation with Speed

The variation in the wake value can be large through the speed range and depending on how the analyst chooses to use the wake value the predicted power can be affected by this variation. Table 3-20 shows that in one test series the model wake can vary by at least 10% from the lowest to highest test speed.

In this study the model and ship scale wakes were varied separately by approximately 10%, (Table 3-13). The methods used to calculate the model and ship wakes in the ITTC 1978 method are outlined in Chapter 2. The model wake is a comparison of propeller open water and self-propulsion test advance ratios using the thrust identity method (Harvald, 1983) and the ship wake is calculated from the model wake, the thrust deduction fraction, the form factor and the frictional resistance coefficient. An additional value, 0.4, is included to accommodate the rudder effect (Manen and Oossanen, 1988); this is an empirical value based on tests completed prior to 1978 and as such may not be a relevant value for modern vessels. Also, the ITTC 1978 recommends that if the model wake is smaller than the ship wake then both values should be set equal to the model wake. Further work is needed on wake scaling.

The distribution of predicted power resulting from a 10% standard deviation in wake (model and ship) (Figure 3-24), had an uncertainty represented by an average standard deviation of 2.16% (Table 3-21).

There appear to be two ranges of data in Figure 3-24. Ships #1, #17 and #21 all have higher predicted power standard deviations than ships #9, #12 and #16 (Table 3-14). This is notable because the corresponding (respectively) model velocities are 1.82m/s, 1.44m/s and 1.99m/s for ships #1, #17 and #21, and 2.66m/s, 2.31m/s and 2.47 m/s for ships #9, #12 and #16, (Table 3-13). This implies that with slower model speeds the

potential uncertainty in the predicted power with respect to uncertainty in both model and ship wake may be increased.



Predicted Power Variation with variation of Wake (model & ship)

Figure 3-24 Comparison of predicted power variation when w_{TM} & w_{TS} were varied

Overall the magnitude of the uncertainty in the predicted power, 1 to 3% standard deviation, is not high and the method can be considered relatively stable with respect to uncertainty in the wake or wake scaling when studied alone. However in combination with other uncertainties from factors such as form factor and frictional coefficient the method shows less stability. This will be demonstrated in succeeding sections.

Ship #1	0.00%	2.00%	2.58%	4.01%	0.58%	0.00%	0.00%
Ship #9	0.00%	1.03%	1.62%	1.61%	0.59%	0.59%	0.00%
Ship #12	0.00%	1.03%	1.38%	1.47%	0.34%	0.34%	0.00%
Ship #16	0.00%	1.13%	1.71%	2.30%	0.58%	0.58%	0.00%
Ship #17	0.00%	1.85%	2.70%	10.53%	0.85%	0.00%	0.00%
Ship #21	0.00%	1.73%	2.96%	4.12%	1.23%	1.23%	0.00%
Average	0.00%	1.43%	2.16%	3.43%	0.70%	0.63%	0.00%

Table 3-21 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in $w_{TM} \& w_{TS}$

3.3.5 Variation of thrust deduction fraction

The thrust deduction fraction for each model speed was calculated using the method described in Chapter 2 and Manen and Oossanen (1988). In the ITTC 1978 powering prediction procedure the thrust deduction value that is calculated for the model speed that corresponds to the full-scale operating speed of the vessel is used in the extrapolation of that speed.

The thrust deduction fraction can vary over 10% from the first to last speed tested (Table 3-23). For the analysis, each data set was varied by approximately 10% of the value calculated within the method when there was no randomisation. The thrust deduction fraction variation for ship #9 in Table 3-22 is very small; this is attributed to testing over a small range of velocities resulting in a small range of tow force, resistance and propeller thrust.

Ship #	†16	Shi	p #9		Shi	p #1	Ship #1:		o #12
V _m	e e	V _m	É.		V _m	1		V _m	1
[m/s]		[m/s]			[m/s]			[m/s]	
1.955	0.189	2.356	0.188		1.362	0.169		1.955	0.189
2.058	0.185	2.408	0.187		1.419	0.194		2.058	0.185
2.160	0.178	2.459	0.187]	1.476	0.210		2.160	0.178
2.263	0.171	2.510	0.188		1.532	0.218		2.263	0.171
2.366	0.174	2.561	0.187		1.589	0.221		2.366	0.174
2.469	0.184	2.612	0.187]	1.646	0.216		2.469	0.184
		2.664	0.187		1.703	0.206			
]	1.759	0.199			
]	1.816	0.197			
					1.873	0.202			
Max Diff	10.43%		0.54%	1		13.93%			10.43%
Standard				1					
Deviation	0.0069		0.0004			0.0151			0.0069
% Deviation									
from mean	3.84%		0.22%			7.45%			3.84%

Table 3-22 Thrust deduction fraction variation with model test speed

Predicted Power Variation with variation of thrust deduction fraction



Figure 3-25 Comparison of predicted power variation when t was varied

The average standard deviation of the predicted power was 3.66% when the thrust deduction fraction was varied alone, (Table 3-23). There is a potential for a significant impact on the uncertainty of the predicted power due to standard deviation in the thrust deduction fraction. When a 95% confidence is applied, the uncertainty in predicted power ranges from 3.2% to 6.7%.

There is a skew in the predicted power distribution, because of the dependence of the thrust deduction fraction on the resistance. This skew is attributed to the resistance regression curves used in the extrapolation (see section 3.2.3).

Table 3-23 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in t

	1995) 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 19						
			1998년 1987년 1987년 1987년 1987년 1987			소문하였다	
Ship #1	0.00%	0.02%	2.11%	0.03%	2.12%	0.00%	0.00%
Ship #9	0.00%	0.08%	1.65%	0.42%	1.72%	1.72%	0.00%
Ship #12	0.00%	0.14%	1.76%	0.47%	1.90%	1.90%	0.00%
Ship #16	0.00%	0.04%	1.75%	0.15%	1.72%	1.72%	0.00%
Ship #17	0.00%	0.53%	2.79%	1.81%	2.26%	0.00%	0.00%
Ship #21	0.00%	0.37%	3.45%	0.32%	3.08%	3.08%	0.00%
Average	0.00%	0.20%	2.25%	0.53%	2.13%	1.40%	0.00%

3.3.6 Variation of the frictional coefficient and all the propulsion factors

together

The coefficient of friction and the propulsion factors were next varied together. The standard deviations of all the factors are those used in the individual analysis.

- $C_{F1957} 0.0001 \text{ model } \& 0.00005 \text{ ship}$
- $C_A 0.0004 \pm 0.0002$
- *k*−10% & 100%

- $w_{TM} \& w_{TS} 10\%$
- t 10%



Predicted Power Variation with variation of all scaling factors, k 10%

Figure 3-26 Comparison of predicted power variation when all the propulsion factors and the coefficient of friction (10%) were varied together

The average standard deviation of the predicted power when all the propulsion factors and the coefficient of friction are varied together is 10.84% (Table 3-24). The form factor in this case is varied by 10%.

If a form factor standard deviation of 100% is used then the average predicted power standard deviation is over 3% higher, 13.72%, Table 3-25. This clearly shows that the choice of whether or not to use a form factor has a highly significant impact on the uncertainty in the predicted power.

Table 3-24 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in all the propulsion factors and coefficient of friction together, form factor 10%

						September 1	
		an gwleit				station of the second sec	
Ship #1	0.00%	2.53%	10.61%	5.16%	8.87%	0.00%	6.86%
Ship #9	0.00%	3.12%	12.69%	6.87%	10.05%	10.05%	8.21%
Ship #12	0.00%	2.66%	10.84%	5.85%	8.93%	8.93%	6.91%
Ship #16	0.00%	2.97%	11.91%	5.95%	9.32%	9.32%	7.52%
Ship #17	0.00%	2.63%	10.52%	9.10%	8.04%	0.00%	5.69%
Ship #21	0.00%	2.71%	8.49%	5.56%	6.09%	6.09%	3.91%
Average	0.00%	2.77%	10.84%	6.42%	8.55%	5.73%	6.52%

Predicted Power Variation with variation of all Inputs plus all propulsion





When the uncertainties of the measured test values were included with the variation of all the propulsion factors and the coefficient of friction by the previously discussed standard deviation values (the form factor standard deviation was 10%), there was little change in the average predicted power standard deviation.

Table 3-25 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in all the propulsion factors and the coefficient of friction together, form factor 100%

Ship #1	0.00%	2.72%	11.50%	5.51%	9.54%	0.00%	7.89%
Ship #9	0.00%	3.33%	13.83%	7.50%	10.96%	10.96%	9.66%
Ship #12	0.00%	2.80%	11.74%	6.31%	9.65%	9.65%	8.01%
Ship #16	0.00%	3.11%	12.53%	6.25%	9.81%	9.81%	8.48%
Ship #17	0.00%	4.47%	16.74%	9.42%	12.57%	0.00%	11.87%
Ship #21	0.00%	4.56%	16.01%	8.50%	10.13%	10.13%	9.56%
Average	0.00%	3.50%	13.72%	7.25%	10.44%	6.76%	9.24%

The measured test values (e.g. thrust and torque of the propeller) were used to calculate the frictional resistance coefficient, the wake fractions and the thrust deduction fraction. Each of these values was applied a standard deviation directly and so the added effect of standard deviation in the measured test values on the predicted power was absorbed into the applied standard deviations. I.e. the value of the factor was calculated using the randomised measured value but then the factor was varied directly, essentially randomising a randomised number.

Ship #1	1.00%	2.80%	10.85%	5.70%	9.06%	0.00%	8.33%
Ship #9	1.00%	3.31%	13.00%	7.05%	10.30%	10.30%	9.87%
Ship #12	1.00%	2.95%	11.23%	6.09%	9.19%	9.19%	8.78%
Ship #16	1.00%	3.20%	12.16%	6.32%	9.49%	9.49%	9.61%
Ship #17	1.01%	2.75%	10.79%	11.34%	8.29%	0.00%	7.15%
Ship #21	1.01%	2.88%	8.69%	5.87%	6.20%	6.20%	6.46%
Average	1.00%	2.98%	11.12%	7.06%	8.75%	8.79%	8.37%

Table 3-26 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation in all the propulsion factors and the coefficient of friction and measured test values together, form factor 10%

A form factor standard deviation of 100% included in the standard deviation of propulsion factors, the coefficient of friction and the measured test values increased the average standard deviation of the predicted power to 13.76%.

To have 95% confidence in the predicted power when uncertainties of the levels used in this analysis (form factor standard deviation of 10%) (Table 3-26), are applied, the uncertainty of the results would be \pm 21.25%, an unacceptable value in the analysis of ship data.

3.3.7 Variation of all propulsion factors and the coefficient of friction together including η_R

The previous sections evaluated the effect of test values, propulsion factors and the coefficient of friction on the predicted power when using the ITTC 1978 method. The relative rotative efficiency, η_R was set to 1 in the analysis to reduce the number of terms influencing the predicted power.

In order to show that overall the relative rotative efficiency has minimal impact on the standard deviation in predicted power, the analysis of section 3.3.6 was repeated with the relative rotative efficiency calculated automatically in the method.

The standard deviation in predicted power was on average 11.41%, (Table 3-27), versus 11.12% in section 3.3.6 (Table 3-26). The relative rotative efficiency has minimal impact on the uncertainty in the predicted power.



Predicted Power Variation with variation of all scaling factors, incl η_{R}

Figure 3-28 Comparison of predicted power variation when all the propulsion factors, the coefficient of friction (10%) and measured test values were varied together and the η_R was included

Table 3-27 Comparison of standard deviations of full-scale values due to variation
in all the propulsion factors, the coefficient of friction and measured test values
together, form factor 10% and including η_R

611			ent A Secto			$Q_{1} = 0$	
Person we do al serve	Second Par			dar (* 115-er)			
Ship #1	1.00%	2.77%	10.72%	5.66%	8.95%	0.00%	8.41%
Ship #9	1.02%	3.33%	13.01%	7.10%	10.33%	10.33%	9.93%
Ship #12	1.00%	2.94%	11.00%	6.04%	9.09%	9.09%	8.58%
Ship #16	0.99%	3.20%	12.08%	6.31%	9.45%	9.45%	9.58%
Ship #17	1.01%	3.14%	12.96%	11.92%	9.95%	0.00%	7.13%
Ship #21	0.99%	2.88%	8.68%	5.79%	6.25%	6.25%	6.32%
Average	1.00%	3.04%	11.41%	7.14%	9.01%	5.86%	8.33%

3.4 Overall Comparison of Standard Deviations

The summary table, Table 3-28, shows that the factors that cause the highest standard deviations in predicted power are the frictional resistance coefficient, the correlation allowance and the form factor when varied by 100%.

	<i>C_{F 1957}</i> Varied 3.4% (model) and 3% (ship)	Form Factor, <i>k</i> , Varied 10%	Form Factor, <i>k</i> , Varied 100%	Corr Allo Varie	elation wance ed 50%	Wake, model & ship, Varied 10%	
Ship #1	6.77%	0.54%	5.30%	5.9	94%	4% 2.58%	
Ship #9	8.00%	0.56%	5.66%	8.0	00%	1.62%	
Ship #12	6.81%	0.51%	5.12%	6.0	56%	1.38%	
Ship #16	7.87%	0.45%	4.97%	7.	l7%	1.71%	
Ship #17	6.37%	1.50%	14.76%	4.4	40%	2.70%	
Ship #21	3.65%	1.01%	9.99%	4.65%		2.96%	
Average	6.58%	0.76%	7.63% 6.14		4%	2.16%	
	Thrust deduction fraction varied 10%	C _{F 1957} , k10%, Correlation Allowance, Wake (m & s), Thrust Deduction Fraction Varied	All Inputs and C _{F 1957} , k10%, Correlation Allowance, Wake (m & s), Thrust Deduction Fraction Varied		All Inputs and C _{F 1957} , k100%, Correlation Allowance, Wake (m & s), Thrust Deduction Fraction Varied		
Ship #1	2.11%	10.61%	10.85%		11.85%		
Ship #9	1.65%	12.69%	13.00%		14.14%		
Ship #12	1.76%	10.84%	11.23%	11.23%		2.22%	
Ship #16	1.75%	11.91%	12.16%		12.82%		
Ship #17	2.79%	10.52%	10.79%		16.73%		
Ship #21	3.45%	8.49%	8.69%		14.78%		
Average	2.25%	10.84%	11.12%		13.76%		

Table 3-28 Overall Comparison of Standard Deviations

These values were varied by an amount considered to be representative of the maximum potential uncertainty in the frictional resistance coefficient, the correlation allowance and the form factor and they can be altered to more accurately represent the variations specific to a particular facility. The values that were chosen give a clear picture of the effect of the various components in the ITTC 1978 method on the powering predictions.

The combined standard deviations of the measured test values (all inputs in Table 3-28), the coefficient of friction and propulsion factors resulted in a high level of uncertainty in the predicted power. For 95% confidence the uncertainty was $\pm 11.12\%*1.96=\pm21.80\%$ when the standard deviation of the form factor was 10%. When the standard deviation of the form factors was 100% and combined with the uncertainty in the input values, the coefficient of friction and propulsion factors, then the uncertainty in the predicted power rose to $\pm 26.80\%$. These potential levels of uncertainty are unacceptable in the prediction of ship powering.

3.4.1 Summary

The prediction of ship powering using the ITTC 1978 method has been shown to be relatively sensitive due to uncertainty in the frictional coefficient, the correlation allowance and the form factor. When the frictional resistance coefficient is varied by a standard deviation 3.4% (model) and 3% (ship), there is a corresponding standard deviation in predicted power of over 6.5% and therefore within a 95% confidence limit the predicted powering result has an uncertainty of $\pm 12.9\%$. A 50% standard deviation in correlation allowance may initially appear high, however this represents the choice

between for example, a correlation allowance of 0, 0.0002 and 0.0004. With this uncertainty in correlation allowance the corresponding standard deviation in power is 6.14%, $\pm 12\%$ if a 95% confidence is applied. The choice of using versus not using a form factor results in the potential for the power to be $\pm 15\%$ of the predicted value when a 95% uncertainty is applied. When the uncertainty in these three factors is combined with representative uncertainties in the remaining factors and in the test results the average final power uncertainty with 95% confidence is over 21%. The standard deviations that were chosen for these factors may be considered high, however even half of the potential predicted uncertainty in power, ± 11 -14% is of concern.

All the propulsion factors, the coefficient of friction and the measured values are used together to determine the ship propeller operating point of the method (see Chapter 2 and Manen and Oossanen 1988) and this has been determined to be a primary source of the instability in the ITTC 1978 method.

The interpolation equation, $\frac{K_{TS}}{J_o^2} = \frac{S_s C_{TS}}{2D_s^2 (1-t)(1-w_{TS})^2}$, is used in combination with the ship propeller open water data to determine the ship propeller operating point and in turn the full scale operating parameters (shaft speed, delivered power, etc.). The ship scale resistance coefficient, $C_{TS} = (1+k)C_{FS} + C_{RS} + C_A + C_{AA}$, is directly dependent on the frictional resistance coefficient, the correlation allowance and the form factor. Also, the ship scale wake fraction, $w_{TS} = (t+0.04) + (w_{TM} - t - 0.04) \frac{C_{VS}}{C_{VM}}$, where $C_{VS} = (1+k)C_{FS} + C_A$ and $C_{VM} = (1+k)C_{FM}$, is dependent on the frictional resistance

coefficient, the correlation allowance and the form factor. The factors that have been

shown to produce the highest uncertainty in power when varied are all used directly in this equation.

Improvements to the method should be focused on modifying the way the frictional resistance coefficient, correlation allowance and form factor are used within the method and in particular in the interpolation of the ship propeller operating point.

Approaches that can be used to improve the ITTC 1978 powering prediction method are discussed in Chapter 6 and include the following:

- Use an alternate method of obtaining the ship propeller operating point.
- The reliability of the frictional resistance coefficient could be improved by choosing a turbulent flat plate friction line such as that by Katsui *et al.*, (2003) or Grigson, (2001) for example. These are modern friction lines that were obtained through numerical integration of local friction in the boundary layer and represent the frictional resistance of the model and ship. The ITTC 1957 correlation line, presented almost 50 years ago, was presented initially as an interim solution to the problem of scaling the frictional resistance and was not intended to represent the frictional resistance of a plane or curved surface (Manen and Oossanen, 1988, Grigson, 2000).
- Evaluate the importance of using three separate tests to determine the full-scale results. The additional uncertainty in synchronizing the data to one speed could be eliminated if one test was used instead.
- Assess the method used to determine the thrust deduction fraction. There is a potential for significant uncertainty in the ITTC 1978 method because to calculate the thrust deduction fraction only one resistance value is extrapolated and compared with one thrust

value. Using the results of a load varying self-propulsion test, the slopes of all of the tow force-thrust lines are used to determine the thrust deduction fraction (Chapter 2, Molloy 2001, Holtrop 2001) so the additional data points, as has been shown, will reduce the uncertainty of the thrust deduction fraction.

- Determine alternate approaches to wake scaling. For example, Holtrop (1982) has proposed an alternate wake formula based on a statistical analysis of model and ship trials data.
- Develop a new database of correlation allowances. Using regression the ITTC 2005 ship database (Bose *et al.*, 2005) could be used to develop a comprehensive set of correlation allowances that could be validated and customised for individual institutions.

Chapter 4

Variation in the E2001 Method

The E2001 extrapolation method described in Chapter 2 is a method that uses only selfpropulsion tests to predict full scale powering from model tests. These tests are performed as load-varying tests and the load is varied to include thrust values over a large range. The method is described in part by Holtrop (2001) and by Molloy (2001). The E2001 method differs from the ITTC 1978 method in the following ways:

- First the ITTC 1978 method uses three physical tests while the E2001 uses one.
- The E2001 method uses a value to represent the resistance of the model by forcing the thrust negative in load varying tests and assuming that the towing force at zero thrust, *F_{D@T=0}*, represents the resistance, (see section 2.1).
- The thrust deduction fraction is determined from the equation of the line created when the tow force is plotted linearly against the thrust; $F_D = T_M(t-1) + F_{D@T=0}$ where t is the thrust deduction fraction.
- The full-scale thrust is calculated from $T_s = \left\{\frac{F_{T=0} F_D}{1 t}\right\} \lambda^3 \frac{\rho_s}{\rho_M}$ where λ is the scale factor and ρ is the density (Iannone, 1997).
- This value of thrust is then used to calculate the remaining full-scale parameters through determination of the ship propeller operating point from the full-scale thrust and torque coefficients (Chapter 2 and Holtrop, 2001) and the interpolation equation $K_{TS} = J^2 \cdot \frac{T_S}{2\rho D_S^2 V_S^2}$ (Holtrop 2001, Molloy 2001).

The E2001 method uses the following coefficient of friction and propulsion factors in the extrapolation of power; the frictional resistance coefficient, C_F , the form factor, k, the correlation allowance, C_A , are used in the calculation of the tow force. The thrust deduction fraction, t, is used in the calculation of the full-scale thrust $(T_s = \left\{\frac{F_{T=0} - F_D}{1 - t}\right\}\lambda^3 \frac{\rho_s}{\rho_M})$. In lieu of a wake fraction, a wake scale effect (Holtrop,

2001), $w_{scale} = \frac{\binom{V_A}{V}_s}{\binom{V_A}{V}_M}$ (Holtrop 2001), is applied to the thrust and torque coefficients,

$$K_{TS} = a_1 (w_{scale}J)^2 + b_1 (w_{scale}J) + c_1 - \Delta K_T \quad \& \quad K_{QS} = a_2 (w_{scale}J)^2 + b_2 (w_{scale}J) + c_2 - \Delta K_Q$$

(Chapter 2 and Holtrop 2001), to correct for the comparatively higher thrust loading at model scale without using propeller open water tests. The thrust and torque coefficients are expressed as polynomials, determined from the model data using a least squares method, in order to straightforwardly apply the wake scaling directly to the propeller advance coefficient. The value used for the wake scale effect can be determined from a database of correlated model and ship trial data or from a semi-empirical formula such as that presented by Holtrop and Mennen (1982). Not unlike the correlation allowance used in practice at most institutions, the reliability of the wake scaling is dependent on the size and diversity of available data.

The E2001 method has been shown to predict power that is close in value to that predicted using the ITTC 1978 method and to the corresponding full-scale trials data (Molloy, 2001). Using the model test data and corresponding full-scale trials data of an RClass icebreaking vessel (a vessel that was studied in a research project that analysed model and full-scale performance and used the load varying test method for the model self-propulsion tests (Spencer *et al.*, 1992)) the E2001 prediction method results were compared to the ITTC 1978 powering prediction method results and the corrected full scale results. Aspects of the method were considered in detail, e.g. the wake scaling and thrust deduction fraction values calculated within each method were compared. The predicted results were also compared for different frictional resistance coefficient and different correlation allowances and all results were compared with full-scale values (Molloy, 2001).

The variation of the values input to the E2001 method was completed using the same Monte Carlo Simulation with 10,000 iterations and order of variations as the procedure used to analyse the ITTC 1978.

4.1 Variation of measured test inputs

The test inputs that were varied using the E2001 method were those obtained from a selfpropulsion test only (Table 4-1). There are no resistance or open water test results required to extrapolate the power in the E2001 method. As in the ITTC 1978 analysis, each test value was varied by 1% of the maximum value. The E2001 method requires load-varying test data.

Table 4-1 Measured Value Inputs

Tests	Parameters varied	% Standard Deviation
Self-propulsion test	V_{M} , n_{M} , T_{M} , Q_{M} , F_{D}	1%

Load varying tests are tow tests where the load on the propeller is varied around the expected value of the self-propulsion point, a series of runs in the tow tank are completed and the shaft speed, $n_{\rm M}$, is changed for each run producing a new tow force, thrust and torque loading each time. The self-propulsion point is interpolated using the ship self-propulsion point equation $F_D = \frac{1}{2} \rho_M V_M^2 S_M [(1+k)(C_{FM} - C_{FS}) - C_A]$ used in the ITTC 1978 method (Manen & Oossanen, 1988). The purpose of this load-varying method is to reduce the uncertainty in obtaining the self-propulsion point; it has been shown that more reliable power predictions result from an interpolation of the self-propulsion point from a series of tests performed at values around the self-propulsion point, than tests run with parameters set at the self-propulsion point (Kracht, 1991).

In Chapter 3 the data sets used in the analysis all had non-load varying or Continental method self-propulsion test results. When studied, a standard deviation of 1% of the value of each of the self-propulsion point parameters (V_{M} , n_{M} , T_{M} , Q_{M} , F_{D}) was applied and so the self-propulsion point of each data set was varied by a standard deviation of 1%. When load-varied data was randomised, each of the self-propulsion point parameters was varied by a standard deviation of 1% of the maximum value in the test set for each run, which resulted in a slightly larger standard deviation of the self-propulsion point than 1% (see self-propulsion point description in Chapter 2). For example, in one test series with 7 test runs in the self-propulsion test, the values of total thrust ranged from 68N to 138N and each of the 7 values of the test series was varied by a standard deviation of 1.38N. The 1% of maximum value approach was maintained for consistency and although it may appear that there was a higher uncertainty in the overall powering results when load varied self-propulsion tests were used, this is because each model test maximum value (and therefore each 1% standard deviation) was larger in the load varied self-propulsion test input file than in the Continental method self-propulsion test input files. Additionally, Kracht (1991) found that the load varied self-propulsion test has less uncertainty in estimating the self-propulsion point than the non-load varied selfpropulsion test.

There was only one set of load-varied tests in the database, the ship #21 data. In order to compare like with like, when the ITTC 1978 method analysis was completed (Chapter 3) the self-propulsion point of the load varied data was calculated and then input to the

program as though it were non-load varied data. However the full set of load-varied data was used when analysing the data using the E2001 method.

All measured values varied together

First the measured values were varied together using the Monte Carlo simulation (10,000 iterations) and the results predicted using the E2001 method were compared to the predicted results for the subset of 6 ships that were analysed using the ITTC 1978 method, Figure 4-1.



Predicted Power Variation with variation of All Test Inputs

Figure 4-1 Comparison of predicted power variation when all measured test values are varied using ITTC 1978 and E2001

The predicted standard deviations of the full-scale powers, velocities, shaft speeds, thrusts and torques are compared in Table 4-2. The predicted standard deviation for each

of the full-scale operating parameters was smaller when the E2001 method was used than when the ITTC 1978 method was used. The standard deviation of the predicted power using the E2001 method was 1.21% compared to an average of 2.22% for the 6-ship subset analysed with the ITTC 1978 method. Again, as with the previous plots of predicted power distributions, the varying height of the curves is due to the automatic binning process that was used for expediency, but graphical representation of the standard deviation was unaffected.

			출신 다 영웅.	곗옷공기가			
Ship #1	1.01%	<u>1.42%</u>	2.28%	3.04%	1.77%	0.00%	5.11%
Ship #9	0.99%	1.53%	2.60%	2.22%	1.71%	1.71%	5.54%
Ship #12	0.99%	1.66%	2.76%	2.23%	2.16%	2.16%	5.60%
Ship #16	1.00%	1.57%	2.35%	2.81%	1.49%	1.49%	6.16%
Ship #17	1.00%	0.67%	1.63%	7.56%	1.52%	0.00%	4.14%
Ship #21	0.99%	1.01%	1.72%	2.26%	0.91%	0.91%	4.91%
Average of 6 ship							
subset using ITTC	1.00%	1.31%	2.22%	3.35%	1.59%	1.05%	5.24%
1978 method							
E2001 - Ship #21	1.00%	0.71%	1.21%	0.64%	0.98%	0.94%	2.61%

 Table 4-2 Comparison of predicted standard deviations when measured input values varied

The standard deviations of the other full-scale parameters, ship velocity, V_S , ship shaft speed, n_S , ship thrust, T_S , ship torque, Q_S , effective power of the ship, P_{ES} , when predicted using a standard deviation of 1% on all measured values input to the E2001 method are smaller than the average standard deviation of the predicted values of the subset evaluated with a standard deviation of 1% in the measured values in using the ITTC 1978 method. The largest differences are between the predicted standard deviations of the thrust and the effective power, a difference of close to 3% for each. This is of note because the treatment of the data within the program causes the variation of the actual self-propulsion point when using load varied test data to be slightly more than 1%.



Figure 4-2 Comparison of predicted power distributions resulting when selfpropulsion test values are varied

The effect of the uncertainty in the self-propulsion test data on the predicted full-scale values using the ITTC 1978 method was evaluated in Chapter 3.2.4. The predicted full-scale standard deviation results when all measured test values were varied by a standard deviation of 1% determined using the ITTC 1978 method were compared to the same results using the E2001 method. Only the results from variation in the self-propulsion test data were compared because only the data from the self-propulsion test were used in the extrapolation of power using the E2001 method. There was no comparison to open

water or resistance data. The results in Table 4-3, *SP* column, show that using the E2001 method resulted in lower standard deviations in the predicted power than the ITTC 1978 method when the measured test values from the self-propulsion test alone were varied.

	SP	V	п	FD	T	Q	
	All values together	alone	alone	alone	alone	alone	
Ship #1	1.37%	0.93%	0.69%	0.33%	0.66%	1.00%	
Ship #9	1.35%	0.92%	0.86%	0.36%	0.36%	0.36%	
Ship #12	1.36%	1.12%	0.70%	0.35%	0.44%	1.00%	
Ship #16	1.28%	0.88%	0.83%	0.41%	0.20%	0.99%	
Ship #17	1.32%	0.49%	0.64%	0.66%	0.81%	1.00%	
Ship #21	1.46%	1.02%	0.17%	0.17%	0.44%	1.00%	
Average	1.36%	0.89%	0.65%	0.38%	0.49%	0.89%	
E2001 – Ship #21	1.21%	0.46%	0.51%	0.25%	0.82%	0.48%	

 Table 4-3 Standard deviations of predicted power when inputs from self-propulsion

 test are varied individually

Each of the standard deviations of the power predicted using the E2001 method when each individual measured parameter from the self-propulsion test was varied alone (Figure 4-2 to Figure 4-7) was lower than the average power standard deviation obtained when the ITTC 1978 method was used with the exception of thrust; when thrust was varied alone the standard deviation of the predicted power using the E2001 method was approximately double the ITTC 1978 value (Table 4-3). This is because the model thrust was treated differently in the prediction of full-scale thrust and power in the E2001 method than in the ITTC 1978 method (see Chapter 2).

The standard deviation of the power predicted using the E2001 method when there was 1% standard deviation in self-propulsion test velocity was 0.46% versus a predicted

power standard deviation of 0.76% when the power was predicted using the ITTC 1978 method (see Table 4-3). The value of standard deviation obtained using each of the methods was small; the standard deviation in power was less than the standard deviation in the input velocity indicating that with respect to the uncertainty in the velocity each method is stable.



Figure 4-3 Comparison of predicted power distributions resulting when selfpropulsion test velocity was varied

The standard deviation of the power when predicted with E2001 with a standard deviation of the shaft speed was also insignificant, and again the value obtained using the E2001 method, 0.51% was lower than the average value obtained when the power was predicted using the ITTC 1978 method, 0.65% (see Table 4-3).

The thrust resulted in a larger standard deviation in the predicted power than the other test values and than the value predicted using the ITTC 1978 method because the thrust

from the self-propulsion test is used repeatedly through the E2001 prediction method, e.g. the tow force at zero thrust is calculated using the model thrust and tow force linear relationship, $F_D = T_M(t-1) + F_{D@T=0}$ and then the full-scale thrust is scaled directly,

 $T_{S} = \left\{\frac{F_{T=0} - F_{D}}{1 - t}\right\} \lambda^{3} \frac{\rho_{S}}{\rho_{M}}, \text{ the shaft speed is determined using the full scale thrust and the}$

thrust coefficient of the ship, $n_s = \sqrt{\left[\frac{T_s}{K_{TS} D_s^4 \rho_s}\right]}$.



Figure 4-4 Comparison of predicted power distributions resulting when shaft speed was varied

In the ITTC 1978 method the thrust of the self-propulsion test is used first to determine the model propeller characteristics and then to determine the thrust deduction fraction, the propeller open water test results are used to interpolate the full-scale parameters (see Chapter 2 and Figure 4-5 and Table 4-3). This demonstrates that while the resulting uncertainty in power was not large, accurate thrust measurements in the self-propulsion test are an important consideration when extrapolating model data using the E2001 method.



Predicted Power Variation with variation of Self Propulsion Test Thrust Comparison of ITTC 1978 and E2001 Results

Figure 4-5 Comparison of predicted power distributions resulting when thrust was varied

When the power was predicted using the ITTC 1978 method and only the self-propulsion test torque was varied by a standard deviation of 1%, the standard deviation in predicted power was a direct result of the relative rotative efficiency η_R because the torque from the self-propulsion test is only used in determining the relative rotative efficiency and is otherwise not used in the ITTC 1978 method (see Chapter 2 and Manen & Oossanen, 1988). In the E2001 method the torque from the self-propulsion test is used throughout the method to predict the power and because open water test data is not used, there is no relative rotative efficiency used in the E2001 method. The standard deviation in predicted power was higher when the ITTC 1978 method was used and the torque was varied by a standard deviation of 1%, the average standard deviation was 0.89% and when the E2001 method was used (Figure 4-6) the standard deviation of the predicted power was 0.46%.



Figure 4-6 Comparison of predicted power distributions resulting when torque was varied

The effect of standard deviation in the tow force on the uncertainty in predicted power was relatively insignificant (< 0.4% standard deviation in power) when either method was used to predict the power (Table 4-3 and Figure 4-7).



Figure 4-7 Comparison of predicted power distributions resulting when tow force was varied

4.2Variation in coefficient of friction and propulsion factors

The coefficient of friction and propulsion factors used in both the ITTC 1978 and E2001 methods were examined next. The factors were the frictional resistance coefficient, the correlation allowance, the form factor, the wake scale factor and the thrust deduction fraction. The standard deviations of the predicted results using the ITTC 1978 method detailed in Chapter 3 were compared with the standard deviations of the predicted results using the E2001 method.



Figure 4-8 Comparison of ITTC 1978 and E2001 predicted power distributions when $C_{F 1957}$ was varied

The frictional resistance coefficient was studied first. The standard deviation in predicted power due to a standard deviation of approximately 3% applied to the frictional resistance coefficient, $C_{F 1957}$, was substantially higher when the ITTC 1978 method was used to extrapolate the power, 6.58%, than when the E2001 method was used, 2.51%, (Table 4-7). This is because in the E2001 method the frictional resistance coefficient is used in the determination of the tow force at the self-propulsion point only and not additionally in the interpolation of the ship propeller operating point as in the ITTC 1978 method, (see Chapter 2, Manen and Oossanen, 1988, Holtrop, 2001 and Molloy 2001).



Predicted Power Variation with variation of form factor by 10% Comparison of ITTC 1978 and E2001 Results

Figure 4-9 Comparison of ITTC 1978 and E2001 predicted power distributions when k was varied by 10%

The form factor was varied first by 10% then by 100%. Again the first percentage was chosen to represent the variation that can occur when using Prohaska's method to estimate the form factor (Manen & Oossanen, 1988). The 100% standard deviation represents the effect of choosing to use versus not use a form factor (Bose *et al.*, 2005), the nature of this variation means that in some cases a negative form factor was used in the extrapolation of power. The ships #17 and #21 had higher form factors than the remaining ships in the subset, ships #1, #9, #12 & #16 were assigned form factors of 0.1 because there were no recommended form factors in the data files and as previously discussed the Prohaska method was not automated in this program. Additionally not all the data sets in the ITTC 2005 database (Bose *et al.*, 2005) had sufficient data to calculate

the form factor using Prohaska's method, as all facilities do not use the form factor and the model testing was not always presented with the required data.

	Form Factor, k, Varied 10%	Form Factor, k, Varied 100%
Ship #1	0.54%	5.30%
Ship #9	0.56%	5.66%
Ship #12	0.51%	5.12%
Ship #16	0.45%	4.97%
Ship #17	1.50%	14.76%
Ship #21	1.01%	9.99%
Average	0.76%	7.63%
E2001 Ship# 21	0.92%	9.25%

 Table 4-4 Comparison of predicted power when form factor was varied

The standard deviation in predicted power was higher when the E2001 method was used than when the ITTC 1978 method was used when the average standard deviation of the predicted power of the subset was compared, (Table 4-4). There was a similar impact on the uncertainty of the predicted power using both the ITTC 1978 and E2001 methods. However, the average value of the subset of six ships was reduced because the form factor of four of the ships was significantly less than the form factors of ships #17 and #21 and ship #21 was used to evaluate the E2001 method.

The wake scale effect is a propulsion factor used in the E2001 method that is different to the wake fraction of the ITTC 1978 method. The wake scaling is the ratio of the ship wake to the model wake and can be based on a database of existing information; it is used to represent the scale effect on the advance velocity and is incorporated in the thrust and torque coefficients equations to obtain the representative ship curves e.g. $K_{TS} = a_1 (w_{scale}J)^2 + b_1 (w_{scale}J) + c_1 - \Delta K_T \text{ and } K_{QS} = a_1 (w_{scale}J)^2 + b_1 (w_{scale}J) + c_1 - \Delta K_Q.$



Figure 4-10 Comparison of ITTC 1978 and E2001 predicted power distributions k was varied by 100%

The data that are extrapolated in the E2001 method are in the behind ship condition; the self-propulsion test data, and the wake scaling is applied to correct the data to full-scale values. However, in the ITTC 1978 method the propeller open water data are used to predict the ship scale operating parameters and the data are included in an interpolation equation used to determine full-scale parameters along with the ship wake fraction (scaled using a regression equation, model wake and the thrust deduction fraction is (Chapter 2, Manen and Oossanen, 1988)) and thrust deduction fraction. The correction is

applied to the interpolation formula, $\frac{K_{TS}}{J^2} = \frac{S_s}{2D_s^2} \frac{C_{TS}}{(1-t)(1-w_{TS})^2}$ in the ITTC 1978

method rather than to the self-propulsion data curve as in the E2001 methods. The effect of the wake scaling and the wake fraction is considered to be approximately the same for both methods.



Figure 4-11 Comparison of ITTC 1978 and E2001 predicted power distributions when C_A was varied

The correlation allowance was assigned a value of 0.0004 and a standard deviation of 0.0002 for the ship data analysed using the E2001 method, the same as the values used for the data sets analysed using the ITTC 1978 method in Chapter 3. When the correlation allowance was varied alone the standard deviation of predicted power returned when using the E2001 method was less than half the average predicted power standard deviation using the ITTC 1978 method, 2.85% versus 6.14%.



Figure 4-12 Comparison of the standard deviation in predicted power when the wake and wake scaling are varied

The wake scale effect was varied by \pm 3% in the E2001 method and the standard deviation in the predicted power was compared to the standard deviation predicted using the ITTC 1978 method when the wake was varied by ~10%, Figure 4-12. The amount of \pm 3% standard deviation was chosen because it was the maximum value that could be used; larger values shifted the curves of the thrust and torque coefficients so far that the ship propeller operating point could not be properly estimated using interpolation.

The standard deviations of the predicted power are almost equal, a result that shows that the standard deviation in the two approaches to wake in the methods cause similar standard deviations in power.



Figure 4-13 Comparison of the standard deviation in predicted power when the thrust deduction fraction was varied

Figure 4-13 shows the distributions of the predicted power when the thrust deduction fraction was varied. The thrust deduction fraction is used directly in the determination of full-scale thrust in the E2001 method, $T_s = \left\{\frac{F_{T=0} - F_D}{1 - t}\right\} \lambda^3 \frac{\rho_s}{\rho_M}$ (Iannone, 1997 and

Molloy, 2001) and it was expected that this propulsion factor would have a large impact on the predicted power when varied. While the thrust deduction fraction is used for the same purpose in both methods, the equations where it is incorporated differ and the impact of variation in the thrust deduction fraction results in a higher uncertainty using the E2001 method than when using the ITTC 1978 method. The standard deviation of the predicted power using the E2001 method was 4.85% when the thrust deduction fraction was varied by 10% and the average standard deviation was 2.25% using the ITTC 1978 method. The value of 10% was chosen as representative of the potential standard deviation across a number of test speeds (section 3-3).



Thrust deduction fraction estimation - E2001 Method Example

Figure 4-14 Example of thrust deduction fraction estimation, E2001 method

Using the E2001 method to obtain the thrust deduction fraction (Figure 4-14), and the equation $F_D = T_M(t-1) + F_{D@T=0}$ (see Chapter 2, Molloy, 2001 and Jessup *et al.*, 2002), ranges of standard deviation similar to those in Table 3-21 are possible, (Molloy & Bose, 2001). In fact for ship #21, the sample data used in the example in Table 4-5, the range of thrust deduction was greater than the range in Table 3-21, however this can be attributed to the fact that the range of speeds was much wider than in the data sets used in Table 3-21.

Governing equation:	$F_D = T_M (t-1) + F_{D@T=0}$
Vm	Thrust deduction fraction, i
[m/s]	
0.682	0.2110
1.027	0.1625
1.495	0.1885
1.726	0.2113
1.957	0.2530
Max % Diff	44.09%
Standard Deviation	0.0334

Table 4-5 Thrust deduction fraction variation with speed

Table 4-6 Comparison of predicted power standard deviation when t was varied

Ship #1	2.11%
Ship #9	1.65%
Ship #12	1.76%
Ship #16	1.75%
Ship #17	2.79%
Ship #21	3.45%
Average	2.25%
E2001 - Ship #21	4.85%

The E2001 method resulted in a higher standard deviation than the ITTC 1978 method as expected due to the way the thrust deduction fraction is used in the prediction of full-scale power. This is an indirect comparison because the thrust deduction fraction is calculated and used in different ways in each method, however, in this analysis the comparison is valid because the overall methods are being compared and sections of the methods can be approached in different ways. It should be noted that over the subset, when power was predicted using the E2001 method, the standard deviation of ship #21

was close in value to the predicted power standard deviation for ships #17 & #21 using the ITTC 1978 method (Table 4-6).

When all the coefficient of friction and propulsion factors were varied together (k varied by a standard deviation of 10%) (Figure 4-16 (a)), the standard deviation of the predicted power using the E2001 method to extrapolate was 7.06% versus 10.84% when using the ITTC 1978 method (Table 4-7). When the measured inputs from the tests were added to the variation (Figure 4-16), the values from the self-propulsion test when extrapolating with E2001 and the values from all three tests when extrapolating with ITTC 1978, the standard deviations increased to 7.30% (E2001) and 11.12% (ITTC 1978). When the standard deviation of the form factor was 100% the predicted power standard deviation using the E2001 method was 9.80% and 13.76% using the ITTC 1978 method. When the predicted power standard deviations of ship#21 were compared directly, the ITTC 1978 method returned a predicted power standard deviation of 14.78%, almost 5% higher than the predicted power standard deviation obtained using the E2001 method for the same ship. While there was high uncertainty in the predicted power using both methods, there was almost a 50% higher uncertainty when the ITTC 1978 method was used indicating that efforts to improve the uncertainty of the E2001 method over the ITTC 1978 method would be a valid approach, in particular because the improvements to the uncertainty of E2001 method would also result in improvements to the ITTC 1978 method (see Chapter

6).



Predicted Power Variation with variation of all propulsion factors, k 10% comparison of ITTC 1978 and E2001 Results

Figure 4-15 Comparison of standard deviation of predicted power when all propulsion factors and the coefficient of friction are varied



Predicted Power Variation with variation of all Inputs plus all propulsion factors, comparison of ITTC 1978 and E2001 Results

Figure 4-16 Comparison of standard deviation of predicted power when all inputs, the coefficient of friction and propulsion factors are varied together

	<i>C_{F 1957}</i> Varied 3.4% (model) and 3% (ship)	Form Factor, <i>k</i> , Varied 10%	Form k, 1	n Factor, Varied 100%	Correlatio Allowanc Varied 50	on e %	Wake, model & ship, Varied 10%	
		a da karana a sa		为负责的法				
Ship #1	6.77%	0.54%	5	5.30%	5.94%		2.58%	
Ship #9	8.00%	0.56%	5	5.66%	8.00%		1.62%	
Ship #12	6.81%	0.51%	5	5.12%	6.66%		1.38%	
Ship #16	7.87%	0.45%	4	.97%	7.17%		1.71%	
Ship #17	6.37%	1.50%	14	4.76%	4.40%		2.70%	
Ship #21	3.65%	1.01%	9	.99%	4.65%		2.96%	
Average	6.58%	0.76%	7	.63%	6.14%		2.16%	
E2001 - Ship #21	2.51%	0.92%	9	.25%	2.85%		2.17%	
	Thrust deduction fraction varied 10%	<i>C_{F 1957}, k</i> 10 Correlatio Allowance, Wa & s), Thru Deduction Fra Varied	%, on ake (m ist action	%, All Inputs and C _{F 1957} , n k10%, Correlation ke (m Allowance, Wake (m st & s), Thrust Deduction Fraction Varied		Allo De	ll Inputs and <i>C_F</i> 1957, <i>k</i> 100%, Correlation owance, Wake (m & s), Thrust duction Fraction Varied	
					$\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} dia die die \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} die die die die die die die die die die$			
Ship #1	2.11%	10.61%		10.85%		11.85%		
Ship #9	1.65%	12.69%		13.00%		14.14%		
Ship #12	1.76%	10.84%		11.23%		12.22%		
Ship #16	1.75%	11.91%		12.16%			12.82%	
Ship #17	2.79%	10.52%		10.79%		16.73%		
Ship #21	3.45%	8.49%		8.69%		14.78%		
Average	2.25%	10.84%		11.	12%		13.76%	
E2001 - Ship #21	4.85%	7.06%		7.3	7.30%		9.80%	

Table 4-7 Comparison of standard deviations of predicted power when all factors and combinations are varied

The thrust deduction fraction has the most significant single factor effect on the standard deviation of the predicted power when the E2001 method was used to extrapolate the full-scale values. Figure 4-17 shows the overall standard deviation when the thrust

deduction fraction was removed from the analysis; t was not varied in either the extrapolation using the E2001 method or the extrapolation using the ITTC 1978 method while the remaining parameters (including the measured test values) were varied by the previously noted amounts.



Figure 4-17 Comparison of standard deviations in predicted power when all inputs the coefficient of friction and propulsion factors are varied except the thrust deduction fraction

The average standard deviation of the subset of ships extrapolated with the ITTC 1978 method dropped by 1.34% and the standard deviation of the predicted power extrapolated using the E2001 method dropped by 4.20%. This clearly indicates that when extrapolating power using the E2001 method the predicted value was highly influenced by the thrust deduction fraction, however the result was less affected by the remaining propulsion factors than the ITTC 1978 method. The E2001 method could be improved through repeat tests or an increase of points on the tow force-thrust curve (Figure 4-14)

that would decrease the uncertainty of the thrust deduction fraction and measured test

values and greatly improve the stability of the method.

	All Inputs and C _{F 1957} , k, Correlation Allowance, Wake (m & s), Thrust Deduction Fraction Varied	All Inputs and C _{F 1957} , k, Correlation Allowance, Wake (m & s)			
Average	11.12%	11.17%			
E2001	7.30%	5.57%			

 Table 4-8 Comparison of overall standard deviation with and without thrust deduction fraction

4.3 Summary

The E2001 method is an alternative procedure presented for predicting ship power from model test results. When compared to the ITTC 1978 method it has been shown to predict a full-scale power that on average was less sensitive to variation in the inputs and propulsion factors with the exception of the thrust deduction fraction and the form factor (Table 4-8). The data from ship #21 was used to predict the power using both the ITTC 1978 and E2001 methods, when the standard deviations in predicted power are compared with this ship alone the E2001 predicts a smaller standard deviation in power in all the cases studied (Table 4-8). The increased amount of standard deviation in the power predicted using the E2001 method over the average power predicted over the ship range when the ITTC 1978 method was used and when a standard deviation of 10% was applied to the thrust deduction fraction, is because the thrust deduction fraction in the

equation is used for the full-scale thrust estimation, $T_s = \left\{\frac{F_{T=0} - F_D}{1 - t}\right\} \lambda^3 \frac{\rho_s}{\rho_M}$ (Chapter 2).

The full-scale thrust is then incorporated in the equation $K_{TS} = J^2 \cdot \frac{T_S}{2\rho D_S^2 V_S^2}$, which is used to interpolate the ship power. The impact on the predicted power was also because the full-scale thrust is used directly in the calculation of the shaft speed,

$$n_s = \sqrt{\left[\frac{T_s}{K_{TS}D_s^4\rho_s}\right]}$$
 which is then used to determine the power $P_{DS} = 2\pi\rho_s n_s^3 D_s^5 2K_{QS}$.

The form factor is also used in the calculation of the full-scale thrust through the selfpropulsion point, $F_D = \frac{1}{2} \rho_M V_M^2 S_M [(1+k)(C_{FM} - C_{FS}) - C_A].$

If an alternative approach such as the E2001 is used to predict ship power, uncertainty in the coefficient of friction and the correlation allowance can be used in a way that has less impact on the corresponding uncertainty in power. This would allow testing facilities more flexibility in the choice of approach to obtaining the frictional coefficient (i.e. to use the ITTC 1957 approach or that proposed by Schlichting (1987) or Grigson (2001)) and in the choice of correlation allowance, of particular importance when predicting the full-scale power of newer propulsion systems because the full-scale trials that allow the validation of correlation allowances and of predicted results in general are not currently readily available, they are considered proprietary information by most ship owners.

Chapter 5

Improving the ITTC 1978 powering prediction method

The ITTC 1978 method of ship powering prediction has been shown to result in significant uncertainty in the predicted power when there is uncertainty in all the inputs and in particular, in the frictional resistance coefficient, the correlation allowance and the form factor (Table 3-27). When the frictional resistance coefficient was varied by a standard deviation of approximately 3.4% (model) and 3% (ship) the corresponding average standard deviation in predicted power is high, with a 95% confidence test, an average of $\pm 12.89\%$ when the coefficient is varied alone and $\pm 21.8\%$ (with 95% confidence) when varied with all the other factors studied. When the correlation allowance was varied alone by a standard deviation of 50% (to represent the choice between a C_A of 0.0002, 0.0004 and 0.0006) the average uncertainty in the power with 95% confidence is $\pm 12.03\%$. The form factor has been shown to produce an average

uncertainty of $\pm 14.96\%$ when the decision of whether or not to use a form factor is evaluated by applying a standard deviation of 100% to the form factor. When the form factor was varied by a standard deviation of 100% in combination with variations in the other inputs and propulsion factors studied here, the uncertainty in the predicted power with 95% confidence is $\pm 26.97\%$.

Of all the inputs and propulsion factors used in the E2001 method, the variation in the thrust deduction fraction produced the largest uncertainty in predicted power, 4.85% (Table 4-7). It has been shown in section 4.3 that the effect of the thrust deduction fraction on the uncertainty in the predicted power is due to the use of the thrust deduction fraction in the estimation of the full-scale thrust, which in turn is used to predict the full-scale power. There are fewer uses of propulsion factors to be considered when predicting power using the E2001 method than when using the ITTC 1978 method, yet both methods have been shown previously to yield predicted power values close to trials values (Molloy, 2001).

One approach to improving the ITTC 1978 method is to incorporate aspects of the E2001 method into the ITTC 1978 method to reduce the potential uncertainty in the predicted power. Alternatively, the E2001 method or one similar could replace the ITTC 1978 powering prediction method entirely.

Beginning with the uncertainty in input values; the E2001 method is based on loadvarying tests, which Kracht (1991) has shown improve the reliability of powering prediction. Self-propulsion load-varying tests can be used in the ITTC 1978 method without any significant changes in the prediction procedure, just the addition of a model self-propulsion point interpolation but with some increased test time and cost.

Next, the frictional resistance coefficient has been shown to be a highly significant source of uncertainty in the ITTC 1978 method (and in the E2001 method), see Table 3-27 and above. The coefficient is calculated in the ITTC 1978 method using the ITTC 1957 ship model correlation line (Manen and Oossanen, 1988 and Lindgren et al., 1978). The ITTC 1957 method was intended to be an interim solution that addressed the differences in prediction when using large versus small models (Manen and Oossanen, 1988). Other friction lines have been proposed for use in powering prediction instead of the ITTC 1957 correlation line, lines such as Schlichting/Prandtl line (Schlichting, 1987), the Schoenherr or ATTC line (Manen & Oossanen, 1988), the Grigson line (1999) and the line proposed by Katsui et al. (2003), these lines are turbulent friction lines and may more accurately represent the frictional resistance of the vessel. The frictional resistance coefficient was calculated using three methods and the values were shown in Table 3-14. This table shows that choosing one line over another can result in a difference of over 0.0001 in the frictional resistance coefficient. The potential uncertainty in predicted power if a line represents the frictional resistance poorly is high. Without full-scale ship resistance tests or flat plate tests at full-scale Reynolds numbers, these methods of determining the frictional resistance coefficient cannot be validated and at present there are limited fullscale resistance tests available. In order to improve the uncertainty in predicted power the choice of frictional resistance coefficient should be re-evaluated.

The correlation allowance is also a significant source of error and in practice is based on a database of validated model and full-scale trials data sets. Improvement of the reliability of the correlation allowance would greatly reduce the potential uncertainty in the predicted power when using the ITTC 1978 method. The database made available by the ITTC 2005 powering prediction committee, the ITTC 2005 ship database (Bose *et al.*, 2005) is a valuable source of such data sets. One way to improve the reliability of the correlation allowance is to perform a regression analysis of the data provided that includes validation of the extrapolated model data with full-scale trials to provide a valuable, cross-facility set of correlation allowances based on ship particulars. All the ships are propeller shaft propulsion systems so ideally a future database would address the choice of correlation allowances based on both ship particulars and type of propulsion system e.g. podded propulsors or Z-drives. Holtrop and Mennen (1982) have completed a statistical analysis of resistance and propulsion data that addresses this issue.

The resistance test and the value of resistance when calculated using the ITTC 1978 method has minimal impact on the uncertainty of the predicted power (section 3.2.3) and it would not be unreasonable to maintain use of the test result within the method to estimate the resistance of the model and ship. However it is equally reasonable to suggest using an alternative method of estimating the resistance even if there is a possibility that the alternative method could have a higher uncertainty than the resistance test. If self-propulsion load-varying tests are used, low thrust tests can be added to each run so that the resistance can be represented by the tow force value at zero propeller thrust. For validation, resistance from the resistance test can be compared to the estimate

from the low thrust test, usually a difference of 1-4% (Holtrop, 2001). However, in shaft propulsion systems the propeller operates in the boundary layer of the ship and the flow around the ship is influenced by the inflow to the propeller; it may in fact be more appropriate to use the low thrust estimate of resistance than the resistance obtained from tests where the appendages and propeller are removed. The resistance value is not necessary in the powering prediction methods using only load varying self-propulsion tests (Molloy, 2001, Holtrop, 2001).

The thrust deduction fraction is determined within the ITTC 1978 method using one value of resistance from the resistance test (corrected for temperature), the self-propulsion test thrust and self-propulsion test tow force, $t = \frac{T + F_D - R_C}{T}$. Using the load-varied self-propulsion test the thrust deduction fraction can be estimated from a series of test runs done at different speeds on the plot of tow force versus thrust if the relationships are linear (see Chapter 2 and section 4.2). Although the thrust deduction fraction is an important source of uncertainty in the predicted power using the E2001 method (section 4.3 and above), by using the load varying tests to calculate the thrust deduction fraction, extra speeds and repeat tests can be more affordably included to increase the reliability of the result rather than needing repeats of both self-propulsion and resistance, which would be more costly.

The frictional resistance coefficient and correlation allowance are used in both methods to determine the self-propulsion point of the ship, $F_D = \frac{1}{2} \rho_M V_M^2 S_M [(1+k)(C_{FM} - C_{FS}) - C_A].$ However, because the E2001 method does not use the frictional resistance coefficient and correlation allowance in the same way as the ITTC 1978 method in the ship propeller operating point interpolation equation, $(K_{TS} = J^2 \cdot \frac{T_S}{2\rho D_S^2 V_S^2}$ is used in E2001 (Iannone, 1997 and Molloy, 2001) and

 $\frac{K_{TS}}{J^2} = \frac{S_s C_{TS}}{2D_s^2 (1-t)(1-w_{TS})^2}$ is used in the ITTC 1978 method (see Chapter 2 and Manen

& Oossanen (1988)) the effect of the frictional resistance coefficient and the correlation allowance on the predicted power is much less in the E2001 method than in the ITTC 1978. The predicted power standard deviation was 2.51% versus 6.58% when the frictional resistance coefficient was varied in the previous analysis (section 4.2) and 2.85% versus 6.14% when the correlation allowance was varied. If the ITTC 1978 method ship propeller operating point interpolation equation, $\frac{K_{TS}}{J^2} = \frac{S_s}{2D_s^2} \frac{C_{TS}}{(1-t)(1-w_{TS})^2},$ is changed for the equation used in the E2001 method,

 $K_{TS} = J^2 \cdot \frac{T_S}{2\rho D_S^2 V_S^2}$, the frictional resistance coefficient, the correlation allowance and

the thrust deduction fraction will all have a smaller influence on the predicted power. In order to change the ITTC 1978 method to use the interpolation equation, $K_{TS} = J^2 \cdot \frac{T_S}{2\rho D_S^2 V_S^2}$, the method would require that the full scale thrust be predicted

using the results of a load-varied self-propulsion test and the following equation $T_{S} = \left\{\frac{F_{T=0} - F_{D}}{1 - t}\right\} \lambda^{3} \frac{\rho_{S}}{\rho_{M}}$ (Chapter 2, Iannone, 1997 and Molloy, 2001). The open water

test has been shown to have a small impact on the uncertainty of the predicted power in

section 3.2.2 and is not required in the load varying self-propulsion test only powering prediction method. However, the model torque value used to calculate full-scale torque and power could be taken from either the load-varied self-propulsion test or from the results of an open water propeller test using the thrust coefficient of the self-propulsion point of the load-varied self-propulsion test as is done in the ITTC 1978 method even though it would add steps to the process (Chapter 2 and Manen and Oossanen, 1988).

Overall, the ITTC 1978 method needs to be reviewed and updated. The method has been shown to be highly sensitive to variation in propulsion factors and the ship propeller operating point interpolation equation is a primary source of instability with in the method. Options are available and have been presented above; use a self-propulsion test only method such as the E2001 method (Molloy & Bose 2001, Holtrop 2001) or modify parts of the method through the use of alternative equations and interpolation methods that can be easily incorporated into the ITTC 1978 method.

Chapter 6

Conclusions

Extrapolation of model ship test data to full-scale values has presented many challenges since William Froude's experiments on the H.M.S. Greyhound in 1874. Geometrically similar models of full-scale designs are constructed and tested in towing tanks where the resistance of the model is measured along with the performance of the propeller. The difficulty in obtaining dynamic similarity between the model and full scale has necessitated the introduction of a frictional resistance coefficient, C_F , and a series of propulsion factors, which are based on empirical data.

Three types of tests have become standard: resistance tests, open water tests and selfpropulsion tests. A resistance test measures the drag on the model through the water at a selection of velocities. An open water test measures the thrust and torque of the propeller in uniform or open flow at a selection of advance ratios. A self-propulsion test is closest to modelling the full-scale conditions, a model of the vessel is tested with a model of the
propeller and the thrust, torque and shaft speed of the model are measured at a selection of velocities. When being tested, the boundary layer of the model is proportionally thicker than the boundary layer of the full-scale ship so a towing force is applied to the model in a self-propulsion test to overcome the additional resistance.

The propulsion factors (a term used here to generalize the different values used to accommodate scale effects) that are used in powering prediction include a form factor, k, a thrust deduction fraction, t, a wake fraction, w and a correlation allowance, C_A .

The International Towing Tank Conference has long been a forum where model-ship correlation has been discussed and examined. In 1978 at the 15th conference a method was presented that incorporated the commonly used techniques of the day and compared extrapolated model results to a database of ship trial data. The method that was proposed is the ITTC 1978 Performance Prediction Method for Single Screw Ships and it has been in regular use either in the original form or by way of aspects of the method incorporated into other prediction methods in many testing facilities around the world. The aspects of the method that have been incorporated at some facilities range from the types of tests used to the choice of friction line to determine the frictional resistance coefficient to the use of some or all propulsion factors.

While uncertainty calculations can be made for each of the values that are measured during testing and these uncertainties can be propagated through the powering prediction method in use, until this work, it had not been shown how sensitive the extrapolated predicted power is to uncertainty in these measured values and the various friction lines and propulsion factors used. The data reduction equations involved in the ITTC 1978 powering prediction method combined with the use of different tests made an uncertainty analysis using the propagation of uncertainty through the method highly complex. The approach used here was to treat the entire ITTC 1978 powering prediction method, in a computer program, as one large data reduction equation and analyse the overall uncertainty using the Monte Carlo simulation technique.

A Monte Carlo simulation was used to examine the effects of variation in measured test values, frictional resistance coefficient and propulsion factors on the prediction of ship scale power. By varying the different measured values from the tests together and then individually it was possible to determine which values caused the greatest and least variation in predicted power and with analysis of this information determine how these factors interact to produce this uncertainty. Using this method it was also possible to determine which of the propulsion factors most significantly impacted the predicted power and how variation in the frictional resistance coefficient affected the predicted power. By tracing how these values are propagated through the prediction method it was determine acceptable levels of uncertainty on the full scale power. Insel (Bose *et al.* 2005) determined that the cross-correlated bias errors have a small affect on the predicted results from resistance tests in Bose *et al.* (2005). From this work it was determined that

Two ship powering prediction methods were examined. The first was the ITTC 1978 method and the second, a method that uses only load varied self-propulsion test data in the power prediction process and is designated here as the E2001 method. It was

6.3

determined where the methods differed and why the ITTC 1978 method generally resulted in greater variation in predicted power than the E2001 when measured test values and propulsion factors were varied.

For the ships considered, there was an average of 2.1% standard deviation in predicted power when a 1% standard deviation was applied to the input values obtained from the three physical tests required by the ITTC 1978 method: resistance, open water and self-propulsion (Table 3-3).

	Self Propulsion Test				Propeller open Water Test		Resistance Test			
	V	n	FD	T	Q	<i>J</i>	KT	Ko	V_R	R_M
			n an tara tara tara tara tara tara tara							
Average of 6 ship subset using ITTC 1978 method	0.89%	0.65%	0.38%	0.49%	0.89%	0.21%	1.00%	0.66%	0.86%	0.32%

 Table 6-1 Average predicted power standard deviations, test inputs

The test results from the propeller open water test, the resistance test and the selfpropulsion test were varied individually by 1% and the average standard deviations in predicted power ranged from 0.21% to 1%, (Table 6-1), showing that there is no one source of uncertainty from the set of values that are measured during the required physical tests and that the prediction method can be considered stable with respect to these parameters. However, the 1% standard deviation of K_T from the open water test resulted in a predicted power standard deviation of 1%, showing that while the thrust coefficient does not have a large affect on predicted power it has a measurable affect. Also, this value influences the calculation of the wake fraction and the estimation of the model scale propeller characteristics (through the thrust identity); if this value were removed from the prediction method this would lower the overall uncertainty.

	C _{F 1957} Varied 3.4% (model) and 3% (ship)	Form Factor, <i>k</i> , Varied 10%	Form Vari	Factor, <i>k</i> , ed 100%	Correlatio Allowanc Varied 50	n e %	Wake*, model & ship, Varied 10% *Wake scaling – E2001
			國家政治				a ann an taon a Taon an taon an
Average of 6 ship subset using ITTC 1978 method	6.58%	0.76%		7.63%	6.14%	<u>i en part i</u>	2.16%
E2001 - Ship #21	2.51%	0.92%	9	0.25%	2.85%		2.17%
	Thrust deduction fraction varied 10%	$C_{F1957}, k10$ Correlatio Allowance, W (m & s), Thu Deduction Fra Varied	%, n Vake* rust action	All Inputs k10%, C Allowance s), Thrust Fractio	and C _{F 1957} , orrelation , Wake*m & Deduction n Varied	All k k10 Allo De	Inputs and C _{F 1957} , 00%, Correlation wance, Wake* (m & s), Thrust duction Fraction Varied
			가 있다. 영국에 관재하는 것이 같이 있다.				
Average of 6 ship subset using ITTC 1978 method	2.25%	10.84%	<u>행 관련 승</u> 당	11.	12%		13.76%
E2001 - Ship #21	4.85%	7.06%		7.3	30%		9.80%

Table 6-2 Average predicted power standard deviations

The standard deviation in predicted power when the coefficient of friction and propulsion factors were varied by standard deviations (see section 3.3) ranged from a low of 0.76% to a high of 7.63%, (Table 6-2). These predicted power standard deviations represent the effect of the coefficient of friction and propulsion factors on the predicted power in the ITTC 1978 method, the amount by which each parameter was varied was meant to reveal the importance of the parameter to the stability of the method rather than represent true

levels of uncertainty. For further study each of the magnitudes chosen can be modified and customised for a particular test facility.

When the test values were varied together with the frictional resistance coefficient and propulsion factors, the amount of uncertainty in the predicted power was $1.96 \times 11.12\%=\pm21.8\%$ with 95% confidence (Taylor, 1997) when the standard deviation of the form factor was 10% and $\pm 26.97\%$ when the form factor was 100% (Table 6-2). This amount of uncertainty is unacceptable in the prediction of ship powering. The frictional coefficient, correlation allowance and form factor have been shown to contribute most to the overall predicted power standard deviation (see chapter 3). In the ITTC 1978 method the source of the high uncertainty is attributed primarily to the interpolation equation used to determine the ship propeller operating point (see chapter 6). The relative rotative efficiency was set to 1 in the analysis of the ITTC 1978 method in order to reduce the number of factors that would be varied in the uncertainty analysis and when it was included it was found that it had minimal impact on the overall uncertainty in the method. A number of approaches to improve the stability of the ITTC 1978 powering prediction method have been presented here.

- The input data can be improved by adding data points to the test runs and by using the load varying approach in the self-propulsion test (Kracht, 1991).
- Uncertainty in the frictional resistance coefficient is a highly significant source of uncertainty in predicted power. An alternate friction line that more closely represents the flat plate friction values over a range of Reynolds numbers could be introduced. Examples of turbulent flat plate friction lines are: the Schlichting/Prandtl line

(Schlichting, 1987) the Schoenherr or ATTC line (Manen & Oossanen, 1988), the Grigson line (1999) and the line proposed by Katsui et al. (2003). The 1957 ITTC prediction methods committee intended for analysts to use larger correlation allowances to accommodate for the lower ship predictions that were expected from using the ITTC 1957 ship model correlation line as a temporary measure (Manen and Oossanen, 1988). It has been shown here that uncertainty in the choice of correlation allowance has a large impact on the overall uncertainty in predicted power. Using a more accurate turbulent flat plate friction line will result in the use of a smaller correlation allowance and which in turn have an additionally smaller impact on predicted power. It is not yet clear which line should be chosen, the Grigson line, the Katsui line or another. A regression analysis of the model and ship data of the ITTC 2005 ship database could be completed using each of the available lines. An uncertainty analysis of the data used to develop the friction lines would give an uncertainty range to the frictional resistance coefficient calculated and show whether 3% is a large or small uncertainty. Grigson (2000) has shown that when friction measurements of the drag on narrow pontoons were converted to drag coefficients and then compared to the Schoenherr line the average of the measured points lay approximately 3% above the line. At present, 3% uncertainty in the friction line is a valid assumption.

• Uncertainty in the correlation allowance can be addressed through the creation of a large cross-institutional database of recommended correlation allowances based on ship particulars (and possibly in the future based also on different propulsion systems such as pods) that is built through a regression analysis of correlated model data and full-scale

trials. Improvement of the reliability of the correlation allowance would greatly reduce the potential uncertainty in the predicted power when using the ITTC 1978 method. The database made available by the ITTC 2005 powering prediction committee, the ITTC 2005 ship database (Bose *et al.*, 2005) is a valuable source that provides such correlated data sets. Some testing facilities have developed correlation allowances that are used with their own prediction methods. However, as reported in *Marine Engineers Review* in 1996 (Anon.), powering predictions between testing facilities and shipyards can vary 36%-40% from the lowest to the highest predicted power when the same model is tested and results are reported for the same speed. Correlation allowances that are cross-facility and would reduce the differences between test basins would be valuable to the testing community.

• A primary source of sensitivity in the ITTC 1978 powering prediction method is attributed to the interpolation curve used to determine the ship propeller operating point

 $\frac{K_{TS}}{J^2} = \frac{S_s}{2D_s^2} \frac{C_{TS}}{(1-t)(1-w_{TS})^2}$ (see Chapter 2 and Manen and Oossanen, 1988). This

curve includes many terms that are subject to interpolation and interpretation by the analyst. This equation is used to interpolate the full-scale particulars and the overall uncertainty in this equation results in a large uncertainty in the predicted power. Using the uncertainty amounts presented here, the potential uncertainty in predicted power ranges from approximately $\pm 21\%$ to $\pm 27\%$ (Chapter 6 and Table 3-27). The curve is directly dependent on the measured test values from all tests, the frictional coefficient and the propulsion factors previously presented: the correlation allowance, the form factor,

the wake fraction and the thrust deduction fraction. The method should be modified to improve the uncertainty in these propulsion factors or this equation should be replaced in the method with an alternate interpolation method to remove the most significant source of uncertainty in the final powering prediction.

An interpolation equation that can be used to predict the full-scale parameters with the predicted ship scale thrust $(K_{TS} = J^2 \cdot \frac{T_S}{2\rho D_S^2 V_S^2}$, using the ship scale thrust coefficient scaled from the self-propulsion test data and not the open water test data) was proposed for use in the E2001 powering prediction method (Molloy, 2001 and Iannone, 1997). In order to substitute this equation into the ITTC 1978 method the self-propulsion test must be completed as a load-varying test so that the thrust can be extrapolated to full scale using a direct method, $T_S = \left\{\frac{F_{T=0} - F_D}{1-t}\right\}\lambda^3 \frac{\rho_S}{\rho_M}$. The ship shaft speed can then be

predicted from the full-scale thrust estimate, $n_s = \sqrt{\left[\frac{T_s}{K_{TS}D_s^4\rho_s}\right]}$ and the remaining fullscale parameters, torque, $Q_s = \rho_s n_s^2 D_s^5 K_{QS}$ and delivered Power, $P_{DS} = 2\pi\rho_s n_s^3 D_s^5 2K_{QS}$, can then be predicted using the self-propulsion test torque coefficient corrected to fullscale $K_{QS} = K_{QM} - \Delta K_Q$ using the methods described in Chapter 2 and Manen and Oossanen (1988).

Both the ITTC 1978 powering prediction procedure and the method based on load varying self-propulsion tests only are sensitive to variations in the measured test input values and in the direct variations of the coefficient of friction and the propulsion factors of the methods. The parameters that have maximum impact on this sensitivity are

different in the two methods but in both methods the ship propeller operating point interpolation equation of the 1978 method uses these parameters. Through comparison of the resulting variations in power, the method based on load varying self-propulsion tests only has been shown to be less sensitive overall than the ITTC 1978 method. The uncertainty in the power predicted using the method based on load varying self-propulsion tests only was $\pm 14.3\%$ within the 95% confidence limit (Taylor, 1997) and using the ITTC 1978 method the uncertainty was $\pm 21.8\%$ within the 95% confidence limit (Table 4-7).

The uncertainty in the method based on load varying self-propulsion tests only can be improved by the addition of test runs at different loadings (data points) of the self-propulsion test and by repeating test runs of the self-propulsion test. The ITTC 1978 method requires repetition of three sets of tests to gain the same improvement from using repeat runs to improve uncertainty. The uncertainty of the thrust deduction fraction can be determined from the tow-force versus propeller thrust plot when using the method based on load varying self-propulsion tests only and can be improved by adding test runs at different loadings. Both the resistance test and the self-propulsion tests require additional runs to improve the uncertainty in the thrust deduction fraction when using the ITTC 1978 method. Using only the load-varied self-propulsion tests provides an opportunity to more economically use repeat tests to improve uncertainty in the prediction of full-scale power.

In future work it would be valuable to perform a comparison of the method of uncertainty analysis presented here with the methods of uncertainty analysis presented by the ITTC 23rd Specialist committee (Day *et al.*, 2002)

In summary the ITTC 1978 method has been shown to be sensitive to variation in the coefficient of friction and the propulsion factors. The ship propeller operating point interpolation equation is a source of instability within the method. In order to minimize the potential uncertainty of the power predicted using the ITTC 1978 method, the methods of obtaining the frictional resistance coefficient, the form factor, the thrust deduction fraction and the correlation allowance must be improved through new methods, additional test runs, repeat testing or new information. The method based on load varying self-propulsion tests only is most sensitive to variation in the thrust deduction fraction; the remaining propulsion factors have significantly lower effects on the predicted power when varied than when using the ITTC 1978 method. If additional testing is used to improve the ITTC 1978 method then the uncertainty in other methods that use some of the same propulsion factors and the same frictional coefficient, such as the method that uses load varying self-propulsion tests only, will also be improved. Both the ITTC 1978 method and the method based on load varying self-propulsion tests only yield similar values of predicted power. The ITTC 1978 method needs to be reviewed and updated and is under consideration by the 25th ITTC. There are a number of options to improve the reliability in power prediction using the ITTC 1978 method; alternative methods of obtaining propulsion factors can be used, alternative equations can be used to interpolate values for extrapolation, an existing database that provides a valuable source

of test data that can be used to develop empirical scale effect correction factors and load varying tests can be utilised to reduce the amount and type of testing required.

These sources of uncertainty in the powering prediction method affect the choice of margins of error that must be applied to the final results in the ship design process to accommodate for example the impact of the weather, sea state, and variation in the loading on the performance of a vessel underway. The cumulative effect of this uncertainty on the predicted required power could reach unacceptable levels of uncertainty (for example: 36%-45% difference in power between proposals from facilities predicting power for the same vessel at the same operating speed, (anon., 1996)), although it is acknowledged that the analysis presented here represents the extreme values or "at worst" levels of potential uncertainty. Without reasonable levels of uncertainty in predicted power the first step in determining the power required for a vessel is highly compromised. Improvements in the methods used to predict power are necessary and feasible with existing alternative methods.

References & Bibliography

ABB Website, www.abb.com

Anderson, M.J., Whitcomb, P. (1996) "Optimize your process optimization efforts", Chemical Engineering Progress, American Institute of Chemical Engineers, New York & www.statease.com

Anon. *a*, (2001). Azipull – a new mechanical pod drive with potential, *Naval Architect*, Royal Institution of Naval Architects, London, January, pg. 47

Anon. *b*, (1998). Editorial Comment: Evolution in propulsion technology concepts, Royal Institution of Naval Architects, *Naval Architect*, London, July/August, pg. 3

Anon. b, (2001). New cruise liner podded concept from the French Navy?, Naval Architect, Royal Institution of Naval Architects, London, January, pg. 14

Anon. b, (2001). Podded Propulsion adopted by TT-line for new Nils Holgersson, Naval

Architect, Royal Institution of Naval Architects, London, September, pg. 56

Anon., (1996). Are vessels overpowered?, Marine Engineers Review, IMAREST, London, U.K., December

Anon., (1998). Mermaid: a new podded propulsor competitor, *Naval Architect*, Royal Institution of Naval Architects, London, July/August, pg. 10

Anon., (2000). Editorial Comment: Optimising pods for sustained market thrust, Royal Institution of Naval Architects, *Naval Architect*, London, November, pg. 3

Anon., (2001). Editorial Comment: Pressing ahead with pods, Royal Institution of Naval Architects, *Naval Architect*, London, September, pg. 3

Anon., (2002). www.cruiseindustrynews.com/articles/s2_Podded_Propulsion.html

Artjushkov, Leonid, S. (1999). Dependence of ship resistance on basic similarity criteria and direct scaling laws, *Oceanic Engineering International*, Vol. 3, (No. 2) pp.95-100

Atlar, Mehmet, Liu, Pengfei, Allema, Ir. Jaap, H., Ishikawa, Satoru, Kim, Se-Eun, Poustoshniy, Alexander V., Sanchez-Caja, Antonio, Sasaki, Noriyuki, Traverso, Antonio, (2005). The Specialist Committee on Azimuthing Podded Propulsion Final Report and Recommendations , 24th ITTC, Edinburgh, Scotland

Bose, N., Billet, M., Andersen, P., Atlar, M., Dugué, C., Ferrando, M., Qian, W., Shen, Y., (1999). Report of the Specialist Committee on Unconventional Propulsors, *Proceedings of the 22nd International Towing Tank Conference*, Seoul, Korea.

Bose, N., Molloy, S., (2001). Powering prediction for ships with compound propulsors, ICOE 2001, Madras, India, December

Bose, Neil, Insel, Mustafa, Anzböck, Richard, Hwangbo, Seung-Myun, Mewis, Friedrich, Steen, Sverre, Toki, Naoji, Zhu, De-Xiang, (2005). Report of the Specialist Committee on Powering Performance Prediction, *Proceedings of the 24th International Towing Tank Conference*, Edinburgh, Scotland

Carlton, J.S., (1994). <u>Marine Propellers and Propulsion</u>, Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford, UK

Carlton, J.S., (2002). Podded Propulsors: some design and service experience, The Motor Ship Marine Propulsion Conference, Copenhagen, Denmark, April 9&10.

Coleman, Hugh, Steele, W. Glenn, (1999). <u>Experimentation and Uncertainty Analysis for</u> Engineers, second edition, John Wiley and Sons, USA

Day, W., Molland, A., Anzbock, R., Gustafsson, L., Insel, M., He, M., Okamoto, Y., Steen, S., (2002). Report of the 23rd ITTC Specialist Committee on Procedures for Resistance, Propulsion and Propeller Open Water Tests, Venice, Italy, September Design Expert, Version 6, Stat Ease, www.statease.com

Facinelli, W., Muggeridge, D., (1998). Integrated system analysis and design of podded ship propulsors, *Marine Technology*, SNAME, Vol. 35, No. 3, July, pg. 151-174

FASTPOD Consortium, (2004). Fast Ship Applications for Pod Drives – FASTPOD Project, *T-Pod proceedings*, University of Newcastle, April 2004, pg 15-23

Georgetown University, Department of Psychology, Research methods and statistics resources, ANOVA, 2-way http://www.georgetown.edu/departments/psychology/ researchmethods/statistics/inferential/anova.htm

Grigson, C, (1993). An accurate smooth friction line for use in performance prediction, *Transactions of the Royal Institution of Naval Architects*, RINA, London, England

Grigson, C, (1999). A planar friction algorithm and its use in analysing hull resistance. Transactions of the Royal Institution of Naval Architects, RINA, London, England

Grigson, C., (2000). Accurate friction lines: an essential to understanding hull flow, *The Naval Architect*, RINA, London, England, February

Harvald, S.V.AA (1983). Resistance and propulsion of ships, United States, Wiley Interscience.

Holtrop, J., (2001). Extrapolation of Propulsion Tests for Ships with Appendages and Complex Propulsors", Marine Technology, SNAME, New Jersey, USA, Vol. 38, No. 3, July.

Holtrop, J., Hooijmans, P., (2002). "Quasi-steady model experiments on hybrid propulsion arrangements", Discussion to the 23rd ITTC, Venice.

Holtrop, J., Mennen, G.G.J., (1982). An approximate power prediction method, International Shipbuilding Progress, July

Holtrop J.,

Iannone, Luigi. (1997). Power performance analysis and full-scale predictions without towing tests, *Proceedings of the NAV&HSMV International Conference*, Sorrento International Towing Tank Conference Homepage http://ittc.sname.org/

Islam M. F., Taylor, R., Quinton J., Veitch, B., Bose, N., Colburne, B. and Liu, P. (2004) "Numerical investigation of propulsive characteristics of podded propeller." In Proc. of the 1st International Conference on Technological Advances in Podded Propulsion (2004), pp. 513-525

Insel, M., Gustafsson, L., Wiggins, A.D., (2005). Uncertainty in Form Factor Determination, submitted for review for publication

ITTC (2002). "Uncertainty Analysis, Example for Resistance Tests", 23rd ITTC, Venice, Quality Manual, Procedure 7.5-02-02-02 Rev 01 http://ittc.sname.org/documents.htm ITTC (2002a). "Uncertainty Analysis, Example for Propulsion Test", 23rd ITTC, Venice, Quality Manual, Procedure 7.5-02-03-01.2

ITTC (2002b). "Uncertainty Analysis, Example for Open Water Test", 23rd ITTC, Venice, Quality Manual, Procedure 7.5-02-03-02.2

Jessup, S., Bose, N., Dugué, C., Esposito, P.G., Holtrop, J., Lee, J.T., Mewis, F., Pustoshny, A., Salvatore, F., Shirose, Y., (2002). Podded propulsion tests and evaluation, Propulsion, ITTC Quality Manual 49-03 03, 23rd International Towing Tank Conference Jessup, S., Bose, N., Dugué, C., Esposito, P.G., Holtrop, J., Lee, J.T., Mewis, F., Pustoshny, A., Salvatore, F., Shirose, Y., (2002a). Report of the propulsion committee, 23rd International Towing Tank Conference

Karafiath, G., (2002). Personal Communication.

Karafiath, G., Lyons, D., (1998). Hydrodynamic performance with Pod Propulsion -U.S. Navy experience, American Towing Tank Conference, Iowa City

Karafiath, G., Lyons, D., (1999). Pod Propulsion Hydrodynamics - U.S. Navy experience, Fast Sea Transportation Conference, September, pg 119

Katsui, T., Himeno, Y., Tahara, Y., (2003). Verification of flat palate friction coefficient at ship scale Reynolds number, Proceedings of the International Symposium on Naval Architecture and Ocean Engineering, Shanghai, China

Keller, J. Auf'm (1973). Extended diagrams for determining resistance and required power for single screw ships, ISP, Vol.20

Kracht, Alfred, (1991). Load variation tests improve the reliability of ship power prediction based on model test results, Ship Technology Research Schiffstechnik, Schiffahrts-Verlag, HANSA, Hamburg, Germany, Vol. 38, No. 4, December, pg 181-191.

Kurimo, R., (1998). Sea trial experience of the first passenger cruiser with podded propulsors, *Practical design of ships and mobile units*, Elsevier Science B.V.

Laukia, K., (1993). Service proves electric propulsion design, *Motor Ship*, Vol. 74 (871), February, pg. 23-end

Lindgren, H., Aucher, M., Bowen, B.S., Gross, A., Minsaas, K.J., Muntjewerf, J.J., Tamura, K., Wermter, R., (1978). Report of Performance Committee, *Proceedings of the* 15th International Towing Tank Conference, The Hague, The Netherlands.

Liu, Pengfei, (2002). Geometry Design 3, Internal Document

Lobachev, Mikhail, Tchitcherine, Igor, (2001). The full scale resistance estimation for podded propulsion system by RANS method, SP 2001: Lavrentiev Lectures, St. Petersburg, Russia, June

Lye, L., (2001). Course Notes, Similitude and Dimensional Analysis, Graduate Studies, Faculty of Engineering, Memorial University, Newfoundland and Labrador, September -December

MacNeill, Taylor, Molloy, Bose, Veitch, Randell, Liu, (2004). Design of model pod test unit, T-Pod Conference, University of Newcastle, U.K., April

Manen, J.D., & Oossanen, P., (1988). Chapters 5 through 7, Principles of naval architecture, volume II: resistance and propulsion. New Jersey: SNAME

Mewis, F., (2001). The efficiency of pod propulsion, HADMAR 2001, Bulgaria, October Molloy S., Bose, N., (2001). Ship powering prediction from self - propulsion load varying tests, SP2001: Lavrentiev Lectures, St. Petersburg, Russia, June

Molloy S., Bose, N., (2001a). Ship powering prediction from isolated load-varying test data, 6th Canadian Marine Hydromechanics and Structures Conference, Vancouver, BC. May

Molloy, S. (2001). Ship powering prediction using load varying self-propulsion tests, Masters Thesis, Faculty of Engineering and Applied Science, Memorial University of Newfoundland and Labrador

Molloy, S. (2003). Podded propulsors: systematic geometric variation and powering prediction methods, Proposal for doctoral research, Faculty of Engineering and Applied Science, Memorial University of Newfoundland

Molloy, S., Bose, N., Veitch, B, MacNeill, A., Taylor, R. (2004) "Systematic Geometric Variation of Podded Propulsor Models" T-Pod Conference, University of Newcastle, April

Montgomery, D.C., (2005). <u>Design and analysis of experiments</u>, Sixth Edition, Wiley & Sons, USA

Mueller J, Anderson, P., (1999). Podded drives and conventional cargo tonnage, 21st Marine Propulsion Conference - The Motor Ship - Propulsion in the New Millennium Athens 23-24 March 1999, American Bureau of Shipping Shell Marine Products pp221-233

Murdey, D. (1980) Resistance and propulsion experiments with Model 327-1 and propellers 66L and 66R, LTR-SH-269, NRC, Ottawa, Canada

NRC IOT Internal Document. Standard test methods. D.C. Murdey, July 2000

Pakaste, R., Laukia, K., Wilhelmson, M., Kuuskoski, (1999). Experience with Azipod® propulsion systems on board marine vessels, *ABB Review*, Issue 2, pg 12

Rolls-Royce website, www2.rolls-royce.com

Schlichting, H, (1987). Boundary layer theory, McGraw-Hill, Classic textbook reissue

Schmiechen, M., (1991). Proceedings of the 2nd International Workshop on the Rational Theory of Ship Hull-Propeller Interaction and its Applications, VWS, Berlin Ship Model Basin, HEFT 56, June 13-14.

Schottel Website, www.schottel.de/index_e.htm

Sharp, J.J., (1973). Basic applications of similitude theory, <u>Water and Water</u> Engineering, September.

Siemens, (2001). The SSP propulsor, an ingenious podded drive system, Company Brochure, Consortium SSP, Siemens AG and Schottel Gmbh, Germany

Sowman, C., (1998). Pod propositions, Motor Ship, v 79 n 937, August, p 35, 2 p, 5 fig.

Spencer, D., Harris, C, Williams, F.M. (1992) Open Water Ship – Model Correlation of CCGS Sir John Franklin and Model 327, IMD/NRC, LM-1992-06, St. Johns, NF

Spencer, D., Williams, F.M., Hackett P. (1990) Full-scale speed/power trials with CCGS Sir John Franklin, IMD/NRC, TR-1990-10, St. Johns, NF

STN Atlas Marine Website, www.samjapan.com/e/products/propulsion/

Szantyr, Jan, (2001). Experimental measurements of the hydrodynamic characteristics of the pod propulsor models, *Polish Maritime Research*, Vol. 8, No. 4, December, pg 3

Szantyr, Jan, (2001b). Hydrodynamic model experiments with pod propulsors, *Oceanic Engineering International*, Vol. 5, No. 2, pp. 95-103

Taylor, John, (1997). An introduction to Error Analysis, 2nd edition, University Science Books, California

Van Terwisga, T., Quadvlieg, F., Valkhof, H., (2001). Steerable propulsion units: hydrodynamic issues and design consequences, 80th Anniversary of Schottel GmbH & Co., August 11th Volk, John, McGreer, Dan (2002). Kvaerner Masa, Vancouver, personal communication.

Addendum I

Pods

The original proposal for this project included plans to investigate the development of an extrapolation method for the prediction of powering for podded propulsors. One of the primary issues to be addressed in predicting power from pod data is the measurement of pod shell resistance so a systematic geometric series was designed to determine the effect of geometry on the performance of the pod propeller and to evaluate methods of pod shell resistance estimation. The geometric series was a set of pods that had five geometric parameters/dimensions (e.g. length, diameter) that were varied in a fractional factorial design (Montgomery, 2005). The full set then consisted of 16 different pod designs and 16 different pod shells were tested. Unfortunately due to the lack of available full-scale trials data for ships fitted with podded units, and due to delays in the manufacture of testing equipment it proved impossible to complete this task in the time available. One round of testing of the systematic series was completed and there are results from the tests of the 16 pods of the systematic geometric series. These first results are

inconclusive but indicate that with future testing the design of these experiments will indicate the importance of the five geometric parameters that were varied in the test series on the powering of vessels fitted with podded propulsors. Another researcher is continuing this work.

The geometric series was designed using factorial experimental design, a method of experimental design that can be used to increase the value of multi-factor experiments (experiments where more than one factor is being observed at a time) (Montgomery, 2005). The method estimates the effects of the individual factors tested on the overall result and determines which factors most influence the outcome of the experiment. This allows the experimenter to run an additional test series that studies in detail the primary factors while legitimately treating insignificant factors as negligible.



Figure I-1 Azipod from ABB, (ABB.com) (reprinted with permission)

Podded propulsors are a relatively recent addition to propulsion options for the shipping industry and are a popular alternative to traditional propulsors with ship designers. The geometry of commercial podded propulsors (Figure I-1) has been dictated by the size of the electric motors that drive the shaft.

Karafiath and Lyons (1999) of the US Navy performed resistance tests on a selection of different styles of pods, however to date there have been no published results of the effects on performance of the geometry of a pod under power. As motor design becomes more refined and flexible, the relationship of the various parameters (e.g. diameter, length, position of strut) with respect to performance becomes a more important design consideration because these factors can be optimised and it is not yet clear which geometric factors should be optimised. There are a number of geometric parameters that can be used to optimize the design of the pod and five were chosen for this test series.

The experimental investigation consisted of open water pod testingof a series of 16 pods that have geometric parameters varied using factorially designed tests. The series was limited to the analysis of 5 geometric parameters. Five parameters require 2^5 or 32 combinations to complete the test series. A fractional factorial design reduced the number of combinations by a factor of 2 by aliasing some relationships, this means that in order to reduce the number of pods required for the series some of the interactions, primarily ones with more than 2 factors, were not observable (Montgomery, 2005); 16 pods were tested in the series.

I.1 Methodology

Using commercial pods as a guide, the primary dimensions of the pod were chosen as the geometric parameters. The pod length and diameter, taper length, longitudinal position of strut, and hub angle were chosen as defining dimensions (Figure I-2) and these were varied around a mean that was determined from existing pods (Molloy, 2003).



Figure I-2 Primary dimensions of pod shell

Values of the primary dimensions were chosen so that there was one set of parameters in the series that had dimensions higher than the average commercial dimensions and one set lower, Table I-1.

External Dimensions of Model Pod	Low Values	High Values	
	mm	mm	
Propeller Diameter	270	270	
Pod Diameter	128	166	
Pod Length	430	524	
Strut Distance	100	133	
Taper Length	69	150	
Hub Angle (degrees)	15°	20°	

Table I-1 Dimensions of model pods

The dimensions were then combined to produce a series of 16 pods with the combination of dimensions shown in Table I-2. The details of geometry of the propellers are given in (Islam *et al.*, 2004).

	Factors				
File/Pod	Dprop/Dpod	Dprop/Lpod	Dprop/SD Strut	Dprop/TL	
Name	Diameter	Length	Distance	Taper Length	Hub Angle
	A	В	C	D	Е
HiLo_1	lo	la	lo	10	lo
HiLo_2	lo	lo	hi	lo	hi
HiLo_3	io	lo	hi	hi	lo
HiLo_4	lo	lo	lo	hi	hi
HiLo_5	lo	hi	10	lo	hi
HiLo_6	ło	hi	hi	10	lo
HiLo_7	lo	hi	lo	hi	io
HiLo_8	lo	hi	hi	hi	hi
HiLo_9	hi	lo	lo	lo	lo
HiLo_10	hi	lo	hi	lo	hi
HiLo_11	hi	lo	10	hi	hi
HiLo_12	hi	lo	hi	hi	lo
HiLo_13	hi	hi	lo	lo	hi
HiLo_14	hi	hi	hi	lo	lo
HiLo_15	hi	hi	ю	hi	lo
HiLo_16	hi	hi	hi	hi	hi

Table I-2 Combinations of dimensions for 16 pods

A 2 level factorial design means that in every complete set of runs of the experiment, all combinations of the high and low values of the geometric parameters in Table I-2 are studied. Using factorial design, the results of these tests indicate the relative significance of, for example, the change in pod diameter versus the change in strut distance on the performance of the pod unit. A more complex result might show that changing two

geometric parameters together creates a more significant effect on the result than just changing one of the parameters individually. This is a two-factor interaction.

Fractional factorial design is a method that utilizes the experience of the researcher to reduce the number of models required, in this case from 32 to 16, by treating certain combinations as less significant and ignoring 3 and 4 factor interactions. The test series still maintains the integrity of the factorial style design. To reduce the number of combinations a relationship is set up between factors eg: E=ABCD. This relationship is called an alias and the components cannot be differentiated. Therefore a response change due to E could actually be a caused by ABCD but since ABCD is a 4-factor interaction and is being ignored, the response is considered to be that of E. All factors and combinations tested have an alias in a fractional design, however the design process ensures that the factors are not correlated (Anderson & Whitcomb 1996).









Figure I-3 Pods from the geometric series, #1 to #4



Figure I-4 Pods from the geometric series, #5 to #12

The combinations tested are listed in Table I-2 and were selected to include a combination with all dimensions low and one with all dimensions high. This decision was made to allow further testing of the largest and smallest pods directly and to allow

these pods to be compared with a pod with dimensions that are an average of the dimensions of the pods in the series. Pictures of the pods are in Figure I-4, Figure I-5, and Figure I-5.



Figure I-5 Pods from the geometric series, #9 to #16

I.2 Experiments

The pods were connected to a dynamometer that was designed for this project by a coworker (MacNeill *et al.*, 2004). Pod # 8 is shown installed in Figure I-6. The experimental setup is similar to that recommended by the ITTC 2002 Propulsion Committee (Jessup *et al.*, 2002) and by Mewis of HSVA (2001). The variables measured in each test are those required in the standard open water pod test (Jessup *et al.*, 2002): velocity of carriage, propeller rpm, propeller torque, thrust of propeller, thrust of unit. The test set for each pod included open water pod tests at low thrust values and a number of open water pod tests at varied advance coefficients.



Figure I-6 Pod #8 installed on dynamometer

The pod can be run in two modes: pulling or pushing the pod unit. The tests reported here were run in pull mode, which is also referred to as tractor mode. The performance parameters that are measured by the testing dynamometer are the propeller torque measured on the shaft, the propeller thrust measured in the pod behind the shaft and the thrust of the entire unit, measured at the top of the shaft where the dynamometer connects to the towing carriage (MacNeill *et al.*, 2004).

I.3 Results

The experimental data were analyzed in terms of propeller thrust coefficient, K_T , propeller torque coefficient, $10K_Q$, and propeller advance coefficient, J (Manen & Oossanen, 1988). The powering performance results of the first set of pod experiments

are presented in Figure I-7, and Figure I-8. The experiments were all conducted in the pulling mode and at 12 different advance coefficients.

Figure I-7 shows the K_T values for each pod measured from inside the pod unit from an advance coefficient of 0 to 1.1. One propeller design was used for all tests and the pitch diameter ratio of the propeller was 1.0 (Islam *et al.*, 2004). The K_T values of the different pods range from 0.41-0.51 at J = 0 and 0-0.04 at J = 1.1.



Figure I-7 Experimental results - K_{TPod} versus J for all 16 pods

Due to the factorial design, these values are not intended to be compared directly. This is because more than one geometric parameter is changed from one pod to the next so it would not be clear which factor was affecting a change if the pods were compared oneone. However, these preliminary trends show that there is some variation in thrust with the change of geometric parameters. There are three distinct groupings of pods; the highest values are for pods 4 and 16, the middle group, pods 1, 2, 6, 12 and 15 and the remaining pods in the lower group. The only common dimensions in pods 4 and 16 are the taper length and hub angle; they are both set at high values and pod 16 is the largest pod in the set. A high taper length results in a low taper angle so this means that the propeller ends of the pods were less tapered while the aft ends of the pods were more streamlined.



Figure I-8 Experimental results - K_Q versus J for all 16 pods

The K_Q results are shown in Figure I-8. $10K_Q$ is plotted against J and varies from 0.64 to 0.78 at J = 0 and from 0.073 to 0.19 at J = 1.1. The groupings of pods are less distinct

than in the K_T plot. Pod # 3 has the highest values and pods 1, 6, 9, 12 and 15 are the lower value pods.

Figure I-9 shows the curves for the pods with all-low dimensions and all-high dimensions (pods #1 and #16 respectively). The curves indicate the magnitude of change in K_T over the range of J values for these two pods, using the same propeller.



Figure I-9 K_T curves for Pods #1 & #16

Data analysis was completed using the experimental design software Design Expert[®]. The software allows the user to choose a factorial design that meets specific research configuration requirements; in this case the design included one pod with all-low factors and one pod with all-high factors.

The Factorial Analysis of Variance Approach (ANOVA) (Montgomery, 2005) was used to examine which geometric parameters of the series have a significant impact on the performance of the pod. The factorial ANOVA is a method of determining whether there are statistically significant main effects and statistically significant interaction effects between independent variables in a data set that have an impact on each other during the testing (e.g. the diameter and length in the pod series) (Georgetown University, http://www.georgetown.edu/departments/psychology/researchmethods/statistics/inferenti al/anova.htm). The significance is indicated by the F-test (Montgomery, 2005). A separate analysis was completed for each advance velocity (Table I-3).

The factors were designated as follows:

- A Propeller Diameter/Pod Diameter
- B Propeller Diameter/Pod Length
- C Propeller Diameter/Strut Distance
- D Propeller Diameter/Taper Length
- E Hub Angle

For ease of explanation, in this discussion the factors are referred to without the propeller diameter, therefore A-Pod Diameter ratio, B-Pod Length ratio, C-Strut Distance ratio, D-Taper Length ratio, E-Hub Angle. The significant factors that come up repeatedly over the range of *J* values are Pod Diameter ratio, Pod Length ratio, Taper Length ratio, [Pod Diameter ratio interacting with Pod Length ratio], [Pod Diameter ratio interacting with Taper Length ratio] and [Pod Length ratio interacting with Taper length ratio] OR [Strut distance ratio interacting with Hub Angle]. The diameter and length ratios of the pod were expected to have a marked impact on the propeller performance, however they only appear to be significant at mid to high advance velocities and only for the torque. This

result may be affected by the quality of the data from some runs as the noise error values for the low J values are quite large (>30%) and indicate that some additional testing is warranted. However, if this result proves to be reliable then at low J values the effect of the diameter and length ratios on the performance of the pod is negligible possibly because the flow rate over the pod is lower in these conditions.

Experi	mental Work			
J		Signific	ant terms	Noise Error
0	K _T Pod		BD/CE	7.43%
	K _Q		AD, BD/CE	2.11%
0.1	K _T Pod	D		0.01%
	K _Q	none		57.54%
0.3	K _T Pod		BD/CE	
	K _Q			38.60%
0.5	K _T Pod		BD/CE	21.00%
	K _Q	none		25.03%
0.6	K _T Pod		BD/CE	3.34%
	K _Q	В	AB, AD, BD/CE	3.49%
0.7	K _T Pod		BD/CE	7.53%
	K _Q	none		36.28%
0.8	K _T Pod		BD/CE	2.24%
	K _Q	В		8.57%
0.9	K _T Pod		BD/CE	10.38%
	K _Q	A,B,	AB, BD/CE	0.30%
0.95	$K_T Pod$		BD/CE	16.54%
	K_Q	A,B	AB,AD, BD/CE	2.30%
1	K _T Pod	D	BD/CE	5.67%
	K_Q	A, B	BD/CE	39.20%
1.05	K _T Pod	D		1.66%
	K _Q	none		13.50%
1.1	K _T Pod	D		0.01%
	K_Q	none		57.54%

Table I-3 Fractional factorial design results

For this test series the factor combination [Pod Length ratio interacting with Taper length ratio] is aliased with the factor combination [Strut distance ratio interacting with Hub Angle] because of the choice to keep one all low pod and one all high pod in the series. This means that this highly significant factor is either the combination of the pod length ratio and taper angle ratio (BD) or the combination of the strut distance ratio and hub angle (CE). In addition, the factor taper length ratio is aliased with BCE (length ratio interacting with the strut distance ratio and the hub angle). This may not be significant as it is a 3-factor combination and will be ignored at this stage, but it may indicate that the combination of strut distance ratio and hub angle is significant. It is expected that the combination of strut distance and hub angle will significantly affect the performance of the pod unit (Islam *et al.*, 2004). It is unlikely that the taper length and pod length combination is more significant than the combination of strut distance on the performance of the pod as the hub angle in pulling mode (Islam *et al.*, 2004).

Appendix A

Input Files Samples

Resistance Test Input File, Ship #16

```
<?xml version="1.0" standalone="yes"?>
<RESISTANCE>
     <DATA_POINTS>
           <VDATA>
                <VR>1.95472</VR>
                <RM>86.9852700000001</RM>
           </VDATA>
           <VDATA>
                <VR>2.0576</VR>
                <RM>98.01171</RM>
           </VDATA>
           <VDATA>
                <VR>2.16048</VR>
                <RM>110.83338</RM>
           </VDATA>
           <VDATA>
                <VR>2.26336</VR>
                <RM>125.93097</RM>
           </VDATA>
           <VDATA>
                <VR>2.36624</VR>
                <RM>143.20638</RM>
           </VDATA>
           <VDATA>
                <VR>2.46912</VR>
                <RM>162.85581</RM>
           </VDATA>
     </DATA POINTS>
</RESISTANCE>
```

Open Water Input File, Ship #16

<?xml version="1.0" standalone="yes"?>
<OPENWATER> <DATA POINTS> <VDATA> <JOW>0.1</JOW> <KT>0.645</KT> <KQ>0.1077</KQ> </VDATA> <VDATA> <JOW>0.2</JOW> <KT>0.591</KT> <KQ>0.0999</KQ> </VDATA> <VDATA> <JOW>0.3</JOW> <KT>0.536</KT> <KQ>0.0921</KQ> </VDATA> <VDATA> <JOW>0.4</JOW> <KT>0.479</KT> <KQ>0.0845</KQ> </VDATA> <VDATA> <JOW>0.5</JOW> <KT>0.422</KT> <KQ>0.0771</KQ> </VDATA> <VDATA> <JOW>0.6</JOW> <KT>0.367</KT> <KQ>0.0696</KQ> </VDATA> <VDATA> <JOW>0.7</JOW> <KT>0.315</KT> <KQ>0.0623</KQ> </VDATA> <VDATA> <JOW>0.8</JOW> <KT>0.265</KT> <KQ>0.0551</KQ> </VDATA> <VDATA> <JOW>0.9</JOW> <KT>0.215</KT> <KQ>0.0477</KQ> </VDATA> <VDATA>

```
<JOW>1.0</JOW>
                  <KT>0.161</KT>
                  <KQ>0.0394</KQ>
           </VDATA>
           <VDATA>
                  <JOW>1.1</JOW>
                  <KT>0.101</KT>
                  <KQ>0.0296</KQ>
           </VDATA>
           <VDATA>
                  <JOW>1.2</JOW>
                  <KT>0.035</KT>
                  <KQ>0.0186</KQ>
           </VDATA>
           </DATA_POINTS>
</OPENWATER>
```

Self Propulsion Test Input File, Ship#16

<?xml version="1.0" standalone="yes"?> <E2000INPUT> <TSPF>2.0</TSPF> <TSPST>14.0</TSPST> <VISSRF>1.6704E-6</VISSRF> <VISSPF>1.12417E-6</VISSPF> <VISSPS>1.65988E-6</VISSPS> <VISSPST>1.13902E-6</VISSPST> <RHOSPF>999.9</RHOSPF> <RHOSPST>999.0</RHOSPST> <RHOSPS>1027.8</RHOSPS> <G>9.807</G> <SC>25.0</SC> <LM>9.00399999999999/LM> <BRDT>1.288</BRDT> <DRGT>0.3</DRGT> <VOL>0.954</VOL> <DISP>2.171</DISP> <SM>13.082</SM> <\$\$\$8176.25</\$\$ <LBP>8.4199999999999999</LBP> <AVTM>1.2479</AVTM> <AVTS>123.41</AVTS> <KS>0.1</KS>

<KSAMP>0.00015</KSAMP> <LS>225.1</LS> <DM>0.232</DM> <DS>5.8</DS> <PD>1.293</PD> <Z>4.0</Z> <CM>0.06</CM> <CS>1.2</CS> <THM>0.005</THM> <THS>0.1</THS> <TPT>0.2544</TPT> <JSPP>0.0</JSPP> <KTSPP>0.0</KTSPP> <KQSPPPORT>0.0</KQSPPPORT> <KQSPPSTBD>0.0</KQSPPSTBD> <KFDSPP>0.0</KFDSPP> <JOMPP>0.0</JOMPP> <KTMOPP>0.0</KTMOPP> <KQMOPPPORT>0.0</KQMOPPPORT> <KQMOPPSTBD>0.0</KQMOPPSTBD> <JOSPP>0.0</JOSPP> <KTSOPP>0.0</KTSOPP> <KQSOPPSTBD>0.0</KQSOPPSTBD> <KQSOPPPORT>0.0</KQSOPPPORT> <JPT>0.0</JPT> <KTPT>0.0</KTPT> <KQPTSTBD>0.0</KQPTSTBD> <KQPTPORT>0.0</KQPTPORT> <KFDPT>0.0</KFDPT> <NOW>11.0</NOW> <RPT>5.0895</RPT> <WKSC>1.0</WKSC> <WKVAR-M>0</WKVAR-M> <WKVAR-S>0</WKVAR-S> <CA>0.0004</CA> <TDVAR>0</TDVAR> <NUMPROPS>2</NUMPROPS> <VDATA ROWS> <VDATA> <VELOCITY>2,46912</VELOCITY> <REVOLUTIONS>10.2</REVOLUTIONS> <TOTAL_THRUST>130.473</TOTAL_THRUST> <TORQUE PORT>3.3849405</TORQUE PORT> <PULL>56.39769</PULL> <RESISTANCE>162.85581</RESISTANCE> <TORQUE STBD>3.3849405</TORQUE STBD> <THRUST PORT>65.2365</THRUST PORT> <THRUST STBD>65.2365</THRUST STBD>

</VDATA> </VDATA ROWS>

<CONTROL>

<!-- provide detail about runs to perform -->

<!-- the limits of variation (spread) on either side of the corresponding vdata column value when it is randomized -->

<VDATA_DELTA_DEFAULTS> <COLUMN NAME="VELOCITY" DELTA=".0246912"/> <COLUMN NAME="REVOLUTIONS" DELTA=".102"/> <COLUMN NAME="TOTAL_THRUST" DELTA="1.30473"/> <COLUMN NAME="TORQUE_PORT" DELTA=".033849"/> <COLUMN NAME="PULL" DELTA=".56397"/> <COLUMN NAME="TORQUE_STBD" DELTA=".033849"/> <COLUMN NAME="THRUST_PORT" DELTA=".0652365"/> <COLUMN NAME="THRUST_STBD" DELTA="0.652365"/>

```
<COLUMN NAME="RM" DELTA="1.62855"/>
<COLUMN NAME="VR" DELTA=".0246912"/>
<COLUMN NAME="JOW" DELTA=".012"/>
<COLUMN NAME="KT" DELTA=".00645"/>
<COLUMN NAME="KQ" DELTA=".001077"/>
```

</VDATA_DELTA_DEFAULTS>

<!-- the limits of variation (spread) on either side of the corresponding constant value when it is randomized -->

<CONST DELTA DEFAULTS>

<CONSTANT NAME="WKSC" DELTA=".03"/> <CONSTANT NAME="KS" DELTA=".04"/>

<!-- KTSOPP=Cf Grigson model at test temperature, KQSOPPSTBD = Cf Grigson model at standard temperature & KQSOPPPORT = CF Grigson Ship-->

<CONSTANT NAME="KTSOPP" DELTA =".0001"/> <CONSTANT NAME="KQSOPPSTBD" DELTA =".0001"/> <CONSTANT NAME="KQSOPPPORT" DELTA =".00005"/> <!---WKVAR-M - Model Wake variation -- WKVAR-S - Ship Wake Variation-->

<CONSTANT NAME="WKVAR-M" DELTA="0.015"/>

<CONSTANT NAME="WKVAR-S" DELTA="0.03"/>

<!-- CA - used to vary the CA value -->

<CONSTANT NAME="CA" DELTA="0.0002"/>

<!-- TDVAR - used to vary the t value -->

<CONSTANT NAME="TDVAR" DELTA="0.05"/>

<!-- EFFRRVAR - used to vary the relative rotative efficiency value -->

<CONSTANT NAME="EFFRRVAR" DELTA="0.1"/>

</CONST_DELTA_DEFAULTS>

<RANDOMIZED_RUNS>

<!-- one "RANDOMIZED" section for each distinct batch monte carlo run. Each will have results stored in their own output file -->

<!-- modifiers explained:

ITERATIONS : the number of individual runs to perform for this set

FILENAME_MOD : an identifier used for the output file. These files will share the same

name as the input XML file, replacing the .xml extension with the FILENAME_MOD value and a .txt extension.

e.g. FILENAME_MOD="norm" and original filename E-Class102SP.xml yields an output filename of E-Class102SP norm.txt -->

<!-- this first randomization actually just outputs one result using the unmodified vdata -->
<RANDOMIZATION ITERATIONS="1" FILENAME_MOD="norm" />

<!-- this randomization iterates 10000 times, randomizing both VELOCITY and REVOLUTIONS ETC. as above -->

<RANDOMIZATION ITERATIONS="10000" FILENAME_MOD="all">

<COLUMN NAME="TOTAL_THRUST"/> <COLUMN NAME="THRUST_PORT"/> <COLUMN NAME="THRUST_STBD"/> <COLUMN NAME="TORQUE_PORT"/> <COLUMN NAME="TORQUE_STBD"/> <COLUMN NAME="PULL"/> <COLUMN NAME="REVOLUTIONS"/> <COLUMN NAME="VELOCITY"/>

<COLUMN NAME="VR"/> <COLUMN NAME="RM"/> <COLUMN NAME="JOW"/> <COLUMN NAME="KT"/> <COLUMN NAME="KQ"/>

</RANDOMIZATION>

</RANDOMIZED_RUNS>

</CONTROL>

</E2000INPUT>

Self-Propulsion Test Input File – Load varying data, Ship#21

<?xml version="1.0" standalone="yes"?> <E2000INPUT> <TSPF>2</TSPF> <TSPST>15</TSPST> <VISSRF>1.670400000E-06</VISSRF> <VISSPF>1.1241700000E-06</VISSPF> <VISSPS>1.6598800000E-06</VISSPS>

<VISSPST>1.139020000E-06</VISSPST> <RHOSPF>999.9</RHOSPF> <RHOSPST>999</RHOSPST> <RHOSPS>1027.8</RHOSPS> <G>9.807</G> <SC>20</SC> <LM>4.691</LM> <BRDT>0.969</BRDT> <DRGT>0.349</DRGT> <VOL>0.954</VOL> <DISP>953.7</DISP> <SM>5.476</SM> <\$\$\$2084.24</\$\$ <LBP>4.397</LBP> <AVTM>0.309</AVTM> <AVTS>123.41</AVTS> <KS>0</KS> <KSAMP>0.00015</KSAMP> <LS>92.14</LS> <DM>0.21</DM> <DS>4.115</DS> <PD>0.775</PD> <Z>4</Z> <CM>0.06</CM> <CS>1.2</CS> <THM>0.005</THM> <THS>0.1</THS> <WKVAR-M>0</WKVAR-M> <WKVAR-S>0</WKVAR-S> <TPT>0.2544</TPT> <JSPP>0</JSPP> <KTSPP>0</KTSPP> <KQSPPPORT>0</KQSPPPORT> <KQSPPSTBD>0</KQSPPSTBD> <KFDSPP>0</KFDSPP> <JOMPP>0</JOMPP> <KTMOPP>0</KTMOPP> <KQMOPPPORT>0</KQMOPPPORT> <KQMOPPSTBD>0</KQMOPPSTBD> <JOSPP>0</JOSPP>

<!-- The KTSOPP constant will be used to vary the Cf Grigson model at test temperature for the purposes of randomization & KQSOPPSTBD will be used for the Cf Grigson model at standard temperature & KQSOPPORT will be used for the CF Grigson Ship-->

<KTSOPP>0</KTSOPP> <KQSOPPSTBD>0</KQSOPPSTBD> <KQSOPPPORT>0</KQSOPPPORT> <JPT>0</JPT> <KTPT>0</KTPT>

<!-- The KQPTSTBD - modifies the wake of the model & KQPTPORT modifies the wake of the ship-->

<KQPTSTBD>0</KQPTSTBD> <KQPTPORT>0</KQPTPORT> <KFDPT>0</KFDPT> <NOW>11</NOW> <RPT>5.0895</RPT> <WKSC>1</WKSC> <CA>0</CA> <TDVAR>0</TDVAR> <NUMPROPS>2</NUMPROPS>

<VDATA_ROWS>

<VDATA> <VELOCITY>1.957</VELOCITY> <REVOLUTIONS>13.1</REVOLUTIONS> <TOTAL_THRUST>68.1</TOTAL_THRUST> <TORQUE_PORT>1.11</TORQUE_PORT> <PULL>44.8</PULL> <RESISTANCE>.00011</RESISTANCE> <TORQUE STBD>1.18</TORQUE STBD> <THRUST PORT>34</THRUST PORT> <THRUST STBD>34.1</THRUST STBD> </VDATA> <VDATA> <VELOCITY>1.957</VELOCITY> <REVOLUTIONS>13.6</REVOLUTIONS> <TOTAL THRUST>79.5</TOTAL_THRUST> <TORQUE PORT>1.26</TORQUE PORT> <PULL>35.2</PULL> <RESISTANCE>.00011</RESISTANCE> <TORQUE STBD>1.34</TORQUE STBD> <THRUST_PORT>39.7</THRUST_PORT> <THRUST_STBD>39.8</THRUST_STBD> </VDATA> <VDATA> <VELOCITY>1.957</VELOCITY>

<REVOLUTIONS>14.1</REVOLUTIONS> <TOTAL_THRUST>91.8</TOTAL_THRUST> <TORQUE_PORT>1.42</TORQUE_PORT> <PULL>26.7</PULL> <RESISTANCE>.00011</RESISTANCE> <TORQUE_STBD>1.51</TORQUE_STBD>

<THRUST PORT>45.8</THRUST PORT> <THRUST STBD>46.0</THRUST STBD> </VDATA> <VDATA> <VELOCITY>1.957</VELOCITY> <REVOLUTIONS>14.5</REVOLUTIONS> <TOTAL_THRUST>101.3</TOTAL_THRUST> <TORQUE PORT>1.55</TORQUE PORT> <PULL>20.0</PULL> <RESISTANCE>.00011</RESISTANCE> <TORQUE STBD>1.64</TORQUE STBD> <THRUST PORT>50.7</THRUST PORT> <THRUST STBD>50.6</THRUST STBD> </VDATA> <VDATA> <VELOCITY>1.957</VELOCITY> <REVOLUTIONS>14.9</REVOLUTIONS> <TOTAL THRUST>112.5</TOTAL THRUST> <TORQUE PORT>1.7</TORQUE PORT> <PULL>9.2</PULL> <RESISTANCE>.00011</RESISTANCE> <TORQUE STBD>1.79</TORQUE STBD> <THRUST PORT>56.3</THRUST PORT> <THRUST STBD>56.2</THRUST STBD> </VDATA> <VDATA> <VELOCITY>1.957</VELOCITY> <REVOLUTIONS>15.2</REVOLUTIONS> <TOTAL THRUST>119.3</TOTAL THRUST> <TOROUE PORT>1.79</TOROUE PORT> <PULL>7.1</PULL> <RESISTANCE>.00011</RESISTANCE> <TORQUE STBD>1.88</TORQUE STBD> <THRUST PORT>59.9</THRUST PORT> <THRUST_STBD>59.4</THRUST_STBD> </VDATA> <VDATA> <VELOCITY>1.957</VELOCITY> <REVOLUTIONS>15.9</REVOLUTIONS> <TOTAL THRUST>138.7</TOTAL THRUST> <TORQUE PORT>2.04</TORQUE PORT> <PULL>-8.1</PULL> <RESISTANCE>.00011</RESISTANCE> <TORQUE STBD>2.12</TORQUE STBD> <THRUST PORT>69.9</THRUST PORT> <THRUST_STBD>68.8</THRUST_STBD> </VDATA>

</VDATA_ROWS>

<CONTROL>

<!-- provide detail about runs to perform -->

<!-- the limits of variation (spread) on either side of the corresponding vdata column value when it is randomized -->

<VDATA_DELTA_DEFAULTS> <COLUMN NAME="TOTAL_THRUST" DELTA="1.387"/> <COLUMN NAME="THRUST_PORT" DELTA="0.6935"/> <COLUMN NAME="THRUST_STBD" DELTA="0.6935"/> <COLUMN NAME="TORQUE_PORT" DELTA=".0204"/> <COLUMN NAME="TORQUE_STBD" DELTA=".0212"/> <COLUMN NAME="PULL" DELTA=".448"/> <COLUMN NAME="REVOLUTIONS" DELTA=".159"/> <COLUMN NAME="VELOCITY" DELTA=".01958"/>

<COLUMN NAME="RM" DELTA=".988"/> <COLUMN NAME="VR" DELTA=".0196"/> <COLUMN NAME="JOW" DELTA=".0088"/> <COLUMN NAME="KT" DELTA=".0034"/> <COLUMN NAME="KQ" DELTA=".0004"/>

</VDATA_DELTA_DEFAULTS>

<!-- the limits of variation (spread) on either side of the corresponding constant value when it is randomized -->

<CONST_DELTA_DEFAULTS>

<CONSTANT NAME="WKSC" DELTA=".03"/> <CONSTANT NAME="KS" DELTA=".04"/>

<!-- KTSOPP=Cf Grigson model at test temperature, KQSOPPSTBD = Cf Grigson model at standard temperature & KQSOPPPORT = CF Grigson Ship-->

<CONSTANT NAME="KTSOPP" DELTA =".0001"/> <CONSTANT NAME="KQSOPPSTBD" DELTA =".0001"/> <CONSTANT NAME="KQSOPPPORT" DELTA =".00005"/>

<!---WKVAR-M - Model Wake variation -- WKVAR-S - Ship Wake Variation-->

<CONSTANT NAME="WKVAR-M" DELTA="0.015"/>

<CONSTANT NAME="WKVAR-S" DELTA="0.03"/>

<!-- CA - used to vary the CA value -->

<CONSTANT NAME="CA" DELTA="0.0002"/>

<!-- TDVAR - used to vary the t value -->

<CONSTANT NAME="TDVAR" DELTA="0.05"/>

<!-- EFFRRVAR - used to vary the relative rotative efficiency value -->

<CONSTANT NAME="EFFRRVAR" DELTA="0.1"/>

</CONST_DELTA_DEFAULTS>

<RANDOMIZED_RUNS>

<!-- one "RANDOMIZED" section for each distinct batch monte carlo run. Each will have results stored in their own output file -->

<!-- modifiers explained:

ITERATIONS : the number of individual runs to perform for this set

FILENAME_MOD : an identifier used for the output file. These files will share the same

name as the input XML file, replacing the .xml extension with the FILENAME_MOD value and a .txt extension.

e.g. FILENAME_MOD="norm" and original filename E-Class102SP.xml yields an output filename of E-Class102SP_norm.txt -->

<!-- this first randomization actually just outputs one result using the unmodified vdata -->

<RANDOMIZATION ITERATIONS="1" FILENAME_MOD="norm" />

<!-- this randomization iterates 10000 times, randomizing both VELOCITY and REVOLUTIONS ETC. as above -->

<RANDOMIZATION ITERATIONS="10000" FILENAME_MOD="all">

<COLUMN NAME="TOTAL_THRUST"/> <COLUMN NAME="THRUST_PORT"/> <COLUMN NAME="THRUST_STBD"/> <COLUMN NAME="TORQUE_PORT"/> <COLUMN NAME="TORQUE_STBD"/> <COLUMN NAME="PULL"/> <COLUMN NAME="REVOLUTIONS"/> <COLUMN NAME="VELOCITY"/>

<COLUMN NAME="VR"/> <COLUMN NAME="RM"/> <COLUMN NAME="JOW"/> <COLUMN NAME="KT"/> <COLUMN NAME="KQ"/>

</RANDOMIZATION>

</RANDOMIZED_RUNS>

</CONTROL>

</E2000INPUT>

Appendix B

Pod Test Results

	Factors					
Standard Order	Dprop/Dpod Diameter	Dprop/Lpod Length	Dprop/SD Strut Distance	Dprop/TL Taper Length	Hub Angle	FileName
1	io	lo	10	lo	0	HiLo_1
2	hi	lo	lo	10	ļo	HiLo_9
3	lo	hi	lo	ło	hi	HiLo_5
4	hi	hi	No. of Concession, Name	ło	hi	HiLo_13
5	lo	lo	hi	lo	hi	HiLo_2
6	hi	lo	hi	lo	hi	HiLo_10
7	10	hi	hi	lo	lo	HiLo_6
8	hi	hi	hi	lo	lo	HiLo_14
9	io	lo	lo	hi	hi	HiLo_4
10	hi	0	lo	hi	hi	HiLo_11
11	10	hi	lo	hi	lo.	HiLo_7
12	hi	hi	lo	hi	lo	HiLo_15
13	lo	lo	hi	hi	- 	HiLo_3
14	hi	ò	hi	hi	lo	HiLo_12
15	lo	hi	hi	hi	hi	HiLo_8
16	hi	hi	hi	hi	hi	HiLo_16



B.2



B.3







